Notions of L^2 -Dolbeault Cohomology with Values in Vector Bundles on Singular Complex Spaces

DISSERTATION zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor Rerum Naturalium

> vorgelegt im März 2015 von MARTIN L. SERA

betreut von Priv.-Doz. Dr. Jean Ruppenthal



Bergische Universität Wuppertal Fachbereich C Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften Die Dissertation kann wie folgt zitiert werden:

urn:nbn:de:hbz:468-20150827-115437-4 [http://nbn-resolving.de/urn/resolver.pl?urn=urn%3Anbn%3Ade%3Ahbz%3A468-20150827-115437-4] Acknowledgements. Something as complex as a thesis in order to obtain a doctoral degree can only be written with the support of a lot of people. At least, many people backed me up and I would like to thank them all.

Let me first thank my advisor PD Dr. Jean Ruppenthal. I have to thank him for many things: for his support and advice, for the suggestion to research this – in my opinion – very interesting topic and for many intensive and long discussions. I could not imagine a better supervisor for me.

Additionally, I thank Prof. Dr. Nikolay Shcherbina, who supported my postgraduate studies in the first two years. I am very grateful to both, PD Dr. Jean Ruppenthal and Prof. Dr. Nikolay Shcherbina, for the possibility to take part in international conferences and workshops. Thanks to them, I got introduced to ongoing research projects and young and old mathematicians in the field of complex analysis. For instance, I have to thank Prof. Takeo Ohsawa and Prof. Eduardo S. Zeron for interesting and productive discussions.

Furthermore, I thank my colleagues Thomas Pawlaschyk, Tobias Harz, and Dr. Richard Lärkäng for many fascinating and fruitful discussions around complex analysis. In general, I have to thank all my colleagues for their patience in working with me. Prof. Dr. Klaus Fritzsche, Prof. Dr. Gregor Herbort, Dr. Rafael Andrist, and Dr. Jae-Cheon Joo in addition to PD Dr. Jean Ruppenthal and Prof. Dr. Nikolay Shcherbina earn my thanks for their interesting lectures in complex analysis, which introduced me to this fascinating subject area.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their continuous support, encouragement and advice. In particular, I thank Cedric Meschke and my sister Mareike Sera for long and interesting discussions about scientific working and thousand thanks to Mareike and Olaf Mürer for proofreading the English manuscript and to Cedric for his advice on designing the layout of this thesis.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction	1
2	\mathbf{Pre}	liminaries	11
	2.1	Proper modifications	11
	2.2	Resolution of complex curves	13
	2.3	Coherent analytic sheaves	16
	2.4	Canonical sheaves on singular spaces	19
	2.5	Monoidal transformations w.r.t. sheaves	21
	2.6	Plurisubharmonic functions on complex spaces	22
3	Linear Spaces 25		
	3.1	Fibre spaces	26
	3.2	Definition of linear spaces and preliminaries	28
	3.3	Primary component of a linear space	33
	3.4	Corank and Cohen-Macaulay linear spaces	39
	3.5	Linear spaces of small corank	43
4	Pro	per Modifications of Sheaves	47
	4.1	Torsion-free preimages of direct image sheaves	51
	4.2	Direct images of torsion-free preimage sheaves	53
	4.3	Proof of Theorem 4.1	61
	4.4	Holomorphic n -forms on singular spaces \ldots \ldots \ldots	62
	4.5	Non-analytic preimages and direct images	64
5	The	e Dolbeault Operator on Complex Spaces	69
	5.1	Local version of the weak extension, def. of $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$	71
	5.2	The extensions $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$	74
	5.3	L^2 -extension theorem	76

6	L^2 -1	Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves	79
	6.1	Local L^2 -theory of complex curves $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	81
	6.2	L^2 -cohomology of compact complex curves	88
	6.3	Singular metrics	92
	6.4	Weakly holomorphic functions	93
	6.5	Applications	95
		6.5.1 Compact curves as covering spaces of \mathbb{CP}^1	95
		6.5.2 Projectivity of compact complex curves	96
7	Nał	ano Semi-positive Vector Bundles on Manifolds	103
	7.1	Positivity for vector bundles	103
	7.2	A-priori-estimates for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	105
	7.3	L^2 -vanishing theorems on complete manifolds	108
8	The	e Relative Vanishing Theorem	113
8	The 8.1	e Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces	113 116
8	The 8.1 8.2	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces	113 116 119
8	The 8.1 8.2	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves 8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2	113 116 119 120
8	The 8.1 8.2	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces	113 116 119 120 121
8	The 8.1 8.2	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves 8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2 8.2.2 Proof of Theorem 8.4 Sheaves with torsion	 113 116 119 120 121 123
8	The 8.1 8.2 8.3 Idea	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves 8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2 8.2.2 Proof of Theorem 8.4 Sheaves with torsion	 113 116 119 120 121 123 127
8	The 8.1 8.2 8.3 Idea 9.1	e Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves 8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2 8.2.2 Proof of Theorem 8.4 Sheaves with torsion al Sheaves Proper modifications of reduced ideal sheaves	 113 116 119 120 121 123 127 127
8	 The 8.1 8.2 8.3 Idea 9.1 9.2 	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves 8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2 8.2.2 Proof of Theorem 8.4 Sheaves with torsion al Sheaves Proper modifications of reduced ideal sheaves Submanifolds of holomorphically convex manifolds	 113 116 119 120 121 123 127 127 130
8 9 10	The 8.1 8.2 8.3 Idea 9.1 9.2 Find	Relative Vanishing Theorem Irreducible complex spaces	 113 116 119 120 121 123 127 127 130 133

Chapter 1 Introduction

There is a close connection between properties of differential operators and the geometry of manifolds. On complex manifolds, this relation between analysis and geometry is represented best by the Dolbeault operator $\overline{\partial}$, which can be seen as a generalization of the Wirtinger derivatives. $\overline{\partial}$ represents the Cauchy-Riemann equations and is called as well Cauchy-Riemann operator.

Particularly, the L^2 -theory for the Dolbeault operator is a crucial part of complex analysis and has become indispensable for the subject area after the fundamental work of L. Hörmander on L^2 -estimates and existence theorems for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator (see [Hör65] and [Hör66]) and the related work of A. Andreotti and E. Vesentini (see [AV63]). One should also mention J. Kohn's solution of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem (see [Koh63, Koh64] and also [KN65], joint with L. Nirenberg), which also implies existence and regularity results of the $\overline{\partial}$ -complex (see Chap. III.1 in [FK72], joint with G. Folland). Some important applications of the L^2 -methods are for instance the Ohsawa-Takegoshi extension theorem (see [OT87]), analyticity of level sets of Lelong numbers and invariance of plurigenera proven by Y.-T. Siu (see [Siu74] or [Siu98], respectively).

Whereas the theory is very well-developed on complex manifolds, there are many open questions and problems in singular settings. Hence, we are especially interested in studying the Dolbeault operator on singular complex spaces by transferring the mentioned L^2 -methods.

The first problem here is that there is no canonical way to define differential forms on complex spaces. Let us recall three possibilities

1 Introduction

(among others):

- 1. intrinsic: differential forms defined on the regular part of the complex space.
- 2. extrinsic: differential forms which are (locally) given by the embedding of the complex space in the complex number space, and
- 3. as differential forms on a resolution.

Holomorphic differential forms of top-degree in the second and third category are used to define canonical sheaves of complex spaces (see Section 2.4).

For an appropriate definition of the Dolbeault operator, we choose the intrinsic setup. Since we are interested in L^2 -methods, we need to measure the modulus of differential forms. For this, we choose a Hermitian metric on the regular part of the variety which extends smoothly to the singular points. Here, the next problem occurs: Since the Hermitian metric restricted to the regular part is not complete, densely defined differential operators – especially, the Dolbeault operator – between L^2 -spaces have various closed extensions. Actually, this will be the essential difference between Dolbeault theory on manifolds and complex spaces and the reason why the theory gets significantly more complicated.

Let us briefly introduce the definitions and notations in the singular setting. For more details, please see Chapter 5. Let X be a (reduced) complex space with a Hermitian structure on the regular part $X^*:=X_{\text{reg}}$ which extends smoothly to the singular points. Let $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}}: \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X^*) \to \mathscr{D}^{p,q+1}(X^*)$ denote the Dolbeault operator with compact support on the manifold X^* . On the Hilbert space $L^2_{p,q}(X^*)$ of square-integrable differential forms on X^* , $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}}$ is a densely defined differential operator, which is not closed. Let $\overline{\partial}_s$ denote the strong / minimal extension which is defined by the closure of the graph of $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}}$, and let $\overline{\partial}_w$ be the weak / maximal extension, i. e. $\overline{\partial}$ in the sense of distributions. Like $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}}$, the two operators $\overline{\partial}_s$ and $\overline{\partial}_w$ induce chain complexes, i. e. $\overline{\partial}_e \circ \overline{\partial}_e = 0$ for $e \in \{\text{cpt}, w, s\}$. The associated so-called Dolbeault cohomologies

$$H^{p,q}_s(X) := \ker \left(\overline{\partial}_s \colon L^2_{p,q}(X^*) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X^*)\right) / \overline{\partial}_s L^2_{p,q-1}(X^*) \quad \text{and} \\ H^{p,q}_w(X) := \ker \left(\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,q}(X^*) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X^*)\right) / \overline{\partial}_w L^2_{p,q-1}(X^*)$$

are crucial indicators to study the geometry of the complex space X.

In [CGM82], J. Cheeger, M. Goresky and R. MacPherson were hoping that the Hodge decomposition of the de Rham cohomology generalizes to the singular case considering L^2 -cohomologies. This motivated W. Pardon and M. Stern to study the arithmetic genus of projective varieties with respect to the above mentioned L^2 -Dolbeault cohomologies. In [Par89], W. Pardon proved relations between the L^2 -arithmetic genus of an algebraic surface X, i.e. the alternating sum of the dimensions of L^2 -Dolbeault cohomology groups, and the (classical) arithmetic Todd genus of a resolution of X. In [PS91], W. Pardon and M. Stern proved that $\overline{\partial}_s$ -Dolbeault cohomology groups of low-degree (i. e. p = 0) of a projective variety are isomorphic to the sheaf cohomology groups of the structure sheaf on a resolution of the variety, and that $\overline{\partial}_w$ -Dolbeault cohomology groups of low-degree of a projective surface with isolated singularities are isomorphic to cohomology groups of the sheaf of holomorphic functions on a resolution with values in a certain divisor (cf. (1.2) below). For projective varieties with isolated singularities of arbitrary dimension, they proved the conjecture about the Hodge decomposition mentioned above in [PS01]. In [BS02], B. Berndtsson and N. Sibony studied the solvability of the strong and weak extensions of the Dolbeault operator on currents.

Just recently, considerable progress has been made in understanding the $\overline{\partial}_w$ -Dolbeault cohomology: Let X be a compact complex space and let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that the unreduced exceptional divisor $Z := \pi^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$ is supported on the union of smooth hypersurfaces with normal crossings. Then, it has been shown by N. Øvrelid and S. Vassiliadou in [ØV13] and J. Ruppenthal in [Rup11, Rup14a] by different approaches that there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^{n,q}_w(X) \cong H^q(M, \Omega^n_M) \cong H^{n,q}(M), \tag{1.1}$$

and, if X has only isolated singularities, there exists an effective divisor $D \ge Z - |Z|$ on M such that

$$H^{0,q}_w(X) \cong H^q(M, \mathcal{O}(D)) / H^q_{|Z|}(M, \mathcal{O}(D))$$
(1.2)

for all $0 \leq q \leq n$. Here, Ω_M^n denotes the sheaf of holomorphic *n*-forms on M and $H_{|Z|}^q$ denotes the cohomology with support on |Z|. If dim $X \leq 2$, then (1.2) holds with the divisor D = Z - |Z|and $H_{|Z|}^q (M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z|)) = 0$, so that (1.1) and (1.2) give a smooth representation of the L^2 -cohomology groups $H_w^{0,q}(X)$. J. Ruppenthal conjectured that (1.2) holds with D = Z - |Z| for arbitrary dimension of X (see [Rup11]).

However, the L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator developed in [ØV13] and [Rup11, Rup14a] applies only to dim $X \ge 2$ (for dim X = 1, (1.1) and (1.2) have been known before, see [Par89, PS91]). Hence, we present a complete L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on a singular complex curve in Chapter 6. There, we will comprehend the appearance of the divisor Z - |Z| for dim X = 1 in very detail. This is done by use of the Puiseux normalization for complex curves. In particular, we present an L^2 -Dolbeault version of the Riemann-Roch theorem, which connects the topological invariant genus to the dimension of the Dolbeault cohomology groups with values in line bundles (cf. L^2 -arithmetic genus mentioned above). Furthermore, we will prove that for a complex curve X,

$$H^{0,q}_{s,\mathrm{loc}}(X) \cong H^q(X,\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X), \quad q=0,1,$$

where $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ denotes the sheaf of weakly holomorphic functions on X and $H^{p,q}_{s,\text{loc}}$ denotes the Dolbeault cohomology with respect to a localized version of $\overline{\partial}_s$ (see Theorem 6.3 and Section 6.4).

A further aim of this thesis is the study of Dolbeault cohomologies with values in vector bundles. We obtain the following generalization of (1.1) (for a line-bundle-version, see [Rup14a, Thm. 1.5]). **Theorem 1.3.** Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X, and let $\pi \colon M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that the torsion-free preimage $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. We set $X' := X_{\text{reg}} \setminus \text{Sing } \mathscr{S}$ and denote the vector bundle associated to $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ as $F \to X'$. Then, for all $q \ge 0$,

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,F) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

If either X is compact or $X \in Y$, where Y is a Hermitian complex space such that ∂X is smooth, strictly pseudoconvex and contained in X_{reg} , then

$$H^{n,q}_w(X,F) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

Here, $H_{w,\text{loc}}^{p,q}(X,F)$ denotes the Dolbeault cohomology with respect to a localized version of $\overline{\partial}_w$ and values in F, defined in Section 5.1. Note that the index 'loc' means local on X, i. e. the cohomology group with respect to differential forms with on X locally square-integrable coefficients, and not on X'. In general, we have $H_{w,\text{loc}}^{p,q}(X) \neq H_{w,\text{loc}}^{p,q}(X_{\text{reg}})$, where the latter cohomology group is defined by $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}} \colon L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(X_{\text{reg}}) \to$ $L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(X_{\text{reg}})$ in the usual way for the manifold X_{reg} .

Additionally, we get the following slight variation:

Theorem 1.3: Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities, let $M' \subset M$ be the complement of the exceptional set of π , and let $E \to M$ be a Hermitian vector bundle on M which is Nakano semi-positive on $\pi^{-1}(U)$ for all $U \subset X$ small enough. Let $F := (\pi|_{M'}^{-1})^* E$ denote the pullback bundle of E on $\pi(M')$. Then, for all $q \ge 0$,

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,F) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M(E)).$$

For locally free sheaves, we get the following corollary:

Corollary 1.4. Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, and let E be a Hermitian vector bundle on X. Then, for all $q \ge 0$,

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,E) \cong H^q(X,\mathscr{K}_X(E)).$$

1 Introduction

Here, \mathscr{K}_X denotes the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf (see Section 2.4 or [GR70]) and $\mathscr{K}_X(E) := \mathscr{K}_X \otimes \mathcal{O}(E)$.

A crucial ingredient of the proof of the theorems above is the relative vanishing theorem of K. Takegoshi in [Tak85]. More precisely, we will prove and use its generalization for Nakano semi-positive vector bundles on manifolds in Chapter 7. In Chapter 8, we present further generalizations.

Let us picture the historical background of the relative vanishing theorem. K. Kodaira proved in [Kod53], that for a compact Kähler manifold M of dimension n and a positive (holomorphic) line bundle L on M, all higher sheaf cohomology groups of the canonical bundle Ω^n_M with values in L vanish, i. e.

$$H^q(X, \Omega^n_M(L)) = 0 \text{ for } q \ge 1.$$

There exist many generalizations of this theorem – for instance, the so-called Nakano vanishing theorem for Nakano positive vector bundles (cf. [Nak55]). H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider studied the generalization of Kodaira's vanishing theorem to complex spaces. In [GR70], they proved that, if X is a Moishezon space, i. e. an irreducible compact complex space of dimension n with n independent (globally defined) meromorphic functions, and if \mathscr{E} is a quasi-positive locally free sheaf on X, then

$$H^q(X, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0 \text{ for } q \ge 1.$$

K. Takegoshi gave a relative version of the Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing theorem in [Tak85]. He proved that for a proper surjective holomorphic map $f: M \to Z$ where M is a manifold of dimension nbimeromorphic to a Kähler manifold, the higher direct images $f_{(q)}(\Omega_M^n)$ vanish for $q > n-\dim Z$. The key ingredient is an L^2 -vanishing theorem for weakly 1-complete Kähler manifolds. These results have many applications, in particular in the study of singular complex spaces (see e. g. [CS95, CR09]). Therefore, we are interested in generalizations of these so-called relative vanishing theorems. Applying the Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing theorem (Satz 2.1 in [GR70]) and K. Takegoshi's L^2 -vanishing theorem (see Theorem 7.9), we get the following two corollaries of Theorem 1.3'.

Corollary 1.5. Let X be a compact Moishezon space, and let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free quasi-positive sheaf. We set $X' := X_{reg} \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ and denote the vector bundle associated to $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ as F. Then, for each q > 0,

$$H^{n,q}_w(X,F) = 0.$$

Corollary 1.6. Let X be a holomorphically convex irreducible Kähler space of dimension n, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X whose complex Hessian has in at least one point r strict positive eigenvalues, and let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaf on X. We set $X' := X_{reg} \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ and denote the vector bundle associated to $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ as F. Then, for each q > n - r,

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,F) = 0.$$

Let Y be a complex space, and $X \subseteq Y$ have a smooth, strictly pseudoconvex boundary contained in Y_{reg} . Then, for all q > 0,

$$H^{n,q}_w(X,F) = 0.$$

A key ingredient of the computation of the Dolbeault cohomology groups of top degree, i. e. for p = n, is the following L^2 -variant of a canonical sheaf with values in a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} :

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) := \mathscr{K}_{\operatorname{er}}\left(\overline{\partial}_{w,\operatorname{loc}} \colon L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{n,0}(X,F) \to L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{n,1}(X,F)\right),$$

where F is the vector bundle on $X' := X \setminus \text{Sing } \mathscr{S}$ associated to $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ (for more details see Section 5.1). $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$ can be interpreted as the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf \mathscr{K}_X with values in \mathscr{S} . In Chapter 10, we will prove

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) \cong \mathscr{S} \cdot \mathscr{K}_X$$

using the notation of H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider in [GR70]. For locally free sheaves \mathscr{E} on X, the projection formula (see Theorem 4.10) implies

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{E}) \cong \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X.$$

1 Introduction

For arbitrary coherent analytic sheaves \mathscr{S} , $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$ and $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ do not coincide. Since $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ is a natural way to define *n*-forms with values in \mathscr{S} , we are interested in understanding $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ and in the question under which circumstances the projection formula does generalize for non-locally-free sheaves.

To study these questions, we investigate proper modifications of coherent analytic sheaves in Chapter 4. More precisely, we study the direct image of the preimage sheaf and vice versa. Among other results, we obtain the following statement (see Theorem 4.2). Let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on a locally irreducible complex space X. If the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is normal, then

$$\mathscr{S} \cong \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{S} \tag{1.7}$$

for all proper modifications $\pi: Y \to X$ of X. Using this result and Theorem 4.8, we get the following answer to the question from above: If additionally \mathscr{K}_X and \mathscr{K}_Y are locally free, then there exists an effective Cartier divisor D on Y with support on the exceptional divisor of π such that

$$\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_Y(D)).$$

A further motivation for the study of modifications of coherent analytic sheaves is as follows. H. Rossi proved that for all coherent analytic sheaves \mathscr{S} , there exists a proper modification π such that the torsion-free preimage $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. Using this, we will prove a generalization of Takegoshi's relative vanishing theorem (see Theorem 8.2 and Theorem 8.4) and of the vanishing theorem of H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider itself (see Corollary 8.3). Furthermore, we will show that the normality assumption is necessary to obtain (1.7) for coherent analytic sheaves of rank one whose associated linear spaces are irreducible and Cohen-Macaulay (see Remark 4.20).

A linear space is a fibre space which has vector spaces as fibres. For a proper definition and crucial properties, see Section 3.2. Whereas all fibres of a vector bundle have the same dimension, the dimension of the fibres of a linear space depends on the base point. The category of linear spaces is dual to the category of coherent analytic sheaves. Motivated by the results on modifications of coherent analytic sheaves mentioned above, we will study linear spaces in Chapter 3 comprehensively. In particular, we present criteria for coherent analytic sheaves whose associated linear spaces are normal (see Theorem 3.1 and Corollary 3.20).

Let us summarize the structure of this thesis and clarify the connection to the author's articles. We start by recalling basic definitions and preliminaries in Chapter 2. Then, we discuss linear spaces in Chapter 3. Most of its results are already presented in Sect. 3 of [RS13]. In Chapter 4, we study direct image and preimage of coherent analytic sheaves under proper modifications, covering results of [RS13] and Sect. 4 in [Ser15]. Chapter 5 contains the definitions of the studied Dolbeault operators and basic properties of them, for instance an L^2 -extension theorem (see Theorem 5.6). This is followed by the study of singular complex curves in Chapter 6 as in [RS15]. The generalization of Takegoshi's relative vanishing theorem is done in Chapter 7 and Chapter 8. Here, we follow mainly the lines of [Ser15]. Chapter 9 contains applications to ideal sheaves on holomorphically convex manifolds as studied in Sect. 7 of [RS13] and in Sect. 5 of [Ser15]. Finally, we conclude this thesis with the proofs of Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 1.3' in Chapter 10.

Chapter 2 Preliminaries

In this chapter, we recall basic definitions and propositions about modifications, coherent analytic sheaves and plurisubharmonic functions, which will be used in the other sections of this thesis.

2.1 Proper modifications

In complex analysis, proper modifications belong to the most important tools, especially in the study of bimeromorphic geometry on complex spaces. The best example is the σ -process, which rises to be useful for resolutions of singularities of complex spaces. We recall the definition:

Def. 2.1. A proper surjective holomorphic map $\varphi \colon X \to Y$ of complex spaces X and Y is called a *(proper) modification of X* if there are closed analytic sets $A \subset X$ and $B \subset Y$ such that

(1)
$$B = \varphi(A),$$

(2) $\varphi|_{X \setminus A} \colon X \setminus A \to Y \setminus B$ is biholomorphic, and

(3) A and B are analytically rare.

If A and B are minimal with the properties (1-3), then A is called the *exceptional set of* φ and B the *centre of the modification*.

Let us also recall the definition of rare and thin:

Def. 2.2. Let X be a complex space and A a subspace of X. If the restriction $\mathcal{O}_X(U) \to \mathcal{O}_X(U \setminus A)$ is injective for all open $U \subset X$, then we call A rare in X. If $\overline{X \setminus A} = X$, then A is called *thin*.

If X is reduced, then rare and thin are equivalent. In general, rare does not imply thin and vice versa.

Monoidal transformations. One of the most popular modifications is the monoidal transformation along a submanifold in a manifold, also called σ -process or blow-up: Let M be a complex manifold and Σ be a (complex) submanifold of M of codimension m + 1. Then, there exists a proper modification $\sigma \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ with Σ as centre such that the exceptional set $\sigma^{-1}(\Sigma)$ is a smooth hypersurface in \widetilde{M} , locally (with respect to M) \widetilde{M} is embedded in $M \times \mathbb{CP}^m$, σ is the restriction of the projection $\operatorname{pr}_{\widetilde{M}} \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ and $\sigma^{-1}(\Sigma) = \Sigma \times \mathbb{CP}^m$. The monoidal transformation is quite useful. Among other, one application is the generalization of results about hypersurfaces to submanifolds of arbitrary codimension, e.g. the theorem of M. Schneider (see [Sch73]), which answered a conjecture of Hartshorne: If M is compact and Σ has a 'metrisch q-konkaves' normal bundle (i.e. outside of the zero section, the hermitian form is fibrewise a q-convex function), then $M \setminus \Sigma$ is (m+q)-convex in the sense of Andreotti-Grauert.

If $\pi: M \to X$ is a proper modification of X with smooth M, then π is called a *resolution of singularities of* X. Note that there exists no minimal resolution of singularities, i. e. in general, it can not satisfy a universal property (except for dim X = 1, see next section). Nevertheless, H. Hironaka proved that a resolution of singularities always exists by using the blow-up procedure in an inductive procedure (see [Hir64] or [Hir77, Thm. 7.1]):

Theorem 2.3 (Resolution of singularities). Let X be a reduced complex space. Then, there exist a smooth manifold M and a proper modification $\pi: M \to X$ such that the centre of π is the singular set X_{sing} of X and the exceptional set $\pi^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$ is the union of smooth hypersurfaces with only normal crossings (snc), i. e. the intersections of the hypersurfaces are transversal.

2.2 Resolution of complex curves

Def. 2.4. We call a reduced complex space of pure-dimension one a *(singular) complex curve.*

Let X be a compact complex curve. Then, a resolution of the singularities of X is given just by the normalization of the curve, and it is unique up to biholomorphism: Let $\pi_1 \colon M_1 \to X$ and $\pi_2 \colon M_2 \to X$ be two resolutions of X. Then, $\psi := \pi_2^{-1} \circ \pi_1 \colon M_1 \setminus \pi_1^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}}) \to M_2 \setminus \pi_2^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$ is biholomorphic and bounded in the singular locus. Yet, $\pi_i^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$ consist of isolated points. Therefore, ψ has a (bi-) holomorphic extension.

Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of a compact complex curve X. We define the *genus* of X by the genus of the resolution

$$g(X) := h^1(M) = \dim H^1(M, \mathcal{O}).$$

If X has more than one irreducible component, then M is not connected and $h^1(M)$ is the sum of the genera of the connected components. Since the resolution is unique, it is well-defined.

Throughout Chapter 6 (except of Section 6.5.1), we will work with divisors on compact Riemann surfaces only. Therefore, there are no differences between Cartier and Weil divisors, and we can associate to each line bundle a divisor.

Let $L \to X$ be a holomorphic line bundle. Then, the pullback $\pi^*L \to M$ is well-defined by the pullback of the transition functions of the line bundle. There is a divisor D on M associated to π^*L such that $\mathcal{O}(\pi^*L) \cong \mathcal{O}(D)$, where $\mathcal{O}(D)$ denotes the sheaf of germs of holomorphic functions f such that $\operatorname{div}(f) + D \ge 0$, and $\operatorname{deg} \pi^*L = \operatorname{deg} D$. The uniqueness of the resolution (up to biholomorphism) implies the independence of $\operatorname{deg} \pi^*L$ from π , so that

$$\deg L := \deg \pi^* L$$

is also well-defined.

For any divisor D on M, there exists a holomorphic line bundle $L_D \to M$ associated to D such that $\mathcal{O}(L_D) \cong \mathcal{O}(D)$. Since the construction of L_D allows different possible choices, we will define square-integrable sections via the identification with meromorphic functions on M:

Since M is a Riemann surface, we can assume $D = \sum_{i \in I} a_i p_i$, where $\{p_i\}_{i \in I}$ is a locally finite subset of M and p_i denotes the reduced divisor in the point $p_i \in M$. Choose small enough neighbourhoods $V_i \in U_i \in M$ of p_i with charts $\psi_i \colon U_i \to \mathbb{C}, \psi_i(p_i) = 0$ such that the U_i are pairwise disjoint, and set $U_0 := M \setminus \bigcup V_i$. For each holomorphic section $s \colon M \to L_D$, there exists a meromorphic function $\Psi(s) \colon M \to \mathbb{C}$, with $\psi_i^{a_i} \Psi(s) \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$. By definition, $\Psi(s)$ can be defined for any section $s \colon M \to L_D$ even for non-holomorphic sections. Hence, we define

$$\begin{split} L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(M,D) &:= \left\{ h \colon M \to \mathbb{C} : h \in L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(U_0), \psi_i^{a_i} \cdot h \in L^2(U_i) \right\} \\ L^2(M,D) &:= \left\{ h \colon M \to \mathbb{C} : h \in L^2(U_0), \sum_{i \in I} \int_{U_i} |\psi_i^{a_i} \cdot h|^2 < \infty \right\}. \end{split}$$

Obviously, the definition does not depend on the choice of U_i , V_i and ψ_i . A section $s: M \to L_D$ is called square-integrable if $\Psi(s) \in L^2(M, D)$. If M is compact, then this coincides with the usual notation of square-integrable sections with respect to an arbitrary smooth Hermitian metric on the line bundle (all such metrics are equivalent). The set of (p, q)forms with values in L_D and square-integrable coefficients will be denoted by $L^{2,\text{loc}}_{p,q}(M, L_D)$. For an effective divisor Y (i.e. $Y \ge 0$), we get $L^2(M) = L^2(M, 0) \subset L^2(M, Y)$. For arbitrary Hermitian metrics on M and on the line bundles, this induces the embedding / inclusion $L^{2,\text{loc}}_{p,q}(M, M \times \mathbb{C}) \subset L^{2,\text{loc}}_{p,q}(M, L_Y)$ and

 $L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(M, L_D) \subset L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(M, L_{D+Y}), \text{ via } s \mapsto [\Psi^{-1}](\Psi(s) + Y), \quad (2.5)$ and, if M is compact, then

$$L^{2}_{p,q}(M, L_D) \subset L^{2}_{p,q}(M, L_{D+Y}).$$
 (2.6)

Let $Z := \pi^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$ be the unreduced exceptional divisor of the resolution $\pi \colon M \to X$ and |Z| the underlying reduced divisor. Then,

 $\deg(Z - |Z|)$ is independent of the resolution as well. We will discuss some alternative ways to compute $\deg Z$.

Locally, the resolution is given by the Puiseux parametrization: Let A be an analytic set of dimension one in $\Omega \in \mathbb{C}^n$ with $A_{\text{sing}} = \{0\}$ which is irreducible at 0. Shrinking Ω , there are coordinates $z, w_1, ..., w_{n-1}$ around 0 such that A is contained in the cone $||w|| \leq C|z|, w = (w_1, ..., w_{n-1})$. The projection $\text{pr}_z \colon A \to \mathbb{C}_z$ on the z-coordinate is a finite ramified covering. Let s be the number of the sheets of pr_z . Generic choices of the coordinates give the same number of sheets s, called the multiplicity $\text{mult}_0 A$ of A in $\{0\}$. There exists a parametrization $\pi \colon \Delta \to A, t \mapsto (t^s, w_1(t), ..., w_{n-1}(t))$, where $\Delta := \{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t| < 1\}$; cf. e.g. [Chi89, Sect. 6.1]. π is called the *Puiseux parametrization*. The unreduced exceptional divisor is just $Z = (\pi^{-1}(z)) = (t^s)$, and so $\deg Z = s$.

The number of sheets of the covering pr_z is also equal to the Lelong number $\nu([A],0)$ of the positive current [A] given by integration over A (see [Chi89, Prop. 2 in § 3.15], [Dem12, Thm. 7.7] or [GH78, § 3.2]).

The tangent cone gives another way to compute $\operatorname{mult}_0 A$. For a holomorphic function f on Ω , let $f = \sum_{k=k_0}^{\infty} f_k$ be the decomposition in homogeneous polynomials f_k of degree k with $f_{k_0} \neq 0$ (choosing a smaller Ω) and $f^* := f_{k_0} \neq 0$ be the *initial homogeneous polynomial* of f. If A is given by the ideal sheaf \mathcal{J}_A , then

$$C_0(A) = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{C}^n : f^*(\alpha) = 0 \ \forall f \in \mathscr{J}_{A,0} \} \subset T_0 \mathbb{C}^n$$

is called the *tangent cone* of A in 0 (cf. [Chi89, Sect. 8.4]). The natural projection $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus 0 \to \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ maps $C_0(A)$ on a projective variety $\widetilde{C}_0(A)$. The *degree* deg Y of a projective variety Y in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} of dimension p is defined as the class of Y in $H_{2p}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-1}, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, and $\operatorname{mult}_0 A = \operatorname{deg} \widetilde{C}_0(A)$ (see e.g. Sect. 2 of [GH78, §1.3]). In the case of an irreducible complex curve A, note that $\widetilde{C}_0(A)$ is just a point of multiplicity $\operatorname{mult}_0 A$.

All in all, we have

$$\deg Z = \operatorname{mult}_0 A = \nu([A], 0) = \deg C_0(A).$$

2.3 Coherent analytic sheaves

In this section, we recall some basic properties about coherent analytic sheaves.

Let X be a complex space. Throughout this thesis, we will always denote the associated structure sheaf with \mathcal{O}_X . An \mathcal{O}_X -module sheaf is called analytic. If M is an open subset or an analytic subspace, then \mathscr{S}_M shall denote the restriction of a sheaf \mathscr{S} to M.

Since \mathcal{O}_X is \mathcal{O}_X -coherent, we obtain that an analytic sheaf is coherent (with respect to \mathcal{O}_X) if and only if, for every $p \in X$, there exists a neighbourhood $U \subset X$ and numbers s, t such that

$$\mathcal{O}_U^s \to \mathcal{O}_U^t \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$$

is exact. Actually, the definition of coherence is represented in this sequence: If there exists a number t such that $\mathcal{O}_p^t \to \mathscr{S}_p$ is surjective, then this means \mathscr{S}_p is generated by less than t elements as \mathcal{O}_p -module. In particular, it is finitely generated. The number s gives an estimate of the relations which are needed to define \mathscr{S}_p as a quotient of \mathcal{O}_U^t . This shows that the kernel of $\mathcal{O}_p^t \to \mathscr{S}_p$ is finitely generated and from that one can conclude that \mathscr{S} is relation finite.

If \mathfrak{m}_p denotes the maximal ideal of \mathcal{O}_p , then $\mathscr{S}_p/\mathfrak{m}_p\mathscr{S}_p$ is a finite dimensional vector space. We define the *rank of* \mathscr{S} *in* p by

$$\operatorname{rk}_p \mathscr{S} := \dim \mathscr{S}_p / \mathfrak{m}_p \mathscr{S}_p$$

and obtain that there exist a neighbourhood $U \subset X$ of p and a surjection $\mathcal{O}_U^{\mathrm{rk}_p\mathscr{S}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{S}_U$. In particular, $p \mapsto \mathrm{rk}_p\mathscr{S}$ is an upper semi-continuous function. The rank of \mathscr{S} is defined as $\mathrm{rk} \mathscr{S} := \min_{p \in X} \mathrm{rk}_p \mathscr{S}$. In points p, where $\mathrm{rk}_p \mathscr{S} = \mathrm{rk} \mathscr{S}$, \mathscr{S} is locally free, i. e. there exists a neighbourhood U such that $\mathscr{S}_U \cong \mathcal{O}_U^{\mathrm{rk} \mathscr{S}}$. The singular locus

$$\operatorname{Sing}\mathscr{S} := \{ p \in X : \operatorname{rk}_p \mathscr{S} \ge \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} \}$$

of \mathscr{S} is analytic in X. If X is irreducible, then Sing \mathscr{S} is thin in X (see e. g. Prop. 3.1 in [Ros68]).

Torsion of sheaves. Let $s_p \in \mathscr{S}_p$ be a germ of the coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} on $X, p \in X$. If there exits an $r_p \in \mathcal{O}_{X,p}, r_p \neq 0$, such that $r_p \cdot s_p = 0$, then s_p is called torsion element of \mathscr{S}_p . The subsheaf

 $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{S}) := \bigcup_{p \in X} \{ s_p \in \mathscr{S}_p : s_p \text{ is torsion element} \}$

of \mathscr{S} is called *torsion sheaf*. Actually, $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ is the kernel of the canonical map $\mathscr{S} \to (\mathscr{S}^*)^*$. In particular, $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ is coherent. If X is irreducible, then the support of $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ is thin. Furthermore, we get $\mathscr{S} = \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ if and only if $\operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} = 0$.

Def. 2.7. \mathscr{S} is called *torsion-free* if $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S}) = 0$.

Remark 2.8. Let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on a complex space X which is normal or (more weakly) satisfies $\operatorname{codim} X_{\operatorname{sing}} \ge 2$. The torsion-freeness of \mathscr{S} implies that for all small enough open sets $U \subset X_{\operatorname{reg}}$, there is an inclusion

$$\mathscr{S}_U \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_U^r,$$

where r denotes the rank of \mathscr{S} , i. e. $\mathscr{S}_{X_{\text{reg}}}$ is a first syzygy sheaf. Then, the syzygy theorem implies codim $\operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}_{X_{\text{reg}}} \geq 2$ (see e. g. Lem. 1.1.8 and its corollary in [OSS11, Chap. 2]). Since $\operatorname{codim} X_{\text{sing}} \geq 2$ and $\operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S} \subset X_{\text{sing}} \cup \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}_{X_{\text{reg}}}$, we get

 $\operatorname{codim}\operatorname{Sing}\mathscr{S}\geq 2.$

Remark 2.9. The tensor product of two torsion-free sheaves do not need to be torsion-free. E. g., let \mathscr{I} be the ideal sheaf generated by (z^2, zw) on $\mathbb{C}^2_{z,w}$ and \mathscr{J} be the ideal sheaf generated by (w^2, zw) . Then, $z^2 \otimes w^2 - zw \otimes zw \in \mathscr{I} \otimes \mathscr{J}$ is not zero. Yet, $z \cdot (z^2 \otimes w^2 - zw \otimes zw) =$ $z^3 \otimes w^2 - z^2 \otimes zw^2 = 0.$

Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a complex space X. Then, it is easy to see that the direct image $\pi_*\mathscr{F}$ of a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} remains torsion-free. But, the analytic inverse image sheaf $\pi^*\mathscr{S}$ of a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} is not torsion-free in general. For a counterexample, see the example in [GR70, Sect. 1],

2 Preliminaries

i.e. the pullback of the maximal ideal sheaf of the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 under blow-up of the origin is not torsion-free. One can say more or less that $\pi^* \mathscr{S}$ is torsion-free in a point $y \in Y$ if and only if \mathscr{S} is locally free in $\pi(y)$ (see [Rab79] or Remark 3.15 below). This motivates the following definition:

Def. 2.10. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a holomorphic map between complex spaces such that Y is locally irreducible. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then,

 $f^T\mathscr{S}:=f^*\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(f^*\mathscr{S})$

is called the *torsion-free preimage sheaf* of \mathcal{S} under f.

Torsion-free preimages under proper modifications have been first studied by H. Rossi in [Ros68], H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider in [GR70] and [Rie71] (they denoted it as $\mathscr{S} \circ f$).

Grauert's direct image theorem. Let X and Y be complex spaces, $f: X \to Y$ a proper holomorphic map and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, $U \to H^q(f^{-1}(U), \mathscr{S}), U \subset X$, is a presheaf. We call the associated sheaf the *higher direct image sheaf* $f_{(q)}\mathscr{S}$. $f_{(0)}\mathscr{S}$ coincides with the classical direct image $f_*\mathscr{S}$. In [Gra60, Thm. I], H. Grauert has proven for all $q \ge 0$:

If f is proper, then $f_{(q)}\mathscr{S}$ is coherent.

With Grauert's direct image theorem, the proofs of the following famous theorems of R. Remmert get much more simplified.

Theorem 2.11 (Remmert reduction, [Rem56]). Let X be a holomorphically convex complex space. Then, there is a Stein space Y and a proper, holomorphic and surjective $\pi: X \to Y$ such that the sheaf homomorphism $\mathcal{O}_Y \to \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_X)$ is an isomorphism.

Theorem 2.12 (Remmert's mapping theorem, [Rem57]). Let $f: X \rightarrow Y$ be a proper holomorphic map of complex spaces, and let $A \subset X$ be analytic. Then, the image f(A) is analytic in Y.

Normalization sheaf. If X is a pure dimensional complex space, let $\widehat{\mathcal{O}} = \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ denote the normalization sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X which is defined stalkwise by the integral closure of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ in the sheaf $\mathcal{M}_{X,x}$ of meromorphic functions for all $x \in X$ (cf. e. g. [GR84, § VI.4]). A function in $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U), U \subset X$ open, is called *weakly holomorphic*. Weakly holomorphic functions are holomorphic in regular points of X and bounded in singular points. If X is locally irreducible, then weakly holomorphic functions are continuous in X_{sing} .

The classical Riemann extension theorem generalizes to the following result (see e. g. [GR84, Sect. VII.4.1]):

Theorem 2.13 (Riemann extension). Let X be a pure dimensional complex space. Every holomorphic function on X_{reg} which is bounded in points of X_{sing} is weakly holomorphic on X.

2.4 Canonical sheaves on singular spaces

Def. 2.14. Let X be a complex space of pure dimension n and $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities. Let Ω^n_M denote the canonical sheaf of holomorphic *n*-forms on M. Then,

$$\mathscr{K}_X := \pi_* \Omega^n_M$$

is the so-called Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf.

H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider introduced this canonical sheaf and proved that the definition is independent of the resolution in [GR70, §2.1]. In §2.2 of [GR70], it is shown that for normal spaces X, \mathcal{K}_X is given by the presheaf

$$\mathscr{K}_X(U) = \{ \alpha \in \Omega^n_{X_{\mathrm{reg}}}(U_{\mathrm{reg}}) : \int_{V_{\mathrm{reg}}} \alpha \wedge \overline{\alpha} < \infty \ \forall \ V \Subset U \}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the definition is obviously independent of the chosen Hermitian metric on U_{reg} . We will see that (2.15) holds even for non-normal X (see Theorem 10.1).

2 Preliminaries

In the following, we recall the definition and basic results of the tangent and the cotangent sheaf on complex spaces. For more details, see e.g. $[PR94, \S1]$.

Let X be a complex subspace of an open set $D \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ of pure-dimension n, given by the ideal sheaf \mathscr{J} . The map $\mathscr{J} \to \Omega_D^1$, $f \mapsto df$ induces a morphism $\alpha \colon \mathscr{J}/\mathscr{J}^2 \to \Omega_D^1/\mathscr{J}\Omega_D^1$. We call $\Omega_X^1 := \mathscr{C}$ the cotangent sheaf of X. The tangent sheaf \mathscr{T}_X of X is the dual of the cotangent sheaf, i. e. $\mathscr{T}_X := \mathscr{H}_{om}(\Omega_X^1, \mathcal{O}_X)$. For all points $x \in X$, let \mathfrak{m}_x denote the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. Then, there exists a bijection

$$\Omega^{1}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m}_{X,x}\Omega^{1}_{X,x} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{m}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m}^{2}_{X,x}, \qquad (2.16)$$

which allows to compute $\Omega^1_{X,x}$ and $\mathscr{T}_{X,x}$.

The dualizing canonical sheaf in sense of A. Grothendieck is defined as

$$\omega_X := \operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_D}^{N-n}(\mathcal{O}_X, \Omega_D^N).$$

In general, the n^{th} exterior power $\Omega_X^n := \Lambda^n \Omega_X^1$ and the dualizing sheaf ω_X do not coincide. The first one is in some sense too singular. If X is a locally complete intersection, the adjunction formula gives the canonical isomorphism

$$\omega_X \cong \Omega_D^N |_X \otimes \det \mathscr{N}_{X/D},$$

where $\mathcal{N}_{X/D} := \mathscr{H}_{om \mathcal{O}_D}(\mathscr{J}/\mathscr{J}^2, \mathcal{O}_X)$ denotes the normal sheaf of X in D. For regular X, $\mathcal{N}_{X/D}$ is the sheaf of sections of the normal bundle to X.

For arbitrary complex spaces X, the local definitions can be glued together. Hence, Ω_X^1 and ω_X are well-defined. If X is a manifold, the notations coincide with the usual one and $\omega_X = \Omega_X^n = \mathscr{K}_X$.

For normal spaces X, we obtain that ω_X is a subsheaf of \mathscr{K}_X (see §3.1 in [GR70]), i.e.

$$\omega_X \subset \mathscr{K}_X.$$

If ω_X is locally free and X a Cohen-Macaulay space, then X is called *Gorenstein*. For these complex spaces, we get the following criterion for \mathscr{K}_X being locally free (see Thm. 5.3 in [Rup14b]).

Theorem 2.17. Let X be a Gorenstein space. If and only if X has (only) canonical singularities, the dualizing sheaf coincides with the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf, i. e.

$$\omega_X = \mathscr{K}_X$$

and \mathscr{K}_X is locally free.

2.5 Monoidal transformations w.r.t. sheaves

As mentioned above, monoidal transformation are an especially useful tool in bimeromorphic complex analysis. In this section, we will introduce the monoidal transformations of a complex spaces with respect to a coherent analytic sheaf.

H. Rossi showed in [Ros68, Sect. 3] that coherent analytic sheaves can be made locally free by the use of modifications. This process has been treated more systematically by O. Riemenschneider in [Rie71]. Following [Rie71, § 2], we define:

Def. 2.18. Let X be a complex space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, a pair $(X_{\mathscr{S}}, \varphi_{\mathscr{S}})$ of a complex space $X_{\mathscr{S}}$ and a proper modification $\varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon X_{\mathscr{S}} \to X$ is called the *monoidal transformation of* X with respect to \mathscr{S} if the following two conditions are fulfilled:

- (1) the torsion-free preimage $\varphi_{\mathscr{G}}^T \mathscr{S} = \varphi_{\mathscr{G}}^* \mathscr{S} / \mathscr{T}(\varphi_{\mathscr{G}}^* \mathscr{S})$ is locally free on $X_{\mathscr{S}}$,
- (2) if $\pi: Y \to X$ is any proper modification with (1), then there is a unique holomorphic mapping $\psi: Y \to X_{\mathscr{S}}$ such that $\pi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \circ \psi$.

Thus, if $X_{\mathscr{S}}$ exists, it is uniquely determined up to biholomorphism by (2). But its existence was first proven by H. Rossi (see Thm. 3.5 in [Ros68]) and then studied further by O. Riemenschneider (see Thm. 2 in [Rie71]):

2 Preliminaries

Theorem 2.19. Let X be an (irreducible) complex space, \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X and $A = \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ the singular locus of \mathscr{S} . Then, there exists the monoidal transformation $(X_{\mathscr{S}}, \varphi_{\mathscr{S}})$ of X with respect to \mathscr{S} . $X_{\mathscr{S}}$ is a reduced (irreducible) complex space and $\varphi_{\mathscr{S}}$ is a projective proper modification such that

$$\varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon X_{\mathscr{S}} \setminus \varphi_{\mathscr{S}}^{-1}(A) \to X \setminus A$$

is biholomorphic. If $U \subset X$ is an open subset, then $(\varphi_{\mathscr{S}}^{-1}(U), \varphi_{\mathscr{S}})$ is the monoidal transformation of U with respect to \mathscr{S}_U . $\varphi_{\mathscr{S}}$ is a projective morphism.

We also recall the following simple observation (see the Korollar in $\S1.3$ of [GR70]).

Lemma 2.20. Let $\rho: Z \to Y$ and $\pi: Y \to X$ be two holomorphic mappings where Z and Y have the same dimension n such that the preimage of analytic sets of dimension < n in Y under ρ have dimension < n in X. Then, $\rho^T \pi^T \mathscr{F} = (\pi \circ \rho)^T \mathscr{F}$ for any coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} on X.

2.6 Plurisubharmonic functions on complex spaces

Def. 2.21. Let X be a complex space. An upper semi-continuous function $\phi: X \to [-\infty, \infty)$ is called *plurisubharmonic* if there exists a holomorphic embedding $\iota: U \hookrightarrow D \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ for each small enough open set $U \subset X$ such that ϕ admits a plurisubharmonic extension $\hat{\phi}$ on D, i. e. $\hat{\phi} \circ \iota = \phi$. If there exists a smooth function $\tilde{\phi}: D \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\tilde{\phi} \circ \iota = \phi$, then ϕ is called *smooth*. Note that for a smooth plurisubharmonic function ϕ on X, the plurisubharmonic extension $\hat{\phi}$ does not need to coincide with the smooth extension $\tilde{\phi}$, i. e. in general, there does not need to exist a smooth plurisubharmonic extension of ϕ .

There exists also an intrinsic definition of plurisubharmonicity (socalled weak plurisubharmonicity), which coincides with the one from above (see Thm. 5.3.1 in [FN80]):

Theorem 2.22. Let X be a complex space and ϕ an upper semicontinuous function on X. If $\phi \circ f$ is subharmonic for all analytic discs $f: \Delta \to X$, then ϕ is plurisubharmonic.

Corollary 2.23. An upper semi-continuous function ϕ on a complex space X is plurisubharmonic if it is plurisubharmonic on each irreducible component of X.

Since a plurisubharmonic function can be extended plurisubharmonic over pluripolar sets where it is locally bounded (see e.g. Prop. 6 and Cor. 2 in [Vâj99]), we get:

Theorem 2.24. Let X be a complex space and $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^0(X, \mathbb{R})$ be plurisubharmonic on X_{reg} . Then, ϕ is plurisubharmonic on the whole of X.

Furthermore, we get for all continuous functions $\phi: X \to \mathbb{R}$ and for all proper modifications $\pi: M \to X$: ϕ is plurisubharmonic if and only if $\phi \circ \pi$ is plurisubharmonic.

Weakly 1-complete spaces. A complex space with a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function is called *weakly 1-complete*. This property is stable under proper holomorphic maps. If the exhaustion is strictly plurisubharmonic, then X is Stein, i. e. X is holomorphically convex and globally defined holomorphic functions separate points (this is obviously not stable under modifications, not to mention under proper holomorphic maps).

Every holomorphically convex space X is weakly 1-complete: Using the Remmert reduction (see Theorem 2.11), we get a Stein space Y and a proper holomorphic map $\pi: X \to Y$ (with further properties). Then, Y admits a strictly plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ

2 Preliminaries

(see [Nar62, Thm. II]). Hence, $\Phi \circ \pi$ is a plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X.

The converse is not true. In [Gra63], H. Grauert constructed an example of a weakly 1-complete complex manifold / space which is not holomorphically convex.

For a $(\mathscr{C}^2$ -) smooth function ϕ on a complex space X, let $H(\phi)_x$ denote the complex Hessian of ϕ at a point $x \in X_{\text{reg}}$. We set

$$\sigma(\phi) := \max_{x \in X_{\text{reg}}} (\operatorname{rk} H(\phi)_x).$$
(2.25)

 $\sigma(\phi)$ is equal to the maximal number of positive eigenvalues of $H(\phi)$. For a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ , we obtain $\sigma(\Phi) > 0$ since an exhaustion function can not be pluriharmonic (contradiction to the Maximum Principle).

Chapter 3 Linear Spaces

Coherent analytic sheaves are an essential ingredient of complex analysis. Especially, to study singular complex spaces, it is crucial to understand coherent analytic sheaves, though sections of sheaves are quite abstract objects to study. A section of a coherent analytic sheaf can be written locally as a tuple of holomorphic functions (finiteness of the sheaf). However, it is difficult to figure out the relations between these tuples, which are essential in order to obtain the complete picture since coherent analytic sheaves are in general not locally free. From this point of view, the duality between coherent analytic sheaves and linear spaces is very interesting. As a fibre space, the linear space associated to a coherent analytic sheaf can sometimes be handled more easily: The duality allows to identify the sections of the sheaf with holomorphic mappings on a complex space.

Therefore, this chapter treats the study of linear spaces. After recalling the basic facts about fibre spaces in Section 3.1, we introduce the notion of linear spaces in the sense of G. Fischer (see [Fis66, Fis67]) in Section 3.2. Furthermore, we will define the primary component of a linear space and prove some basic facts in Section 3.3. Assumptions on the corank of a linear space / sheaf (minimal number of generators minus rank) will be helpful to prove deeper relations between coherent analytic sheaves and linear spaces (see Section 3.4 and Section 3.5). Section 3.3 and Section 3.5 are mainly based on Sect. 3 in [RS13].

Let us emphasize the following theorem, which can be seen as one of the main results of this chapter (cf. Thm. 1.3 in [RS13], proven here in Section 3.5).

Theorem 3.1. Let X be a connected factorial Cohen-Macaulay space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X, generated by $\operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} + m$ sections, $m \leq 2$, such that the singular locus of \mathscr{S} is at least of codimension m+1in X. Then, the following is equivalent:

- (1) \mathscr{S} is torsion-free.
- (2) The linear space L(S) associated to S is (globally) irreducible
 (i. e. it consists only of its primary component).
- (3) $L(\mathscr{S})$ is locally irreducible.
- (4) For all $p \in X$, there is a neighbourhood $U \subset X$ such that

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_U^m \to \mathcal{O}_U^{\mathrm{rk}\,\mathscr{S}+m} \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$$

is exact, i. e. the homological dimension of ${\mathscr S}$ is at most one. If (1–4) is fulfilled and

(5) if codim Sing $\mathscr{S} \ge m+2$, then $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal.

For coherent analytic sheaves with homological dimension less or equal 1, (5) holds as well for m > 2 (see Corollary 3.20).

3.1 Fibre spaces

Let X be a complex space. A pair (Y, π) of a complex space Y and a holomorphic map $\pi: Y \to X$ is called a *complex space (or fibre space)* over X. A holomorphic map $\varphi: Y_1 \to Y_2$ between complex spaces $\pi_1: Y_1 \to X, \pi_2: Y_2 \to X$ over X is called a *holomorphic map over* X if $\pi_1 = \pi_2 \circ \varphi$, i. e. φ preserves fibres. The complex spaces over X with holomorphic maps over X as morphisms form a category, which we denote as C_X . The product in C_X is called the fibre product over X:

Def. 3.2. For two complex spaces $\pi_1: Y_1 \to X$ and $\pi_2: Y_2 \to X$ in C_X , we define the *fibre product of* Y_1 and Y_2 over X as the complex space $Y_1 \times_X Y_2 \in C_X$ together with holomorphic maps $\operatorname{pr}_i: Y_1 \times_X Y_2 \to Y_i$ over X, i = 1, 2, which satisfy the following universal property: for any complex space Z over X with holomorphic maps $\psi_i: Z \to Y_i$ over X, i = 1, 2, (in particular $\pi_1 \circ \psi_1 = \pi_2 \circ \psi_2$), there exists a holomorphic map $\psi: Z \to Y_1 \times_X Y_2$ over X such that the following diagram commutes:



i.e. ψ is a holomorphic map over Y_1 and over Y_2 .

It is well known that the fibre product exists (see e.g. Cor. 0.32 in [Fis76]). Actually, it is the closed subspace of the Cartesian product $Y_1 \times Y_2$, given by the pullback under (π_1, π_2) of the ideal sheaf which defines the diagonal in $X \times X$.

The fibre product of two reduced complex spaces over X need not be reduced. Yet, under the assumption that the universal property is only satisfied for reduced spaces Z, one gets a reduced version, as well.

Let $f: Y \to X$ be a holomorphic map (i. e. Y is a complex space over X via f), and let Z be a complex space over X. Then, we define the *pullback of* Z under f by $f^*(Z) := Y \times_X Z$. With $\operatorname{pr}_Y: f^*(Z) \to Y$, we get that $f^*(Z)$ is a complex space over Y.

Complex subspaces (whether closed or open) of X are complex spaces over X via the embedding. If A is a closed subspace of X and $f: Y \to X$ a holomorphic map, then the (unreduced) preimage of A can be defined as $f^{-1}(A) := f^*(A) = A \times_X Y$. It is easy to see that $f^{-1}(A)$ is a closed subspace of Y. The (unreduced) intersection of two closed complex subspaces $A, B \subset X$ can be defined as $A \cap B := A \times_X B$, which is as well a closed subspace of X. Per definition, this coincides with the preimage of B under the embedding of A (and vice versa). If A and B are reduced, i. e. analytic sets, the intersection is reduced and coincides with the set-intersection.

3.2 Definition of linear spaces and preliminaries

Let X be a complex space. The category of complex vector bundles on X is equivalent to the category of locally free sheaves on X. Unfortunately, vector bundles do not behave well under direct images and, correspondingly, the direct image of a locally free sheaf is not locally free any more. Yet, H. Grauert's direct image theorem says that it is still a coherent analytic sheaf. The equivalence between vector bundles and locally free sheaves can be generalized in the following sense: The category of coherent analytic sheaves is dual to the category of linear spaces in the sense of A. Grothendieck and G. Fischer, which is a subcategory of C_X . In this section, we will define linear spaces, sketch the construction of the mentioned duality and recall some basic properties. For the proofs and more crucial properties, we recommend [Gro61, Fis66, Fis67, Fis76, PR94].

Def. 3.3. Let X be a complex space. A complex space $L \in C_X$ with a holomorphic map $\lambda \colon L \to X$ is called *linear space over* X if there exist holomorphic maps

> $+\colon L\times_X L\to L \text{ (addition)},$ $\bullet\colon \mathbb{C}\times L\to L \text{ (scalar multiplication) and}$

 $0: X \to L$ (zero section)

with the following properties:

- (i) + and commute with λ (e.g. $\lambda \circ + = + \circ (\lambda, \lambda)$) and $\lambda \circ 0 = id$. Particularly, +, • and 0 can be understood as holomorphic maps over X.
- (ii) They satisfy the usual vector space / module axioms given by commutative diagrams, e.g.

 $\bullet \circ (\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}, +) = + \circ (\bullet, \bullet) \circ (\mathrm{pr}_{\mathbb{C}}, \mathrm{pr}_1; \mathrm{pr}_{\mathbb{C}}, \mathrm{pr}_2)$

(distributive property) where $\operatorname{pr}_{\mathbb{C}} \colon \mathbb{C} \times L \times_X L \to \mathbb{C}$ denotes the projection on \mathbb{C} and pr_i the projections on the factors of $L \times_X L$.

λ is called the *projection of* L to X.

This means there is a linear structure on L: Each fibre $L_p := \lambda^{-1}(p)$ is a \mathbb{C} -vector space of a dimension which depends on $p \in X$. We call $\operatorname{rk}_p L := \dim L_p$ the rank of L in p and $\operatorname{rk} L := \min_{p \in X} \operatorname{rk}_p L$ the rank of L. The rank $\operatorname{rk}_p L$ is an upper semi-continuous function on X and the set $\{p \in X : \operatorname{rk}_p L \ge r\}$ is analytic in X for all $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We call

$$\operatorname{Sing} L := \{ p \in X : \operatorname{rk}_p L \ge \operatorname{rk} L \}$$

the singular locus of L. Please distinguish it from the singular set (denoted as L_{sing}) of L as complex space. If X is reduced and $\operatorname{rk}_p L$ is constant in p, then L is a vector bundle over X (see Satz 3 in [Fis66]). In particular, L is a vector bundle over $X \setminus \operatorname{Sing} L$.

For an analytic or open subset M of X the restriction of L to M is defined as $L_M := \lambda^{-1}(M)$. If $\iota: M \to X$ is a holomorphic (closed or open, respectively) embedding of M in X, we get that $L_M = \iota^* L = M \times_X L$.

A (homo-) morphism ξ between linear spaces $L_1 \to L_2$ is a holomorphic map $\xi: L_1 \to L_2$ which commutes with the addition + and the scalar multiplication •. We denote the set of homomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}(L_1, L_2)$. In particular, the restriction $\xi_p: L_{1,p} \to L_{2,p}$ of ξ is a homomorphism of vector spaces for all $p \in X$.

For a vector space V of dimension $r, X \times V$ with the projection on X is the trivial linear space of rank r. Locally all linear spaces can be embedded in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ for N big and open $U \subset X$ small enough. For all Stein U, N can be chosen less or equal dim $U + \operatorname{rk} L_U - 1$ if $\operatorname{rk}_p L < \infty$ for all $p \in X$ (see Satz 4 in [Fis67, Sect. 3]). Moreover, we get (see Lem. 1 and 2 in [Fis67]):

Theorem 3.4. Let X be a complex space, and let L be a linear space over X. For all $p_0 \in X$, there exists a neighbourhood $U \subset X$ such that L_U can be embedded in $U \times \mathbb{C}_z^N$ with $N = \operatorname{rk}_{p_0} L$ and the embedding is the analytic subspace given by holomorphic functions $h_1, ..., h_m \in$

29

 $\mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ over U which are fibrewise linear, i. e. $(p, z) \mapsto (p, h_i(p, z)) \in$ Hom $(U \times \mathbb{C}^N, U \times \mathbb{C})$.

There is a duality between the category of linear spaces and coherent analytic sheaves on X (see Satz 2 in [Fis67]). Let us sketch the construction of the functors:

For a linear space $L \to X$, the presheaf $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}(L)$ given by $\mathscr{L}(U) :=$ Hom $(L_U, U \times \mathbb{C})$ is canonical, i.e. it defines a sheaf. For an open set $U \subset X$, a holomorphic $r \in \mathcal{O}_X(U)$ and a section $s \in \mathscr{L}(U) =$ Hom $(L_U, U \times \mathbb{C})$, the scalar multiplication \cdot induces a section $r \cdot s \in$ Hom $(L_U, U \times \mathbb{C})$. This means $\mathscr{L}(L)$ is an analytic sheaf.

A homomorphism $\xi \colon L_1 \to L_2$ between linear spaces induces a homomorphism $\xi^* := \mathscr{L}(\xi) \colon \mathscr{L}(L_2) \to \mathscr{L}(L_1)$ between the associated coherent analytic sheaves defined by

$$\xi_U^*(s) := s \circ \xi|_U \in \operatorname{Hom}(L_{1,U}, U \times \mathbb{C}) = \mathscr{L}(L_1)(U)$$

for all open $U \subset X$ and $s \in \mathscr{L}(L_2)(U) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_{2,U}, U \times \mathbb{C})$ (using $\xi|_U \in \operatorname{Hom}(L_{1,U}, L_{2,U})$).

Theorem 3.4 implies the coherence of \mathscr{L} : For small enough $U \subset X$, L_U can be embedded in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ such that $L_U = \{h_1 = ... = h_m = 0\}$ (in the unreduced sense) for holomorphic functions h_i in $\mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ which are fibrewise linear. This means $L_U = \ker \alpha$ where

$$\alpha(p,z) := (p; h_1(p,z), ..., h_m(p,z)) \in \operatorname{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N, U \times \mathbb{C}^m),$$

where p denotes the coordinates of U and z of \mathbb{C}^N , i.e.

$$0 \to L_U \hookrightarrow U \times \mathbb{C}^N \xrightarrow{\alpha} U \times \mathbb{C}^n$$

is an exact sequence. We get the exact sequence

$$\mathcal{O}_U^m \xrightarrow{\alpha^*} \mathcal{O}_U^N \to \mathscr{L}(L)_U \to 0.$$

Vice versa, the linear space associated to a coherent analytic sheaf is constructed as follows:

Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X. For a small enough open set $U \subset X$, the coherence of \mathscr{S} gives us an exact sequence $\mathcal{O}_U^s \xrightarrow{\alpha}$
$\mathcal{O}_U^t \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$. The holomorphic morphism α can be interpreted as matrix with holomorphic entries. Hence, the transposed of α induces a homomorphism $\alpha^* \colon U \times \mathbb{C}^t \to U \times \mathbb{C}^s \in \operatorname{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^t, U \times \mathbb{C}^s)$. Let S_U be the kernel of α^* , i.e.

$$S_U := \{ (p, z) \in U \times \mathbb{C}^t : \alpha^*(p, z) = (p, 0) \}.$$

The linear space $S := L(\mathscr{S})$ associated to \mathscr{S} can be obtained by patching the constructed S_U from above. For the construction, the coherence of \mathscr{S} is obviously necessary.

For a sheaf morphism $\xi \colon \mathscr{S}_1 \to \mathscr{S}_2$, $L(\xi)$ can be constructed as follows: Let $\mathcal{O}_U^{s_i} \xrightarrow{\alpha_i} \mathcal{O}_U^{t_i} \xrightarrow{\beta_i} \mathscr{S}_{i,U} \to 0$ be exact sequences for a small enough $U \subset X$. Per construction of the linear space, $L(\mathscr{S}_i) = \ker \alpha_i^*$. There exist an extension $\hat{\xi} \colon \mathcal{O}_U^{t_1} \to \mathcal{O}_U^{t_2}$ of ξ , i.e. $\xi \circ \beta_1 = \beta_2 \circ \hat{\xi}$, and a morphism $\tilde{\xi} \colon \mathcal{O}_U^{s_1} \to \mathcal{O}_U^{s_2}$ such that $\hat{\xi} \circ \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 \circ \tilde{\xi}$ (see e.g. Lem. 20.3 in [Eis95]), i.e. the following exact diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{O}_U^{s_1} \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} \mathcal{O}_U^{t_1} \xrightarrow{\beta_1} \mathscr{S}_{1,U} \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \mathcal{O}_U^{s_2} \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \mathcal{O}_U^{t_2} \xrightarrow{\beta_2} \mathscr{S}_{2,U} \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

As homomorphisms, $\hat{\xi}$ and $\tilde{\xi}$ can be interpreted as matrices with holomorphic entries (like α_i , see above), i. e. the transposition gives homomorphisms

 $(\hat{\xi})^* \in \operatorname{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^{t_2}, U \times \mathbb{C}^{t_1}) \text{ and } (\tilde{\xi})^* \in \operatorname{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^{s_2}, U \times \mathbb{C}^{s_1}).$

Let $L(\xi)$ be the restriction of $(\hat{\xi})^*$ to $L(\mathscr{S}_2) \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^{t_2}$. Since $L(\mathscr{S}_2) = \ker \alpha_2^*$, we get

$$\alpha_1^* \circ (\hat{\xi})^* \left(L(\mathscr{S}_2) \right) = (\tilde{\xi})^* \circ \alpha_2^* (L(\mathscr{S}_2)) = 0.$$

Hence, $\operatorname{Im}(\hat{\xi})^*|_{L(\mathscr{S}_2)} \subset \ker \alpha_1^* = L(\mathscr{S}_1)$ (in the unreduced sense) and $L(\xi) = (\hat{\xi})^* \in \operatorname{Hom}(L(\mathscr{S}_2), L(\mathscr{S}_1))$ is well-defined.

Let $\xi: \mathscr{S}_1 \to \mathscr{S}_2$ be a morphism between sheaves. Since the functor L gives a duality between categories, $L(\xi)$ is an epimorphism with respect to the category of linear spaces if and only if ξ is a monomorphism. Here, one should be careful because an epimorphism of linear spaces must not be surjective as holomorphic map: For a counterexample, we

3 Linear Spaces

consider the injective sheaf morphism $\iota: \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}}$ defined by $\iota(r) = p \cdot r$ on the \mathbb{C}_p . Then, $\iota^* = L(\iota): \mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathbb{C}^2$ is given by $\iota^*(p, z) = (p, p \cdot z)$ and an epimorphism with respect to the category of linear spaces. Yet, ι^* is not surjective since $\iota^*(0, z) = (0, 0)$.

On the other hand, for a surjective $\xi \colon \mathscr{S}_1 \to \mathscr{S}_2$ (i. e. an epimorphism), one can show that $L(\xi) \colon L(\mathscr{S}_2) \to L(\mathscr{S}_1)$ is a closed immersion, i. e. $L(\mathscr{S}_2)$ is (can be seen as) a closed complex subspace of $L(\mathscr{S}_1)$. Actually, this follows from the construction of $L(\xi)$ from above.

If \mathscr{E} is a locally free sheaf, then $L(\mathscr{E})$ is a vector bundle. Please do not mix $L(\mathscr{E})$ up with the vector bundle $R(\mathscr{E})$ which has \mathscr{E} as sheaf of sections, i. e. $\mathcal{O}(R(\mathscr{E})) \cong \mathscr{E}$. Actually, $R(\mathscr{E})$ is dual to $L(\mathscr{E})$. For an arbitrary coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} on X, \mathscr{S} is locally free on $X' := X \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$. Let us define $R(\mathscr{S})$ as the vector bundle over X'which has $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ as sheaf of sections, i. e. $R(\mathscr{S}) := R(\mathscr{S}_{X'}) = L(\mathscr{S}_{X'})^*$.

Let $f: Y \to X$ be a holomorphic map between complex spaces, and let $\lambda: L \to X$ be a linear space over X. Then, the *pullback* f^*L of L under f is defined as the fibre product of Y and L over X:

$$f^*L := Y \times_X L.$$

We obtain $f^*(L(\mathscr{S})) = L(f^*\mathscr{S})$. The pullback (as functor on linear spaces) is covariant and left-exact. If $L \subset U_p \times \mathbb{C}_z^N$ is given by holomorphic fibrewise linear $h_1, ..., h_m$, then f^*L is given by $f^*h_1, ..., f^*h_m$ with $f^*h_i(p, z) := h_i(f(p), z)$. We obtain:

Lemma 3.5. Let $L \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ be a linear space over a complex space U, and let $f: V \to U$ be a holomorphic map. Then, the pullback $f^*(L) = V \times_U L$ can be embedded in $V \times \mathbb{C}^N$.

Linear spaces in sense of Grauert. Let X be a reduced complex space. There exists the (sub-) category C_X^{red} of reduced complex spaces over X. Let \bigoplus_X denote the (fibre) product in C_X^{red} , then it coincides with the set-theoretic fibre product. In [Gra62, §3.6], H. Grauert defined linear spaces with respect to C_X^{red} : In contrast to G. Fischer's notion of a linear space, where it is required that $+: L \times_X L \to L$ is a holomorphic map, H. Grauert requires that the addition $+: L \oplus_X L \to L$ is holomorphic between reduced complex spaces. That gives a different category of linear spaces (which is no longer dually equivalent to the category of coherent analytic sheaves).

3.3 Primary component of a linear space

In the following, we will always assume that X is a locally irreducible complex space. Thus, X decomposes into disjoint connected components, which can be considered separately. So, we can assume that X is connected, thus also globally irreducible. For a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} , let $A := \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S} = \operatorname{Sing} S$ be the singular locus of \mathscr{S} and $S = L(\mathscr{S})$, respectively, which is a thin analytic set. As X is irreducible, $X' := X \setminus (A \cup X_{\operatorname{sing}})$ and $A^c := X \setminus A$ are connected. $S_U \cong U \times \mathbb{C}^r$, for small open sets $U \subset A^c$, implies that S_{A^c} is also connected. The set S_A is an analytic subset of S. Let E be the irreducible component of red(S) which contains S_{A^c} . $\operatorname{PC}(S) := E$ will be called the **primary component** of S (following the notation of J. Rabinowitz in [Rab78]). We get the decomposition $S = E \cup S_A$.

Remark 3.6. Let S be the linear space associated to a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} . Let $s \in \operatorname{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{S}(U)$ be a section. Then, the primary component $E = \operatorname{PC}(S)$ of S determines s up to torsion:

If
$$s|_E = 0$$
, then $s \in \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$.

This is clear as $s|_E = 0$ implies that s is supported only on an analytically thin set.

Lemma 3.7. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Let $S = L(\mathscr{S})$ be the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} and E its primary component. If \mathscr{S} has a torsion element, then $E \neq S$. In particular, S is reducible.

Proof: Assume that \mathscr{S} has a torsion element, i. e. there are an open set $U \subset X$, an $s \in \mathscr{S}(U) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C})$ (see Section 3.2) and an $r \in \mathcal{O}_X(U)$ such that $s, r \neq 0$ but $r \cdot s = r \cdot s = 0$ on S_U . As X is locally irreducible, we can assume that U is irreducible. So, there is a dense open set $V \subset U$ such that $r \in \mathcal{O}_X^*(V)$. Thus $s|_{S_V} = 0$. But $V \cap A^c$ is also open and dense in U. So, $s|_E = 0$ by the identity theorem as E is irreducible. Since $s \neq 0$, S_U has to contain (parts of) other irreducible components than E.

Remark 3.8. The converse of Lemma 3.7 is not true: Let \mathscr{J} be the ideal sheaf generated by x^2, xy^2, y^4 on $\mathbb{C}^2_{x,y}$ and $S := L(\mathscr{J})$ the linear space associated to \mathscr{J} . Since \mathscr{J} can not be generated by 2 elements, we get $\operatorname{rk} S_0 = \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{J}_0 = 3$. Hence, S_0 is a 3-dimensional analytic subset of S. On the other hand, the primary component has dimension $2 + \operatorname{rk} S = 3$. Hence, S is not irreducible. Furthermore, one can compute that S is even not reduced: S is given in $\mathbb{C}^2_{x,y} \times \mathbb{C}^3_z$ by the ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_S generated by $h_1(x, y; z) := y^2 z_1 - x z_2$ and $h_2(x, y; z) :=$ $y^2 z_2 - x z_3$ where $z = (z_1, z_2, z_3)$. Since $y^2(z_2^2 - z_1 z_3) = z_2 h_2 - z_3 h_1$, we get $(y(z_2^2 - z_1 z_3))^2 \in \mathscr{J}_S$. Yet, we have $y(z_2^2 - z_1 z_3) \notin \mathscr{J}_S$.

The primary component PC(S) is defined by the functions h_1, h_2 and $z_2^2 - z_1 z_3$. Then, the fibre over the origin is just $\{z_2^2 = z_1 z_3\}$ and not a vector space. So, the fibres of the primary component do not need to be linear and the primary component is in general not a linear space (in the sense of Fischer). In [Rab78, p. 238], J. Rabinowitz claims that the primary component of a linear space is a linear space in the sense of Grauert, but not in the sense of Fischer. Our example shows that even this is not the case.

At least, we obtain that the smallest linear space containing the primary component induces the torsion-free part of a sheaf. More precisely:

Lemma 3.9. For a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} on a complex space X, the linear space associated to the torsion-free sheaf $\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ can be

realized locally as the unreduced intersection over all linear spaces L containing the primary component of $L(\mathscr{S})$ as analytic set, i.e.

$$L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})) = \bigcap_{L \supset \mathrm{PC}(L(\mathscr{S}))} L \, .$$

Proof: Let X' be the complement of Sing \mathscr{S} in X, let S be the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} . We define $\mathscr{T} := \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ and $F := L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T})$. We consider a small open set so that S_U is embedded in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. In $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$, let L_{\min} be the unreduced intersection $\bigcap_{L \supset \mathrm{PC}(S_U)} L$, where the intersection is over all linear spaces L over U embedded in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ that contain $PC(S_U)$. Theorem 3.4 implies that L_{\min} is a linear space over U. Since $F_{X'} = S_{X'}$, we get $PC(S) = PC(F) \subset F$, i.e. $L_{\min} \subset F_U$ in the unreduced sense. In order to produce a contradiction, assume that $L \neq F$. Since the ideal sheaf associated to L_{\min} is generated by fibrewise linear holomorphic function on $U{\times}\mathbb{C}^N$ with $L_{\min} \subset F_U \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ (see Theorem 3.4, shrinking U), there exists a holomorphic map $s \in \text{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N, U \times \mathbb{C})$ vanishing on L_{\min} but not on F_U (in the unreduced sense). Since s vanishes on $PC(S_U) = PC(F_U)$, we get that s is a torsion element of $\mathscr{L}(F) = \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}$. This is a contradiction.

Using Rossi's monoidal transformation, we can make the following observation about the primary component:

Theorem 3.10. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, the primary component E of the linear space S associated to \mathscr{S} is locally irreducible.

Proof: As above, we can assume that X is connected, i. e. irreducible. Let

$$\varphi := \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon X_{\mathscr{S}} \to X$$

be the monoidal transformation of X with respect to \mathscr{S} . This implies that φ is biholomorphic on $X_{\mathscr{S}} \setminus \varphi^{-1}(A)$ with $A := \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$. Then,

$$\varphi^* S = X_{\mathscr{S}} \times_X S$$

is the linear space associated to $\varphi^* \mathscr{S}$, and there is a proper holomorphic projection

$$\operatorname{pr}: \varphi^* S \to S$$

Now consider the natural surjective homomorphism

$$\varphi^*\mathscr{S} \longrightarrow \varphi^T\mathscr{S} = \varphi^*\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\varphi^*\mathscr{S}),$$

which induces a closed embedding of the linear space $V := L(\varphi^T \mathscr{S})$ into φ^*S . Note that V coincides with φ^*S on $X_{\mathscr{S}} \setminus \varphi^{-1}(A)$. Thus, the vector bundle V is just the primary component of φ^*S , and V is locally and globally irreducible since the base space $X_{\mathscr{S}}$ is connected and locally irreducible.

As pr is a proper holomorphic mapping, we have that pr(V) is an irreducible analytic subset of S by Remmert's proper mapping theorem (see Theorem 2.12) and the fact that holomorphic images of irreducible sets are again irreducible (see § 1.3 in [GR84, Chap. 9]). But pr(V) coincides with the primary component E of S over $X \setminus A$. Thus:

$$\operatorname{pr}(V) = E, \tag{3.11}$$

and so $\operatorname{pr}|_V \colon V \to E$ is a proper modification. Using this and the fact that V is clearly locally irreducible, it is easy to see that E is also locally irreducible: For an open connected set $W \subset E$, $\operatorname{pr}|_V^{-1}(W) \subset V$ is again open and connected, thus irreducible since φ is a proper modification of the irreducible X. But then, $W = \operatorname{pr}|_V(\operatorname{pr}|_V^{-1}(W))$ is also irreducible by the same argument as above (holomorphic images of irreducible sets are irreducible).

Using Theorem 3.10, we can now show:

Lemma 3.12. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space and \mathscr{S} a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, $S = L(\mathscr{S})$ is locally irreducible if and only if the primary component of S is a linear space.

Proof: Let $E \subset S$ denote the primary component of S. Theorem 3.10 implies that E is locally irreducible.

Assume first that E is a linear space. For all points in X, there is a neighbourhood $U \subset X$ such that E_U and S_U are linear spaces in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Lem. 1 in [Fis67] implies that E is defined by holomorphic functions $h_1, ..., h_m \in \mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ that are fibrewise linear. The restriction of h_j to S gives a section in $\operatorname{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{S}(U)$. Since h_j vanishes on the primary component E of S, we get $h_j \in \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S}) = 0$ (see Remark 3.6), i.e. $S \subset E$. This shows that actually E = S. The converse of the statement is trivial.

As we have seen in the counterexample Remark 3.8, the primary component does not need to be a linear space. Yet, it has a homogeneous structure, i. e. it is a cone (fibre) space in the sense of G. Fischer [Fis76, Sect. 1.2]:

Lemma 3.13. Let X be a (locally irreducible) complex space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, the primary component E of the linear space $S = L(\mathscr{S})$ associated to \mathscr{S} is fibrewise homogeneous and E is locally defined as analytic set in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ by holomorphic fibrewise homogeneous functions for $U \subset X$ small enough.

Proof: As above, let $A \subset X$ be the singular locus of \mathscr{S} . So, E and S coincide over $X \setminus A$, and we only have to show that the fibres of E are homogeneous over points of A.

The question is local, so consider a point $p \in A$ and a Stein neighbourhood U of p in X such that S_U can be realized as a closed linear subspace of $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Now $E_U \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ is a closed component of S_U , which is linear in the second component over $U \setminus A$. Let $f_1, ..., f_k$ be a set of defining functions for E_U in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ (U is chosen to be Stein). For $f_i, j = 1, ..., k$, we define

$$f_j(\lambda, x, z) := f_j(x, \lambda \cdot z)$$

on $\mathbb{C} \times U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Since $E_{U \setminus A}$ is linear, the f_j^{\bullet} vanish on $(\mathbb{C} \times E)_{U \setminus A}$ and on its closure. By definition, the closure is the irreducible set $\mathbb{C} \times E_U$. Hence, the fibres of E_U are homogeneous. Therefore, $\bullet : \mathbb{C} \times E_U \to E_U$ given by the restriction of $\bullet : \mathbb{C} \times U \times \mathbb{C}^N \to U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ is a holomorphic map. Using this, we obtain that the ideal sheaf defining E_U (as analytic set) is generated by fibrewise homogeneous functions (see the first step in the proof of Lem. 1 in [Fis67]).

If $E \times_X E$ is irreducible, one can prove in the same way that the primary component E is a linear space. Yet, for an irreducible fibre space $E \to X$, the fibre product of $E \times_X E$ does not need to be reduced (not to mention irreducible; for a counterexample, see Sect. 4 in [Fis66]). Therefore, the restriction of the addition does not need to be holomorphic.

More preliminaries on torsion.

We will use the following observation without referring to it explicitly, again. Let $\psi \colon \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{G}$ be a morphism of analytic sheaves on a (locally irreducible) complex space (X, \mathcal{O}_X) . Then, ψ induces a canonical map

$$\widehat{\psi} \colon \mathscr{F}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{F}) \to \mathscr{G}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{G})$$

because the torsion sheaf $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{F})$ of \mathscr{F} is mapped by ψ into the torsion sheaf $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{G})$ of \mathscr{G} : $r_x\psi(s_x) = \psi(r_xs_x) = 0$ for germs $r_x \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$, $s_x \in \mathscr{T}_x(\mathscr{F})$ with $r_xs_x = 0$. Note that particularly $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{F}) \subset \ker \psi$ if \mathscr{G} is torsion-free. Additionally, if ψ is an epimorphism, then $\widehat{\psi}$ is as well.

Lemma 3.14. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space and let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be coherent analytic sheaves on X such that there exists a morphism $\psi \colon \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{G}$ which is a monomorphism on an open dense subset of X. If \mathscr{F} is torsion-free, then ψ is a monomorphism. If not, ψ induces a monomorphism $\widehat{\psi} \colon \mathscr{F}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{F}) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{G}).$

Proof: The second statement follows from the considerations above and the torsion-free case. Hence, we can assume that \mathscr{F} is torsion-free. Let F and G denote the linear spaces associated to \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} , respectively. Theorem 3.10 implies that PC(F) and PC(G) are locally irreducible. Let ψ be a monomorphism on the open dense subset Wof X with $W \subset X \setminus (Sing \mathscr{F} \cap Sing \mathscr{G})$. Thus, ψ induces a holomorphic fibrewise linear map $\psi^* \colon G \to F$ such that $\psi^*_W \colon G_W \to F_W$ is a surjective map of vector bundles. Let s be a section in $\mathscr{K}_{e^*} \psi$, i.e. $\psi^* \circ s$ vanishes on G. We get that s vanishes on F_W and, hence, on PC(F). Since \mathscr{F} is torsion free, we obtain s = 0 (cf. Remark 3.6).

Alternatively, one can prove this lemma by using only sheaf-theoretical terminology and arguments (cf. the proof of Lemma 4.4).

Remark 3.15. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf over a locally irreducible complex space X. Let $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon X_{\mathscr{S}} \to X$ be the monoidal transformation of X with respect to \mathscr{S} , i. e. $\mathscr{E} := \varphi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. Note that $X_{\mathscr{S}}$ is again locally irreducible. Then, $\varphi^* \mathscr{S}$ has torsion in a point q if and only if \mathscr{S} is not locally free in $\varphi(q)$ (see [Rab79]). We will give a short, alternative proof with the statements from above. Let S, S^* and E denote the linear complex spaces associated to $\mathscr{S}, \varphi^* \mathscr{S}$ and \mathscr{E} , respectively. If \mathscr{S} is not locally free in $\varphi(q)$, then dim $E_q < \dim S_{\varphi(q)}$ (as dim $E_q = \operatorname{rk} E = \dim S_{\widetilde{q}}$ in all points \widetilde{q} where \mathscr{S} is locally free, see § 1.1 in [GR70]). Lemma 3.5 implies dim $S_q^* = \dim S_{\varphi(q)} > \dim E_q$. Since $\operatorname{PC}(S^*) = E$ and E is a vector bundle, we obtain that S^* is reducible in (q, 0), i.e. $\varphi^* \mathscr{S}$ has torsion in q by Lemma 3.12. The other implication of the claim is trivial.

3.4 Corank and Cohen-Macaulay linear spaces

In this section, we introduce the notion of corank of linear spaces and coherent analytic sheaves. It will be helpful to characterize linear spaces and to give a criterion whether the linear space associated to a coherent analytic sheaf is normal.

Def. 3.16. Let X be a complex space and S a linear space over X. For a point $p \in X$, we define the *corank of* S *in* p as the number

$$\operatorname{cork}_p S := \operatorname{rk}_p S - \operatorname{rk} S$$

and $\operatorname{cork} S := \sup_{p \in X} \operatorname{cork}_p S$. For a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} on X, we define the *corank of* \mathscr{S} *in a point* $p \in X$, $\operatorname{cork}_p \mathscr{S}$, as the difference of the minimal number of generators of \mathscr{S}_p and the rank of \mathscr{S} , and the global corank as $\operatorname{cork} \mathscr{S} := \sup_{p \in X} \operatorname{cork}_p \mathscr{S}$. The corank of a linear space coincides with the corank of the associated coherent analytic sheaf (using $S \subset X \times \mathbb{C}^{\operatorname{rk} S}$, see Theorem 3.4) and is upper semi-continuous.

Lemma 3.17. Let X be a complex space and \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, for all $p \in X$, the following is equivalent:

(1) There exists a neighbourhood U of p such that the following sequence is exact:

 $\mathcal{O}_U^{\operatorname{cork}_p\mathscr{S}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathcal{O}_U^{\operatorname{rk}\mathscr{S} + \operatorname{cork}_p\mathscr{S}} \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0.$

(2) The homological dimension of S in p is less or equal 1, i. e. (per definition) there exists a neighbourhood U of p such that

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_U^m \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathcal{O}_U^N \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$$

is exact for suitable m and N.

Proof: For the implication $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$, we just need to show that α is injective: In points where \mathscr{S} is locally free, α is injective (due to the rank/dimension). Hence, $\mathscr{K}_{ee} \alpha$ has support on a proper analytic set in U, i. e. is a torsion sheaf or the zero sheaf. Since \mathcal{O}_U does not contain any torsion sheaf, α is a monomorphism. (Alternatively, one can apply Lemma 3.14.)

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$: By the uniqueness of the minimal resolution (see e.g. Thm. 20.2 in [Eis95]), we can assume that N is equal to the minimal number of generators of \mathscr{S} in p, i.e.

$$N = \operatorname{rk}_p \mathscr{S} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{cork}_p \mathscr{S} + \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S}.$$

The injectivity of α implies $N - m = \operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{O}^N/\alpha(\mathcal{O}^m)) = \operatorname{rk}\mathscr{S}$, i.e.

$$m = N - \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} = \operatorname{cork}_p \mathscr{S}.$$

Lemma 3.17 can be interpreted as follows: If and only if the homological dimension of a coherent analytic sheaf is less or equal 1, then the

minimal number of holomorphic fibrewise linear functions defining the associated linear space is equal to the codimension of the linear space (locally) embedded in the trivial vector bundle, i. e. the linear space is locally some kind of complete intersection. Actually, estimates on the corank of a linear space will be quite useful to show that a linear space is a Cohen-Macaulay space (which is close to complete intersection). Let us recall the definition and crucial properties of Cohen-Macaulay.

Remark 3.18. Let X be a complex space. Then, X is called *Cohen-Macaulay* (or *perfect*) if codh $\mathcal{O}_{X,x} = \dim_x X$ for all $x \in X$, where codh M denotes the homological codimension of a module M (for more details, see e. g. § 11 in [Rem94]). We will use the following facts about Cohen-Macaulay spaces (see e. g. § 5 in [PR94]):

- (i) Every Cohen-Macaulay space is locally pure dimensional.
- (ii) X is Cohen-Macaulay in $p \in X$ if and only if for any (or at least one) non-zero-divisor f in the maximal ideal sheaf \mathfrak{m}_p , $\{f = 0\}$ is Cohen-Macaulay in p.
- (iii) If X is Cohen-Macaulay and A is an analytic subset of X with $\operatorname{codim} A \geq 2$, then $\mathcal{O}(X) \to \mathcal{O}(X \setminus A)$ is bijective.
- (iv) A Cohen-Macaulay space is normal if and only if its singular set is at least 2-codimensional.

The following theorem will be the first example to show how useful the corank estimate is to characterize linear spaces:

Theorem 3.19. Let $S \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ be a linear space over an irreducible Cohen-Macaulay space U of rank r defined by m holomorphic fibrewise linear functions $h_1, ..., h_m \in \mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ (i. e. $(p, h_i(p, z)) \in \text{Hom}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N, U \times \mathbb{C})$) such that N = r + m, i. e. $m \ge \text{cork } S$.

- (1) If codim Sing $S \ge m$, then S is Cohen-Macaulay. If (additionally) U is a complete intersection, then S is a complete intersection, as well.
- (2) If codim Sing $S \ge m+1$, then S is (locally) irreducible.
- (3) If U is normal and codim Sing $S \ge m+2$, then S is normal.

Proof: Since $S = \{h_1 = ... = h_m = 0\}$, we get $\operatorname{codim}_{(p,z)} S \leq m$ for all $(p, z) \in S \subset U_p \times \mathbb{C}_z^N$.

Let $A \subset U$ denote the singular locus of S, i. e. the set where S is not locally free, and let E := PC(S) denote the primary component of S. Then, dim $E = \dim U + r$, i. e. codimE = m. We set $T := (A \times \mathbb{C}^N) \cap S$.

(1) By the assumption and by $T \subset A \times \mathbb{C}^N$,

$$\operatorname{codim} T \ge \operatorname{codim}(A \times \mathbb{C}^N) \ge m.$$

Hence, $\operatorname{codim}_{(p,z)}S=m$ for all $(p,z)\in S$. Since $\mathcal{O}_S=\mathcal{O}_{U\times\mathbb{C}^N}/(h_1,..,h_m)$, we get that S is Cohen-Macaulay (see Remark 3.18 (ii)). Additionally, S is a locally complete intersection if U is a locally complete intersection.

(2) Let us assume that S is not irreducible, i.e. $T \setminus E \neq \emptyset$. For all $(p, z) \in T \setminus E$, there is a neighbourhood V of (p, z) such that $T \cap V = \{h_1 = \dots = h_m = 0\}$, i.e. $\operatorname{codim}_{(p,z)}T \leq m$. We get $\operatorname{codim}_U A \leq \operatorname{codim}_{U \times \mathbb{C}^N}T \leq m$. This proves the second claim.

(3) By the assumption, we obtain $\operatorname{codim} T \ge \operatorname{codim}(A \times \mathbb{C}^N) \ge m+2$. Since U is normal, i. e. $\operatorname{codim}_U U_{\operatorname{sing}} \ge 2$, we get $\operatorname{codim}_{S_{U \setminus A}} E_{U_{\operatorname{sing}} \setminus A} \ge 2$. Since the singular set S_{sing} of S is contained in $T \cup E_{U_{\operatorname{sing}}}$ and $E_A \subset T$, we get that

 $\operatorname{codim}_S S_{\operatorname{sing}} \ge \min\{\operatorname{codim}_T, \operatorname{codim}_S E_{U_{\operatorname{sing}}}\} \ge 2.$

Remark 3.18 (iv) implies that S is normal (by use of (1)).

Using $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ of Lemma 3.17 and Lemma 3.7, we conclude:

Corollary 3.20. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf of homological dimension less or equal than 1 on an irreducible Cohen-Macaulay space X.

- (1) If $\operatorname{cork} \mathscr{S} \leq \operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$, then the linear space $L(\mathscr{S})$ associated to \mathscr{S} is Cohen-Macaulay.
- (2) If $\operatorname{cork} \mathscr{S} + 1 \leq \operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$, then $L(\mathscr{S})$ is irreducible and \mathscr{S} torsion-free.
- (3) If $\operatorname{cork} \mathscr{S} + 2 \leq \operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ and if X is normal, then $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal.

3.5 Linear spaces of small corank

For a linear space to be (locally) irreducible, it is necessary that the associated coherent analytic sheaf is torsion-free (see Lemma 3.7). In the following, we will prove that this is a sufficient criterion under certain additional assumptions, including the proof of Theorem 3.1 at the end of the section.

Lemma 3.21. Let X be a normal or Cohen-Macaulay space and $S \subset X \times \mathbb{C}^N$ be a linear space over X with at least 2-codimensional singular locus in X and defined by one fibrewise linear function $h \in \mathcal{O}(X \times \mathbb{C}^N)$. Then, S is locally irreducible. In particular, the coherent analytic sheaf associated to S is torsion-free.

Proof: Let $A \subset X$ denote the singular locus of S (as linear space) and E denote the primary component of S. Lemma 3.13 implies that E is given by the ideal sheaf $(h, g_1, ..., g_m)$ with g_i holomorphic on $X \times \mathbb{C}^N$ and fibrewise homogeneous (shrink X if necessary). On the regular part $X' := X \setminus A$ of S, we get $S_{X'} = E_{X'}$, i. e. $g_{i,(p,z)} \in (h)_{(p,z)} \forall (p,z) \in X' \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Therefore, $f_i := g_i/h$ is a holomorphic function on $X' \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Since we assumed X to be normal or Cohen-Macaulay and A is of codimension 2 in X, f_i can be extended to a holomorphic function on $X \times \mathbb{C}^N$. We obtain $g_i \in (h)$ and E = S. Now, Lemma 3.7 implies the second statement. □

Note that for the proof of Lemma 3.21, we hardly used the fact that S is given by a principal ideal sheaf. If S is defined by more than two functions while the corank of S is 1, it can happen that $\mathscr{S}=\mathscr{L}(S)$ has torsion elements with support on a 2-codimensional set.

Since the singular locus of a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on a normal complex space is at least 2-codimensional (see Remark 2.8), we get the following corollary:

3 Linear Spaces

Corollary 3.22. Let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on a normal complex space X such that $\mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X^N \to \mathscr{S} \to 0$ is exact (i. e. the homological dimension of \mathscr{S} is at most 1, see Lemma 3.17). Then, the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is locally irreducible.

We call a normal complex space *factorial* if its structure sheaf is factorial (also called unique factorization domain). In this case, hypersurfaces are (locally) given as the zero set of one holomorphic function. The most simple examples for factorial spaces are manifolds.

Theorem 3.23. Let S be a linear space over a factorial complex space X which is locally defined by one holomorphic fibrewise linear function in $X \times \mathbb{C}^{\operatorname{rk} S+1}$ (i. e. the associated ideal sheaf is a principal ideal sheaf). Then, the primary component of S is a linear space.

Proof: Let $S \subset X \times \mathbb{C}^N$ be given by the fibrewise linear $h \in \mathcal{O}(X \times \mathbb{C}^N)$. The primary component E of S is an irreducible hypersurface. Since X (and, hence, $X \times \mathbb{C}^N$) is factorial, the ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_E is generated by one element. By Lemma 3.13, we get that g is fibrewise homogeneous. Moreover, g divides h. Hence, it has to be fibrewise linear. This implies that E is a linear space.

Lemma 3.24. Let X be a factorial complex space and $S \subset X \times \mathbb{C}^N$ a linear space associated to a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X. Then, S can be defined by locally irreducible holomorphic fibrewise linear functions.

Proof: Let the linear space S be defined by fibrewise linear $h_1, ..., h_m \in \mathcal{O}(X \times \mathbb{C}^N)$. Let $S_i := \mathrm{PC}(\{h_i = 0\})$ be defined by the fibrewise linear $g_i \in \mathcal{O}(X \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ (using Theorem 3.23). We will prove $S = \bigcap S_i$, i.e. $(h_i)_{i=1}^m = (g_j)_{j=1}^m$:

Since $g_j|h_j$, we get $(h_i)_{i=1}^m \subset (g_j)_{j=1}^m$. On the other hand, g_j vanishes on S_j . Hence, it vanishes on PC(S), as well. Since the coherent analytic sheaf $\mathscr{L}(S)$ associated to S is torsion-free, we get $g_j = 0$ on S (in the non-reduced sense; see Remark 3.6), i. e. $g_j \in (h_i)_{i=1}^m$. \Box **Theorem 3.25.** Let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf of corank 1 on a factorial complex space X. Then, the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is locally irreducible and, for small enough open $U \subset X$, there exists an exact sequence

 $0 \to \mathcal{O}_U \to \mathcal{O}_U^{\operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} + 1} \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0,$

i. e. the homological dimension of \mathscr{S} is at most 1.

Proof: For small enough open $U \subset X$, Lemma 3.24 implies that the linear space S associated to \mathscr{S}_U can be defined by irreducible fibrewise linear $h_1, \ldots, h_m \in \mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ with $N = \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} + 1$. Yet, the primary component E of S is already an irreducible hypersurface in $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. Hence, E coincides with $S_i = \{h_i = 0\}$ and is a linear space. Lemma 3.12 implies $S = E = S_i$.

We obtain the exact sequence $\mathcal{O}_U \xrightarrow{h_i^*} \mathcal{O}_U^N \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$. Lemma 3.17, (1) \Rightarrow (2) or Lemma 3.14 give the injectivity of h_i^* .

Let us generalize this for sheaves of corank 2:

Theorem 3.26. Let X be a factorial Cohen-Macaulay space and let S be a linear space of corank 2 on X such that Sing S has at least codimension 3 in X and the coherent analytic sheaf $\mathscr{L}(S)$ associated to S is torsion-free. Then, S is locally irreducible.

Proof: The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 3.21. Let $S \subset U \times \mathbb{C}^N$ be defined by the fibrewise linear $h_1, ..., h_m \in \mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ for an open subset $U \subset X$ with $N = 2 + \operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S}$. Because of Lemma 3.24, we can assume that $S_i := \{h_i = 0\}$ is locally irreducible. In particular, S_i is Cohen-Macaulay. Let us assume $h_1, h_2 \neq 0$ and $h_2 \notin (h_1)$. Since h_1 is irreducible, $S_{12} := S_1 \cap S_2$ is a linear space with the same rank as S. We will prove that $S_1 \cap S_2$ coincides with $E := \operatorname{PC}(S)$:

Through Lemma 3.13, E is defined by fibrewise homogeneous holomorphic functions $g_1, ..., g_k$ (in particular, $h_i \in (g_1, ..., g_k)$). Let Adenote the singular locus of S and $U' = U \setminus A$. Since $E \subset S_{12}$ and dim $E_{U'} = \dim S_{12,U'}$, we get $E = S_{12}$ over U'. Hence, we obtain $g_{j,(p,z)} \in (h_1, h_2)_{(p,z)}$ for all $(p, z) \in S_{1,U'}$. This means $\frac{g_j}{h_2}$ is a holomorphic function on $S_{1,U'}$. By assumption,

 $\operatorname{codim}_{S_1}((A \times \mathbb{C}^N) \cap S_1) \ge \operatorname{codim}_{U \times \mathbb{C}^N}(A \times \mathbb{C}^N) - 1 \ge 2.$

Taking into account that S_1 is Cohen-Macaulay, we conclude that $f_j := g_j/h_2$ is holomorphic on S_1 . Since $g_j - f_j \cdot h_2 \in \mathcal{O}(U \times \mathbb{C}^N)$ vanishes on S_1 , we get $g_j \in (h_1, h_2)$, i.e. $E = S_{12}$. Lemma 3.12 implies the claim.

Corollary 3.27. Let X be a factorial Cohen-Macaulay space and \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} of corank 2 on X with at least 3-codimensional singular locus. Then, the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is locally irreducible and, for small enough open $U \subset X$, there exists an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_U^2 \to \mathcal{O}_U^{\operatorname{rk} \mathscr{S} + 2} \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0,$$

i.e. the homological dimension of $\mathscr S$ is at most 1.

Proof: In the proof of Theorem 3.26, we have seen that the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is given by two holomorphic fibrewise linear functions on $U \times \mathbb{C}^{\mathrm{rk} \mathscr{S}+2}$. We get the exact sequence $\mathcal{O}^2 \to \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{rk} \mathscr{S}+2} \to \mathscr{S}$. Lemma 3.17 implies the claim.

The counterexample Remark 3.8 shows that the assumption on the codimension is necessary in Corollary 3.27.

We can now put together the proof of the main result of this section:

Proof of Theorem 3.1: Lemma 3.7 yields the implication $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ and Theorem 3.25 and Corollary 3.27 yield the implication $(1) \Rightarrow (3, 4)$. Using Corollary 3.20 (2, 3), we get the implication $(4) \Rightarrow (3, 5)$. It only remains to show $(3) \Rightarrow (2)$:

Assume that (3) is satisfied, i. e. that $L(\mathscr{S})$ is locally irreducible. But $L(\mathscr{S})$ is connected. So, there can be just one irreducible component, i. e. (2) holds, too.

Chapter 4 Proper Modifications of Coherent Analytic Sheaves

In bimeromorphic geometry, the use of locally free coherent analytic sheaves is limited: The direct image of a locally free sheaf under a proper modification is not locally free any more. Instead, it is reasonable to consider the wider category of torsion-free coherent analytic sheaves. The restriction to torsion-free sheaves makes sense for bimeromorphic considerations as the torsion of a coherent analytic sheaf is supported on analytically thin subsets. To exemplify the use of torsion-free sheaves, just recall that an irreducible reduced compact space X is a Moishezon space if and only if it carries a positive torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} with $\operatorname{supp}(\mathscr{S}) = X$ (see e.g. Thm. 6.14 in [Pet94a]).

The main motivation is as follows: Let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on an irreducible complex space X. Then, H. Rossi showed that there exists a proper modification $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} : Y \to X$ such that the torsion-free preimage $\varphi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free (see Section 2.5 for details). Combining this with a resolution of singularities $\sigma : M \to Y$, which exists due to H. Hironaka, we obtain a resolution of singularities $\pi = \varphi \circ \sigma : M \to X$ such that $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. Thus, it is possible to study coherent analytic sheaves modulo torsion by reducing the problem in order to study vector bundles on manifolds.

In view of this idea, it seems very interesting to study the connection between \mathscr{S} and its torsion-free preimage $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ closer, and we found the following theorem, which to our knowledge has not been covered in the literature, yet: **Theorem 4.1.** Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a complex space X, and let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be torsion-free coherent analytic sheaves on X and Y respectively.

(i) If $\mathscr{F} = \pi_*\mathscr{G}$, then

$$\mathscr{F} \cong \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{F}.$$

(ii) If $\mathscr{G} = \pi^T \mathscr{F}$, then

$$\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{G} \cong \mathscr{G}.$$

To prove this, we will show that the natural maps

$$\mathscr{F} \rightarrow \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{F},$$

 $\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{G} \rightarrow \mathscr{G}$

both are injective (Theorem 4.12 (i) and Lemma 4.4; the proof of Lemma 4.4 presented here is due to M. Toma). We give also counterexamples to show that these injections are not bijective in general (Remark 4.6 and Remark 4.14).

The assumption in Theorem 4.1 (i) can be replaced by a normality assumption on the linear space associated to the sheaf:

Theorem 4.2. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space, \mathscr{S} a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X such that the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} is normal, and $\pi: Y \to X$ a proper modification of X. Then, the canonical homomorphism $\mathscr{S} \to \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{S})$ is bijective, i.e.

$$\mathscr{S} \cong \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

In particular, \mathscr{S} can actually be represented as the direct image of a locally free sheaf. In Chapter 3, we presented some criteria for normality of the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} (see Theorem 3.1 and Corollary 3.20). Additionally, we will see that the assumptions in Theorem 4.2 are necessary to obtain that \mathscr{S} is the direct image of a locally free sheaf on a normal space (see Remark 4.20). For this, we show that a locally free sheaf on a non-normal complex space X can not be the direct image of a sheaf on a normal modification of X (cf. Theorem 4.21). In particular, the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf \mathscr{K}_X can not be locally free on a non-normal space X. Furthermore, we obtain the following two results for specific proper modifications: First, we show that the torsion-free preimage of the direct image of an arbitrary torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} with respect to a 1:1 modification is canonically isomorphic to \mathscr{F} (see Theorem 4.9). Second, we prove that the direct image of the torsionfree preimage of a suitable sheaf \mathscr{S} of rank 1 under the monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{S} is canonically isomorphic to \mathscr{S} (see Theorem 4.17).

Let us consider two applications of Theorem 4.1. First, let X be a locally irreducible complex space of pure dimension n, and \mathscr{K}_X the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf on X (as introduced in Section 2.4). Then, there exists a resolution of singularities $\pi: M \to X$ (with only normal crossings) such that $\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X$ is locally free, and so there is an effective divisor D with support on the exceptional set of the modification such that

$$\mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{K}_X = \pi_* \Omega^n_M (-D) = \pi_* \big(\Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}(-D) \big)$$
(4.3)

(see Theorem 4.24). Let us explain briefly the meaning of (4.3). By definition of the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf, we know already that $\mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_* \Omega^n_M$. (4.3) tells us that we can as well consider the push-forward of holomorphic *n*-forms which vanish to the order of D on the exceptional set. This is an important detail, particularly if π is explicitly given so that D can be calculated explicitly. An example: If X is already a manifold (i. e. $\mathscr{K}_X = \Omega^n_X$) and $\pi: M \to X$ is the blow-up along a submanifold of codimension s in X with exceptional set E, then (see e.g. Prop. VII.12.7 in [Dem12]):

$$\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X = \pi^* \mathscr{K}_X = \Omega^n_M \big(- (s-1)E \big),$$

and so

$$\Omega_X^n = \mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_* \Omega_M^n \big(- (s-1)E \big).$$

Considerations of this kind are particularly important in the study of canonical sheaves on singular complex spaces (see [Rup14a]). We will also set up the relation (4.3) for holomorphic *n*-forms with values in locally free coherent analytic sheaves (see Theorem 4.28).

4 Proper Modifications of Sheaves

Second, we will study reduced ideal sheaves in Section 9.1. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a locally irreducible complex space $X, A \subset X$ an analytic subset with (reduced) ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_A , and $B := \pi^{-1}(A)$ the reduced analytic preimage with (reduced) ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_B . Then, $\pi^T \mathscr{J}_A = \mathscr{J}_B$ (cf. Lemma 9.2), and Theorem 4.1 yields that $\mathscr{J}_B \cong \pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{J}_B$.

If we assume moreover that X is normal and that A is either a locally complete intersection or a normal analytic set and that $\sigma: Y \to X$ is the monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{J}_A , then $\mathscr{J}_B = \sigma^T \mathscr{J}_A$ (is locally free) and we have (see Lemma 9.5):

$$\mathscr{J}_A \cong \sigma_* \mathscr{J}_B \cong \sigma_* \sigma^T \mathscr{J}_A$$

Using Theorem 4.2, we are able to generalize Takegoshi's relative version [Tak85] of the Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing theorem in several directions. This is elaborated in Chapter 8 (cf. [Ser15]).

This chapter is organized as follows. We study torsion-free analytic preimages of direct image sheaves in Section 4.1 and direct images of (torsion-free) analytic preimage sheaves (including the proof of Theorem 4.2) in Section 4.2. In Section 4.3, we show that the analytic inverse image functor preserves monomorphisms and epimorphisms and use this fact in combination with the previous considerations to prove Theorem 4.1. Section 4.4 contains the first application described above. We complement the chapter by analogous considerations on the non-analytic inverse image functor in Section 4.5. The presented results of this chapter and their proofs can be found in [RS13] and [Ser15, Sect. 4], as well.

4.1 Torsion-free preimages of direct image sheaves

In this section, we study the torsion-free preimage of direct image sheaves under proper modifications.

Lemma 4.4. Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a proper modification between complex spaces Y, X, and \mathscr{E} a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on Y. Then, the canonical homomorphism $\pi^*\pi_*\mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ induces a canonical injection

$$\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{E} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{E}, \tag{4.5}$$

where $\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{E} = \pi^* \pi_* \mathscr{E} / \mathscr{T}(\pi^* \pi_* \mathscr{E})$ is the torsion-free preimage of $\pi_* \mathscr{E}$.

The following proof was communicated to us by Matei Toma. Alternatively, Lemma 4.4 follows also from Lemma 3.14.

Proof: Let \mathscr{T} denote the torsion sheaf of $\pi^*\pi_*\mathscr{E}$, and let $\psi: \pi^*\pi_*\mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ denote the natural map. Since \mathscr{E} is torsion-free, $\psi(\mathscr{T}) = 0$ and, hence, ψ factors through $\widehat{\psi}: \pi^T\pi_*\mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$. Since ψ is an isomorphism outside of a thin analytic set $A \subset X$, an element in the kernel of ψ has support in A. Therefore, the kernel is a subset of \mathscr{T} , i.e. $\widehat{\psi}$ is injective. \Box

Remark 4.6. Let us give a counterexample showing that (4.5) is in general not an isomorphism. Consider a modification $\pi : M \to \mathbb{C}^n$ where M is a complex manifold with canonical sheaves Ω_M^n and $\Omega_{\mathbb{C}^n}^n \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^n}$. Then, $\pi_*\Omega_M^n = \Omega_{\mathbb{C}^n}^n \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ so that $\pi^T\pi_*\Omega_M^n \cong \pi^T\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^n} \cong \mathcal{O}_M$. But, $\mathcal{O}_M \neq \Omega_M^n$ in general.

However, we can be a bit more precise in Lemma 4.4 by use of the following observation if \mathscr{E} is locally free of rank 1:

Lemma 4.7. Let X be a complex space and $i : \mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}$ an injective morphism between two coherent locally free sheaves of rank 1 over X. Then, there exists an effective Cartier divisor, $D \ge 0$, such that

$$i(\mathscr{F}) = \mathscr{G} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-D).$$

In particular, i is an isomorphism precisely on $X \setminus |D|$.

Proof: Let $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$ be a locally finite open cover of X such that both, \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} , are free over each X_{α} . So, there are trivializations

$$\begin{array}{rcccc} \phi_{\alpha} \colon \mathscr{F}_{X_{\alpha}} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}, \\ \\ \psi_{\alpha} \colon \mathscr{G}_{X_{\alpha}} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}, \end{array}$$

and, for $X_{\alpha\beta} := X_{\alpha} \cap X_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$, we have transition functions $F_{\beta\alpha} := \phi_{\beta} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{-1} \in \mathcal{O}^*(X_{\alpha\beta})$ and $G_{\beta\alpha} := \psi_{\beta} \circ \psi_{\alpha}^{-1} \in \mathcal{O}^*(X_{\alpha\beta})$ satisfying the cocycle conditions. In trivializations,

$$\psi_{\alpha} \circ i|_{X_{\alpha}} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{-1} \colon \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}} \to \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}$$

is given by a holomorphic function $i_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}(X_{\alpha})$, vanishing nowhere identically with (unreduced) divisor (i_{α}) . On $X_{\alpha\beta}$, we get

 $G_{\beta\alpha} \cdot i_{\alpha} = \psi_{\beta} \circ \psi_{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \psi_{\alpha} \circ i|_{\alpha\beta} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{-1} = \psi_{\beta} \circ i|_{\alpha\beta} \circ \phi_{\beta}^{-1} \circ \phi_{\beta} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{-1} = i_{\beta} \cdot F_{\beta\alpha}$ so that $i_{\alpha}/i_{\beta} = F_{\beta\alpha}/G_{\beta\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}^{*}(X_{\alpha\beta})$. Thus, $D := \{(X_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha}$ defines in fact an effective Cartier divisor with support |D|.

To see that $i(\mathscr{F}) = \mathscr{G} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-D)$, note that $\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-D)$ is a coherent subsheaf of \mathscr{G} because $\mathcal{O}_X(-D)$ is a sheaf of ideals in \mathcal{O}_X , and that

$$\psi_{\alpha} \otimes 1 \colon \mathscr{G} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-D)|_{X_{\alpha}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}(-(i_{\alpha})).$$

So, we can deduce the following direct consequence of Lemma 4.4: **Theorem 4.8.** Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of X, \mathscr{E} a locally free analytic sheaf of rank 1 on Y and assume that $\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{E}$ is also locally free. Then, there exists an effective Cartier divisor D on Y such that the following holds: The canonical homomorphism $\pi^* \pi_* \mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ induces a canonical injection

$$i\colon \pi^T\pi_*\mathscr{E} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{E}$$

and

$$i(\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{E}) = \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(-D).$$

In particular, i is an isomorphism precisely on Y - |D|, and |D| is contained in the exceptional set of π .

For the torsion-free inverse image of the direct image sheaf under a 1:1 modification, we obtain:

Theorem 4.9. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space, let $\psi: \hat{X} \to X$ be the normalization of X, and let \mathscr{F} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on \hat{X} . Then, the canonical morphism $\psi^*\psi_*\mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\psi^T \psi_* \mathscr{F} \cong \mathscr{F}.$$

Proof: Since the 1-sheeted covering ψ is a homeomorphism (X is locally irreducible), we get for all $q \in \widehat{X}$:

$$\mathscr{F}_q = (\psi_*\mathscr{F})_{\psi(q)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\psi^{-1}\psi_*\mathscr{F})_q.$$

By the definition of the (analytic) inverse image sheaf, we obtain

$$\psi^*\psi_*\mathscr{F} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \psi^{-1}\psi_*\mathscr{F} \otimes_{\psi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}} = \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\psi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}.$$

Yet, the injective map $\psi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}$ gives us the surjectivity of the canonical morphism:

$$\psi^*\psi_*\mathscr{F} = \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\psi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}} \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}} = \mathscr{F}, s \otimes r \mapsto r \cdot s.$$

With Lemma 4.4, we also have

$$\psi^T \psi_* \mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}, s \otimes r + \mathscr{T}(\psi^* \psi_* \mathscr{F}) \mapsto r \cdot s.$$

4.2 Direct image sheaves of torsion-free preimage sheaves

In this section, we study the direct image of the torsion-free preimage sheaf under a proper modification. In particular, we will prove Theorem 4.2 (see Theorem 4.12 (iii)). Furthermore, we obtain more results for sheaves of rank one. Let us first recall the elementary projection formula (cf. e. g. Ex. II.5.1 in [Har77]).

Theorem 4.10 (Projection Formula). Let $f: Y \to X$ be a holomorphic map between complex spaces, let \mathscr{E} be a locally free sheaf on X, and let \mathscr{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on Y. Then,

$$\mathscr{E} \otimes f_*\mathscr{F} \cong f_*\left(f^*\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{F}\right). \tag{4.11}$$

4 Proper Modifications of Sheaves

Proof: Let r denote the rank of \mathscr{E} . Since the direct product is invariant under the direct image, we conclude

$$\mathcal{O}_{U}^{\oplus r} \otimes f_{*}\mathscr{F} \cong (f_{*}\mathscr{F})^{\oplus r} \cong f_{*}(\mathscr{F}^{\oplus r}) \cong f_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{f^{-1}(U)}^{\oplus r} \otimes \mathscr{F})$$
$$\cong f_{*}(f^{*}(\mathcal{O}_{U}^{\oplus r}) \otimes \mathscr{F})$$

for all $U \subset X$. Let α_U denote the map from left to right. Since all used isomorphisms are natural, α itself is natural.

Choose an open covering $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$ of X such that there exist trivializations $\phi_{\alpha} \colon \mathscr{E}_{X_{\alpha}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}^{r}$ of \mathscr{E} over X_{α} . Let $F_{\beta\alpha} := \phi_{\beta} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{-1}$ denote the transition function on $X_{\alpha\beta} := X_{\alpha} \cap X_{\beta}$. The linear space L_{1} associated to $\mathscr{E} \otimes f_{*}\mathscr{F}$ is given by $L(\mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}^{\oplus r} \otimes f_{*}\mathscr{F})$ glued together via $L(F_{\beta\alpha} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{f_{*}\mathscr{F}})$. Also, $L_{2} := L(f_{*}(f^{*}(\mathscr{E}) \otimes \mathscr{F}))$ is given by $L(f_{*}(f^{*}(\mathcal{O}_{X_{\alpha}}^{\oplus r}) \otimes \mathscr{F}))$ glued together via $L(f_{*}(f^{*}(F_{\beta\alpha}) \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{F}}))$. Since $\alpha_{X_{\beta\alpha}}$ is natural, we get $\alpha_{X_{\beta\alpha}} \circ (F_{\beta\alpha} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{f_{*}\mathscr{F}}) = (f_{*}(f^{*}(F_{\beta\alpha}) \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{F}})) \circ \alpha_{X_{\beta\alpha}}$. Hence, L_{1} and L_{2} are obtained by isomorphic gluing data, i.e. $L_{1} \cong L_{2}$.

Theorem 4.12. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space, \mathscr{S} a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X and $\pi: Y \to X$ a proper modification of X.

- (i) Then, the canonical homomorphisms $\mathscr{S} \to \pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{S})$ and $\mathscr{S} \to \pi_*(\pi^T\mathscr{S})$ both are injective.
- (ii) If the linear space $L(\mathscr{S})$ associated to \mathscr{S} is irreducible and $L(\pi^*\mathscr{S})$ is reduced, then $\pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{S}) \to \pi_*(\pi^T\mathscr{S})$ is injective.
- (iii) If the linear space $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal, then

$$\mathscr{S} \cong \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

Proof: We can assume that X is connected. Let S denote the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} , $A \subset Y$ the set where π is not biholomorphic and A^c the complement. $S^* = Y \times_X S$ is the linear space associated to $\mathscr{S}^* := \pi^* \mathscr{S}$. Let $\mathrm{pr} \colon S^* \to S$ denote the projection, let E be the linear space associated to $\mathscr{E} := \pi^T \mathscr{S}$, let U be an open Stein set in X, and let $V := \pi^{-1}(U)$. The construction of the linear spaces implies

$$\operatorname{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{S}(U),$$

$$\operatorname{Hom}(S_V^*, V \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \pi^* \mathscr{S}(V) = (\pi_*(\pi^* \mathscr{S}))(U) \text{ and}$$

$$\operatorname{Hom}(E_V, V \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{E}(V) = (\pi_* \mathscr{E})(U).$$

Let N be an integer big enough so that S_U can be realized as a subset of $U \times \mathbb{C}^N$. We obtain closed embeddings $E_V \subset S_V^* \subset V \times \mathbb{C}^N$, and (q, z)is in S_V^* if and only if $(\pi(q), z) \in S$. Since obviously $\operatorname{pr}(E_{A^c}) = S_{\pi(A^c)}$ and proper holomorphic images of irreducible sets are irreducible (using Theorem 2.12), we obtain (cf. (3.11))

$$\operatorname{pr}(\operatorname{PC}(E_V)) = \operatorname{PC}(S_U), \tag{4.13}$$

where PC denotes the primary component of a linear space (see Section 3.3).

(i) $\mathscr{S} \hookrightarrow \pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{S})$ and $\mathscr{S} \hookrightarrow \pi_*(\pi^T\mathscr{S})$ follows from Lemma 3.14.

(ii) Assume S is irreducible and S^* is reduced. To prove that the natural map given by the restriction $\operatorname{Hom}(S_V^*, V \times \mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(E_V, V \times \mathbb{C})$ is injective, we use $\operatorname{pr}(\operatorname{PC}(E_V)) = S_U$ (using (4.13) and that S is irreducible):

Let $s \in \text{Hom}(S_V^*, V \times \mathbb{C})$ with $s|_E = 0$, i. e. $s|_{\text{PC}(E)} = 0$. Since S is irreducible, it is reduced, as well. Let $s(q, z) = (q, f(q, z)) \in$ Hom $(S_V^*, V \times \mathbb{C})$ be not the zero section, i. e. there is a point $(q', z_0) \in S^*$ with $f(q', z_0) \neq 0$ (S^* is reduced). There is a $q'' \in \pi^{-1}(\pi(q'))$ such that $(q'', z_0) \in E$. Since $\pi^{-1}(\pi(q')) \times \{z_0\}$ is a compact analytic set in S_V^* , we get $f(q', z_0) = f(q'', z_0)$, i. e. $f|_E \neq 0$ and $s|_E \neq 0$.

(iii) Assume that S is normal. In particular, S is irreducible. Fix a section $s(q, z) = (q, f(q, z)) \in \operatorname{Hom}(E_V, V \times \mathbb{C})$. Since pr: $\operatorname{PC}(E_V) \to$ $\operatorname{PC}(S_U) = S_U$ is a proper modification (surjectivity is (4.13) and S_U is irreducible), the map $\tilde{f} := f \circ \operatorname{pr}^{-1} \colon S_U \to \mathbb{C}$ is a bounded meromorphic function, i.e. it is weakly holomorphic. Since S_U is normal, \tilde{f} is holomorphic. Obviously, it is linear in the second argument. Hence, pr^{-1} gives a map $(\operatorname{pr}^{-1})^* \colon \operatorname{Hom}(E_V, V \times \mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C}), s \mapsto \tilde{s}$ with $\tilde{s}(p, z) = (p, \tilde{f}(p, z))$. Since $f \circ \operatorname{pr}^{-1} = \tilde{f} = 0$ implies f = 0, this map is injective. It is now easy to see that $(\mathrm{pr}^{-1})^* \colon \pi_*\pi^T \mathscr{S} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{S}$ is the inverse to the natural mapping $\mathscr{S} \hookrightarrow \pi_*\pi^T \mathscr{S}$.

Remark 4.14. Without the additional assumption about normality, the natural map $\mathscr{S} \hookrightarrow \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is not necessarily bijective. The following counterexample is derived from one due to Mircea Mustață.

Let $\mathscr{S} = (x^3, y^3)$ be the ideal sheaf on $\mathbb{C}^2_{x,y}$, generated by the functions x^3 and y^3 , and let $\pi \colon M \to \mathbb{C}^2$ be the blow up of the origin, i.e.

$$M = \{(x, y; [t_1:t_2]) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{CP}^1 \colon xt_2 = yt_1\}$$

 ${\mathscr S}$ has the following sequence as resolution:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{O} & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{O}^2 & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{S} & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ & & & (f_1, f_2) \longmapsto x^3 f_1 + y^3 f_2 \\ & & g \longmapsto (y^3 g, -x^3 g) \end{array}$$

Hence,

$$S = L(\mathscr{S}) = \{ (x, y; z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{C}^2 \colon z_2 x^3 = z_1 y^3 \}$$

and sections in \mathscr{S} correspond to sections in $\operatorname{Hom}(S, \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{C})$ via the assignment $x^3 \mapsto [(x, y; z_1, z_2) \mapsto z_1], y^3 \mapsto [(x, y; z_1, z_2) \mapsto z_2]$. Now,

$$S^* = L(\pi^*\mathscr{S}) = \{ (x, y; [t_1 : t_2]; z_1, z_2) \in M \times \mathbb{C}^2 \colon z_2 x^3 = z_1 y^3 \}, E = L(\pi^T \mathscr{S}) = \{ (x, y; [t_1 : t_2]; z_1, z_2) \in M \times \mathbb{C}^2 \colon z_2 t_1^3 = z_1 t_2^3 \}.$$

Thus, $S^* = E \cup T$ with

$$T = \{(x, y; [t_2: t_2]; z_1, z_2) \in M \times \mathbb{C}^2 \colon x = y = 0\} = 0 \times \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{C}^2.$$

Hom $(F, M \times \mathbb{C})$ we have now also the section

In Hom $(E, M \times \mathbb{C})$, we have now also the section

$$\left\{ \left(\frac{t_2}{t_1} z_1 \colon t_1 \neq 0 \right); \left(\frac{t_1^2}{t_2^2} z_2 \colon t_2 \neq 0 \right) \right\},\$$

corresponding to x^2y in $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$, and the section

$$\left\{ \left(\frac{t_2^2}{t_1^2} z_1 : t_1 \neq 0 \right); \left(\frac{t_1}{t_2} z_2 : t_2 \neq 0 \right) \right\},\$$

corresponding to xy^2 , but these two do not extend to $S^* = E \cup T$ because there is no relation between z_1 and z_2 on T. In Hom $(S^*, M \times \mathbb{C})$, however, we have the section

$$\left\{ (y_{\frac{t_2}{t_1}} z_1 \colon t_1 \neq 0); (y_{\frac{t_1^2}{t_2^2}} z_2 \colon t_2 \neq 0) \right\},\$$

corresponding to x^2y^2 in $\pi^*\mathscr{S}$. Moreover, it is easy to verify that x, x^2 , y, y^2 and xy are neither contained in $\pi_*\pi^*\mathscr{S}$ nor in $\pi_*\pi^T\mathscr{S}$. Hence, we have:

$$\mathscr{S} \subsetneq (x^3, x^2y^2, y^3) = \pi_*\pi^*\mathscr{S} \subsetneq (x^3, x^2y, xy^2, y^3) = \pi_*\pi^T\mathscr{S}.$$

Remark 4.15. Let us present a counterexample for (ii) in Theorem 4.12 if S is not irreducible:

Let $X = \{x^3 = y^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ be the cusp, $\pi \colon \mathbb{C} \to X$, $\pi(t) := (t^2, t^3)$ the normalization and let $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ denote the sheaf of weakly holomorphic functions on X. Then, one can compute that $\pi_*\pi^*\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ has torsion elements with support in 0. Yet, $\pi_*\pi^T\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X = \pi_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}} = \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ is torsion-free. Hence, there can not exist an injective morphism $\pi_*\pi^*\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X \to \pi_*\pi^T\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$.

Remark 4.16. In order to get the isomorphism $\mathscr{S} = \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{S}$ for all proper modifications, the normality of the linear space of \mathscr{S} is a natural assumption. For example, if \mathscr{E} is locally free, we obtain $\pi_*\pi^*\mathscr{E} \cong \mathscr{E}$ if and only if $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_X$. Yet, this is only satisfied for all proper modifications if it is satisfied for the normalization, i. e. this is equivalent to X being normal.

Additionally, the normality assumption is required for the following purpose (see Remark 4.20): If $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon Y \to X$ is the monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{S} , then Y does not have to be normal (under some additional assumptions this is equivalent to $L(\mathscr{S})$ being normal, see Remark 4.19). The question is now, does there exist a (locally free) sheaf on the normalization of Y such that its direct image is $\varphi^T(\mathscr{S})$. Under the same assumptions as in Remark 4.19, we will see that this is equivalent to Y being normal. This means that the normality assumption on $L(\mathscr{S})$ is necessary to obtain $\mathscr{S} \cong \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{S}$ for normal Y and locally free $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$.

If we choose the monoidal transformation for the proper modification (see Section 2.5), we get an alternative result to Theorem 4.12 (iii), where the normality assumption can be replaced to show that the composition of the direct image and preimage functor is an isomorphism (cf. Sect. 4 in [Ser15]).

Theorem 4.17. Let X be an irreducible Cohen-Macaulay space, and let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf of rank 1 on X such that, for each $p \in X$, there exist a neighbourhood U and a free resolution $\mathcal{O}_U^m \to \mathcal{O}_U^{m+1} \to \mathscr{S}_U \to 0$ (i. e. the homological dimension of \mathscr{S} is at most 1, see Lemma 3.17) and the singular locus of \mathscr{S} is at least (m+1)-codimensional, or such that (more weakly) the linear space $L(\mathscr{S})$ associated to \mathscr{S} is Cohen-Macaulay and irreducible. Let $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon Y \to$ X denote the monoidal transformation of X with respect to \mathscr{S} . Then, the canonical morphism $\mathscr{S} \to \varphi_* \varphi^* \mathscr{S}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{S} \xrightarrow{\sim} \varphi_* \varphi^T \mathscr{S}.$$

For $m \leq 2$, the assumption on the free resolution of \mathscr{S}_U in Theorem 4.17 is always satisfied if X is factorial and Cohen-Macaulay and if \mathscr{S} is torsion-free with cork $\mathscr{S} \leq m$ (see Theorem 3.1).

Proof: Let S denote the linear space associated to \mathscr{S} . With Theorem 3.19 or by the assumption, we get that S is Cohen-Macaulay and irreducible (in particular, \mathscr{S} is torsion-free, see Lemma 3.7). Let $E := L(\varphi^T \mathscr{S}) \subset \varphi^* S = L(\varphi^* \mathscr{S})$ denote the linear space associated to the torsion-free preimage of \mathscr{S} and pr: $E \to S$ be the restriction of the projection of the fibre product $Y \times_X S = \varphi^* S$ to S. Then, E is irreducible and the proper mapping theorem implies $\operatorname{pr}(E) = S$, i. e. pr is a proper modification of S.

The biholomorphism between $\mathbb{C}^{m+1}\setminus 0$ and the universal line bundle without zero section $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^m}(1)\setminus(\mathbb{CP}^m\times 0)$ defined by $z\mapsto([z],z)$ induces a biholomorphic map from $S_p\setminus 0 \xrightarrow{\sim} E_{\varphi^{-1}(p)}\setminus(\varphi^{-1}(p)\times 0)$ for each $p\in X$, which is the inverse map of

$$\operatorname{pr} \colon E \setminus (Y \times 0) \to S \setminus (X \times 0)$$

(in this respect, recall the construction of $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}}$ in [Rie71, §2]).

Let A denote the singular locus of \mathscr{S} , i.e. the set where \mathscr{S} is not locally free (and S is not a line bundle), and set $B := \varphi^{-1}(A)$. Since

 φ is biholomorphic outside of B, pr = $(\varphi, \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}^{m+1}})|_E$ is already a biholomorphic map on the complement of B and A:

$$\operatorname{pr} \colon E \setminus (B \times 0) \xrightarrow{\sim} S \setminus (A \times 0). \tag{4.18}$$

Since $A \times 0$ is at least of codimension 2 in S and S is Cohen-Macaulay, every holomorphic function on $S \setminus (A \times 0)$ extends to S (see Cor. 5.9 in [PR94]). Hence, for all open sets $U \subset X$, we get

$$(\varphi_*\varphi^T\mathscr{S})(U) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\varphi^T\mathscr{S})(\varphi^{-1}(U)) \cong \text{Hom}(E_{\varphi^{-1}(U)}, \varphi^{-1}(U) \times \mathbb{C})$$
$$\cong \text{Hom}(S_U, U \times \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{S}(U),$$

where the second and the last isomorphism are given by the construction of the linear spaces associated to $\varphi^T \mathscr{S}$ and \mathscr{S} , resp.

The following two remarks show that the assumption on normality is just implicit:

Remark 4.19. For the irreducible Cohen-Macaulay space S of rank 1, we get that S is normal if and only if $S \setminus (A \times 0)$ is normal (recall that a Cohen-Macaulay space is normal if and only if its singular locus is at least of codimension 2). Since $E \setminus (B \times 0) \xrightarrow{\sim} S \setminus (A \times 0)$ (4.18), and since E is a vector bundle, this is furthermore equivalent to Y being normal.

Remark 4.20. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf of rank 1 on a complex manifold M such that the linear space $S = L(\mathscr{S})$ is Cohen-Macaulay and irreducible, but *not normal*, and let $\varphi : Y \to M$ be the monoidal transformation of M with respect to \mathscr{S} . We obtain with Theorem 4.17:

 $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_M \cong \varphi_*(\varphi^T \mathscr{S} \otimes \varphi^* \mathscr{K}_M).$

The sheaf $\mathscr{E} := \varphi^T \mathscr{S} \otimes \varphi^* \mathscr{K}_M$ is locally free. For our purpose of generalizing Takegoshi's vanishing theorem (in Chapter 8), we need a proper modification $\pi: Z \to Y$ and a locally free sheaf $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ with $\mathscr{E} \cong \pi_*(\widetilde{\mathscr{E}} \otimes \mathscr{K}_Z)$. With the projection formula for locally free sheaves and a normalization, we can assume that Z is normal. Hence, we can apply the following theorem, which maintains a contradiction to the

assumption that S and, hence, Y are not normal (see Remark 4.19). This means that the assumption on normality of $L(\mathscr{S})$ is necessary for a generalization of Takegoshi's vanishing theorem by use of a monoidal transformation.

Theorem 4.21. If \mathscr{E} is a locally free sheaf with positive rank on a locally irreducible complex space Y such that there exist a proper modification $\pi: Z \to Y$ with normal Z and a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} with $\pi_*\mathscr{F} \cong \mathscr{E}$, then Y is normal.

Proof: Let $\psi: \widehat{Y} \to Y$ be a normalization of Y. Since Z is normal, π factorizes over the normalization, i. e. $\exists \widehat{\pi}: Z \to \widehat{Y}$ with $\pi = \psi \circ \widehat{\pi}$ (see e. g. Sect. 8.4.3 in [GR84]). Therefore, $\mathscr{E} \cong \psi_* \widehat{\pi}_* \mathscr{F}$. For $\widehat{\mathscr{F}} := \widehat{\pi}_* \mathscr{F}$, Theorem 4.9 implies

$$\mathscr{E} \cong \psi_* \widehat{\mathscr{F}} \cong \psi_* \psi^T \psi_* \widehat{\mathscr{F}} \cong \psi_* \psi^T \mathscr{E}$$
$$= \psi_* (\psi^* \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{Y}}) \stackrel{(4.11)}{\cong} \mathscr{E} \otimes \psi_* \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{Y}} \cong \mathscr{E} \otimes \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_Y .$$

Since \mathscr{E} is locally free of positive rank, we obtain $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_Y$, i.e. Y is normal.

We deduce immediately:

Corollary 4.22. The Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf on a non-normal locally irreducible complex space is not locally free.

4.3 Proof of Theorem 4.1

In preparation, we make the following observation:

Lemma 4.23. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a complex space X such that Y is locally irreducible. Let

$$\psi\colon\mathscr{F}\to\mathscr{G}$$

be a morphism of coherent analytic sheaves. If ψ is an epimorphism, then the induced mapping

$$\pi^T \psi \colon \pi^T \mathscr{F} \to \pi^T \mathscr{G}$$

is also an epimorphism. If ψ is a monomorphism, then π^T is also a monomorphism.

Note that π^T is not exact. A simple counterexample is the following. Let \mathfrak{m}_0 be the maximal ideal sheaf of the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 . Then,

$$0 \to \mathfrak{m}_0 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2}/\mathfrak{m}_0 \to 0$$

is exact. Let π be just the identity on \mathbb{C}^2 . So, we have $\pi^T \mathfrak{m}_0 = \mathfrak{m}_0$, $\pi^T \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ and $\pi^T \big(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2}/\mathfrak{m}_0 \big) = 0$. The resulting sequence $0 \to \mathfrak{m}_0 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \to 0$ is clearly not exact.

Proof: Let ψ be an epimorphism, i.e. surjective. Recall that π^* is right-exact. So, $\pi^*\psi \colon \pi^*\mathscr{F} \to \pi^*\mathscr{G}$ is still surjective. But then, it is easy to see that the induced mapping $\pi^T\psi \colon \pi^T\mathscr{F} \to \pi^T\mathscr{G}$ is also surjective.

To prove the second statement in the lemma, let ψ be injective. Let $f_x \in (\pi^T \mathscr{F})_x$ such that $\pi^T \psi(f_x) = 0$. This means that there is an open set $U \subset Y$ and a representative $f \in \pi^T \mathscr{F}(U)$ such that $\pi^T \psi(f) = 0$. But, $\pi^T \psi$ is injective on a dense open subset $W \subset X$. Thus, f = 0 on $U \cap W$, i. e. f has support on a thin set. Since $\pi^T \mathscr{F}$ is torsion-free, we get $f_x = 0$ and f = 0.

4 Proper Modifications of Sheaves

Proof of Theorem 4.1: Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a proper modification between locally irreducible complex spaces. Let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be coherent analytic sheaves on X and Y, respectively.

(i) The case $\mathscr{F} = \pi_*\mathscr{G}$: By Theorem 4.12 (i), the natural map $\mathscr{F} \to \pi_*\pi^T\mathscr{F}$ is injective. Moreover, Lemma 4.4 yields injectivity of the natural map

$$\pi^T \mathscr{F} = \pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{G}$$

Since π_* is left-exact, we obtain the second natural injection

$$\pi_*\pi^T\mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \pi_*\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{F}$$

(ii) The case $\mathscr{G} = \pi^T \mathscr{F}$: As above, Lemma 4.4 gives $\pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{G} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}$. By Theorem 4.12 (i) we have also the natural injection

$$\mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \pi_* \pi^T \mathscr{F} = \pi_* \mathscr{G}.$$

But, π^T preserves injectivity (Lemma 4.23) so that we obtain the injection

$$\mathscr{G} = \pi^T \mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{G}.$$

4.4 Holomorphic *n*-forms on singular spaces

As a consequence of Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.8, we have the following application to holomorphic n-forms:

Theorem 4.24. Let X be a complex space of pure dimension n and \mathscr{K}_X the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf on X. Then, there exist a resolution of singularities $\pi : M \to X$ and an effective divisor, $D \ge 0$, with support on the exceptional set of the resolution such that

$$\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X \cong \Omega^n_M(-D) = \Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}_M(-D), \qquad (4.25)$$

where Ω_M^n is the canonical sheaf of holomorphic n-forms on M, and (4.25) is induced by the natural mapping $\pi^* \mathscr{K}_X = \pi^* \pi_* \Omega_M^n \to \Omega_M^n$. Moreover, we get

$$\pi_*\Omega^n_M = \mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_*\Omega^n_M(-D).$$

Proof: Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that $\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X$ is locally free. Such a resolution exists due to H. Rossi and H. Hironaka (apply first Rossi's Theorem 2.19 and, then, Hironaka's resolution of singularities). Recall that $\mathscr{K}_X = \pi_* \Omega^n_M$ by definition of the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf. So, the assertion follows directly from Theorem 4.8 and Theorem 4.1.

The following observation is also useful:

Lemma 4.26. Let \mathscr{F} , \mathscr{G} be torsion-free coherent analytic sheaves on a locally irreducible complex space X, and let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a proper modification of X such that $\pi^T \mathscr{G}$ is locally free. Then,

$$\pi^T \big(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G} \big) = \pi^T \mathscr{F} \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{G}$$

and there is a natural injection

$$\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G} \hookrightarrow \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{F} \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{G}).$$

Proof: Note that Y is also locally irreducible. Consider the two natural surjections $\pi^* \mathscr{F} \to \pi^T \mathscr{F}$ and $\pi^* \mathscr{G} \to \pi^T \mathscr{G}$. These yield a natural surjection

$$\pi^*(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{G})=\pi^*\mathscr{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathscr{G}\longrightarrow\pi^T\mathscr{F}\otimes\pi^T\mathscr{G},$$

which is an isomorphism on an open dense subset of Y. Since the tensor product of a torsion-free and a locally free sheaf is torsion-free (this is not the case if both are not locally free, see Remark 2.9), we obtain by use of Lemma 3.14 a natural isomorphism

$$\pi^{T}(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{G}) = \frac{\pi^{*}(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{G})}{\mathscr{T}(\pi^{*}(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{G}))} \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi^{T}\mathscr{F}\otimes\pi^{T}\mathscr{G}.$$
(4.27)

The second statement follows by taking the direct image of (4.27) under π and Theorem 4.12 (i).

Using this lemma and the projection formula (see Theorem 4.10), we obtain with an analogue proof the following variant of Theorem 4.24.

Theorem 4.28. Let X be a complex space of pure dimension n, \mathscr{F} be a torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X and $\pi : M \to X$ be a

resolution of singularities such that $\pi^T(\mathscr{K}_X)$ is locally free. Then, there exists an effective divisor, $D \ge 0$, with support on the exceptional set of the resolution such that

$$\pi^T(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X)\cong\pi^T\mathscr{F}\otimes\Omega^n_M(-D).$$

If \mathscr{F} is locally free, then

$$\pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{F}\otimes\Omega^n_M)\cong\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X\cong\pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{F}\otimes\Omega^n_M(-D))$$

4.5 Non-analytic preimages and direct images

In this section, we will finally study non-analytic preimages of direct image sheaves and vice versa. For our purpose, the following definition is useful:

Def. 4.29. Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf on a complex space X. We say that \mathscr{F} satisfies the property (id) if the following holds: For any irreducible open set $W \subset X$ and sections $s, t \in \mathscr{F}(W)$, the equality s = t on a non-empty open subset of W implies that s = t on W.

Property (id) means that the identity theorem generalizes to sections of \mathscr{F} . Actually, the identity theorem for irreducible complex spaces (cf. e. g. § 1.3 in [GR84, Chap. 9]) implies that the structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_X of a complex space satisfies (id). Moreover, we have:

Lemma 4.30. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space. Then, a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} on X satisfies the property (id) if and only if it is torsion-free.

Proof: Let \mathscr{F} be a torsion-free coherent sheaf on X and $F := L(\mathscr{F})$ the associated linear space. Then, by Remark 3.6, a section of \mathscr{F} is uniquely defined by it values on the locally irreducible primary component $E := \mathrm{PC}(F)$ of F. I. e. for $W \subset X$ and $s, t \in \mathscr{F}(W) =$ $\mathrm{Hom}(F_W, W \times \mathbb{C}), \ s|_E = t|_E$ is equivalent to s = t. So, the desired property follows by the identity theorem applied to E. Conversely, it is clear that sheaves with torsion on a locally irreducible space do not satisfy (id). $\hfill \Box$

For non-coherent sheaves, the equivalence of Lemma 4.30 does not hold in general: The sheaf \mathscr{C} of continuous functions on an irreducible complex space X is torsion-free as \mathcal{O}_X -module sheaf, but it does not satisfy (id):

Torsion-freeness: Choose $r_x \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and $s_x \in \mathscr{C}_{X,x}$ with $r_x \neq 0$ and $r_x \cdot s_x = 0$. We obtain rs = 0 on small enough neighbourhoods U of x and $r(y) \neq 0$ outside of a thin analytic set $A \subset U$. This implies s = 0 on $U \setminus A$. Since s is continuous, we get $s_x = 0$.

On the other hand, it is obvious that \mathscr{C} does not satisfy (id).

The property (id) is useful in the context of non-analytic preimages:

Lemma 4.31. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a locally irreducible complex space X, and \mathscr{F} a sheaf on X satisfying (id). Then, for $U \subset Y$ open:

$$\pi^{-1}\mathscr{F}(U) = \lim_{\substack{V \to \pi(U)}} \mathscr{F}(V), \tag{4.32}$$

where the limit runs over the open neighbourhoods of $\pi(U)$.

Proof: As X is locally irreducible, we can assume that X and Y are connected. Recall that $\pi^{-1}\mathscr{F}$ is the sheaf associated to the presheaf

$$U \mapsto F(U) := \lim_{V \supset \pi(U)} \mathscr{F}(V)$$

where $U \subset Y$ is open and the limit runs over the open neighbourhoods of $\pi(U)$. We have to show that the presheaf F is canonical (i.e. it is already a sheaf).

i) Existence/Gluing-axiom: Let $U \subset Y$ be covered by open sets $U_i, i \in I$, and let $s_i \in F(U_i)$ satisfy $s_i = s_j$ on $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$. By definition of the inductive limit, $s_i \in F(U_i)$ means there are an open set $V_i \supset \pi(U_i)$ and a section $f_i \in \mathscr{F}(V_i)$ with $s_i = [f_i]$ (s_i is represented by f_i). A priori, we just get $f_i = f_j$ on $\pi(U_{ij}) \subset V_{ij}$, where $V_{ij} = V_i \cap V_j$. Without loss of generality, we can assume that each connected component of V_{ij} contains an open subset of $\pi(U_{ij})$ (π is a modification). So, (id) for \mathscr{F} implies that $f_i = f_j$ on V_{ij} . As \mathscr{F} is a sheaf, there is a section $f \in \mathscr{F}(V)$ with $f|_{V_i} = f_i$, where $V := \bigcup_{i \in I} V_i \supset \pi(U)$. f represents an $s \in F(U)$ with $s|_{U_i} = s_i$.

ii) Uniqueness-axiom: Let $U \subset Y$ be a connected open set, covered by open sets $U_i, i \in I$, and let $s, t \in F(U)$ satisfy s = t on U_i for all $i \in I$. By definition of the inductive limit, there are a connected open set $V \supset \pi(U)$ and sections $f, g \in \mathscr{F}(V)$ with s = [f] and t = [g]. We get f = g on $\pi(U_i)$. Since $\pi(U_i)$ contains an open subset of V, (id) implies that f = g on V. (We have not directly used the uniqueness-axiom for \mathscr{F} because it is contained in (id)).

As a special case, we have:

Lemma 4.33. Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a locally irreducible complex space X and \mathscr{G} a sheaf on Y satisfying (id). Then, for $U \subset Y$ open:

$$\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G}(U) = \lim_{\substack{V \supset \pi(U)}} \mathscr{G}(\pi^{-1}(V)), \tag{4.34}$$

where the limit runs over the open neighbourhoods of $\pi(U)$. Furthermore, the canonical homomorphism $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{G}$ is injective so that $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G}$ is a subsheaf of \mathscr{G} .

Proof: As X is locally irreducible, we can assume that X and Y are connected. Here, $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G}$ is the sheaf associated to the presheaf

$$U \mapsto F(U) := \lim_{V \supset \pi(U)} \mathscr{G}(\pi^{-1}(V))$$

where $U \subset Y$ is open and the limit runs over the open neighbourhoods of $\pi(U)$. The canonical homomorphism $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{G}$ is, then, induced by the restrictions $\cdot|_U : \mathscr{G}(\pi^{-1}(V)) \to \mathscr{G}(U)$.

By Lemma 4.31, F is canonical, i.e. (4.34) holds. It is now easy to see that the canonical homomorphism $\psi \colon \pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{G}$ is injective: Let $s_x \in (\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G})_r$. Then, (4.34) implies that s_x is represented by
a section $s \in \mathscr{G}(U)$, where U is an open neighbourhood of $K_x := \pi^{-1}(\pi(x))$. But, our assumptions yield that K_x is connected and so we can assume that U is a connected neighbourhood of K_x . Assume that $\psi(s_x) = 0$. This means that s is vanishing on a neighbourhood of the point x. But then, s = 0 as U is connected (and \mathscr{G} satisfies (id)).

Lemma 4.33 allows for the following interpretation of $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G}$: The sections of $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathscr{G}$ are the sections of \mathscr{G} which extend along fibres of the modification π . This is of particular interest for the choices $\mathscr{G} = \mathcal{O}_M$ or $\mathscr{G} = \Omega_M^n$ when $\pi \colon M \to X$ is a resolution of singularities, giving the useful injections $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\mathcal{O}_M \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_M$ and $\pi^{-1}\pi_*\Omega_M^n \hookrightarrow \Omega_M^n$, respectively.

Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf on an irreducible complex space X satisfying (id), let π be a proper modification of X, and let U be an open subset of X. For the direct image of a non-analytic inverse image sheaf, Lemma 4.31 implies

$$(\pi_*\pi^{-1}\mathscr{F})(U) = (\pi^{-1}\mathscr{F})(\pi^{-1}(U)) = \lim_{\substack{\longrightarrow\\V \supset U}} \mathscr{F}(V) = \mathscr{F}(U),$$

i.e. we obtain:

Corollary 4.35. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification of a locally irreducible complex space X, and \mathscr{F} a sheaf on X satisfying (id). Then,

$$\pi_*\pi^{-1}\mathscr{F}=\mathscr{F}.$$

Chapter 5 The Dolbeault Operator on Complex Spaces

In this chapter, we introduce the Dolbeault operator on complex spaces and different types of extensions for its L^2 -version (see e. g. Section 5.2). Additionally, we define the Dolbeault operator as sheaf homomorphism between $L^{2,\text{loc}}$ -spaces and the sheaf $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$ of holomorphic squareintegrable *n*-forms with values in a vector bundle *F*, which will be a key ingredient to understand L^2 -Dolbeault cohomologies on complex spaces (see Chapter 10). In Section 5.3, we recall an extension theorem for the Dolbeault operator on manifolds.

Def. 5.1. A Hermitian complex space (X, γ) is a reduced complex space X with a Hermitian metric γ on the regular part X_{reg} such that the following holds: If $x \in X_{\text{sing}}$ is an arbitrary point, there exist a neighbourhood $U = U(x) \subset X$, a holomorphic embedding of U into a domain D in \mathbb{C}^N and an ordinary smooth Hermitian metric in D whose restriction to U is $\gamma|_U$.

Note that two Hermitian metrics on X are equivalent on all compact subsets of X.

Let (X, γ) be a Hermitian complex space. Let $A \subset X$ be an analytic set which contains the singular set of X, i. e. $X_{\text{sing}} \subset A$. Let $F \to X'$ be a Hermitian vector bundle on $X' := X \setminus A \subset X_{\text{reg}}$. Then, the set of smooth forms (with compact support) with values in F is well-defined:

$$\mathscr{E}^{p,q}(X',F) := \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(X',\Lambda^{p,q}T^*X'\otimes F),$$
$$\mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X',F) := \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X',\Lambda^{p,q}T^*X'\otimes F).$$

5 The Dolbeault Operator on Complex Spaces

Further, the space of square-integrable (p,q)-forms with values in F on X is denoted $L^2_{p,q}(X,F) := L^2_{p,q}(X',F)$. This definition is independent of A since square-integrable forms extend over analytic sets.

The Dolbeault operator $\overline{\partial}$ is well-defined for differential forms with values in a holomorphic vector bundle since the transition functions commute with $\overline{\partial}$. Let $\overline{\partial}_{cpt} : \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X',F) \to \mathscr{D}^{p,q+1}(X',F)$ denote the Dolbeault operator on differential forms with values in F and compact support. Then, $\overline{\partial}_{cpt}$ is a densely defined operator on $L^2_{p,q}(X,F)$, which is (in general) not closed. Let $\overline{\partial}_s : L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X,F)$ denote the minimal closed extension of $\overline{\partial}_{cpt}$ which is given by the closure of the graph

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma_{\overline{\partial}_{\rm cpt}} := \{(u,\overline{\partial}_{\rm cpt}u) \colon u \in \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X',F)\} \subset L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \times L^2_{p,q+1}(X,F). \\ & \text{Let } \overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X,F) \text{ denote the maximal extension of } \\ & \overline{\partial}_{\rm cpt}, \text{ i. e. } \overline{\partial}_w \text{ is defined in the sense of distribution:} \end{split}$$

 $(u \in \operatorname{dom} \overline{\partial}_w \text{ and } \overline{\partial}_w u = v) : \iff$

$$\int_{X'} u \wedge \overline{\partial} \alpha = (-1)^{p+q+1} \int_{X'} v \wedge \alpha \quad \forall \alpha \in \mathscr{D}^{n-p,n-q-1}(X',F^*).$$

In Remark 5.10, we will see that the definitions of $\overline{\partial}_w$ and $\overline{\partial}_s$ are independent of the choice of A (as long as $X_{\text{sing}} \subset A$ and F is defined on $X \setminus A$).

The extensions $\overline{\partial}_s$ and $\overline{\partial}_w$ correspond to some kind of boundary conditions on A and at the boundary of X or at infinity of X, respectively. If there is no boundary condition made, then we obtain $\overline{\partial}_w$. It is also called the weak extension and it is the closed (L^2-) extension with the largest domain of definition. If all boundary conditions are made, then we get $\overline{\partial}_s$, which is also called the strong extension. More precisely, $u \in \text{dom } \overline{\partial}_s$ if and only if there exits a sequence $\{u_j\} \subset \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X', F)$ (in particular, $\text{supp } u_j \cap \partial X' = \emptyset$) such that

$$u_j \to u$$
 and $\overline{\partial}_w u_j \to \overline{\partial}_w u$ in L^2 .

 $\overline{\partial}_s$ is the closed extension with the smallest domain of definition. In Section 5.2 and Section 6.1, we also study other extensions which are needed in Section 6.4.

We use the following notations of Dolbeault cohomology: $\begin{aligned} H^{p,q}_s(X,F) &:= \ker\left(\overline{\partial}_s \colon L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X,F)\right) / \overline{\partial}_s(L^2_{p,q-1}(X,F)), \\ H^{p,q}_w(X,F) &:= \ker\left(\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X,F)\right) / \overline{\partial}_w(L^2_{p,q-1}(X,F)). \\ \text{Let } h^{p,q}_e(X',F) \text{ denote the dimension of } H^{p,q}_e(X',F) \text{ for } e = w \text{ or } e = s. \\ \text{Since } \overline{\partial}_w \text{ and } \overline{\partial}_s \text{ are independent of } A, \text{ we get that the cohomologies} \\ \text{are independent, as well. A priori, they depend on the metric } \gamma \text{ and} \\ \text{the Hermitian metric of } F. \end{aligned}$

Let $\vartheta_{\text{cpt}} \colon \mathscr{D}^{p,q+1}(X',F) \to \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(X',F)$ be the formal adjoint of $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}}$ and $\vartheta_s := \overline{\partial}_w^*$ and $\vartheta_w := \overline{\partial}_s^*$ the Hilbert-space adjoints of $\overline{\partial}_w$ and $\overline{\partial}_s$, respectively. This notation makes sense as $\vartheta_{w/s}$ is in fact the maximal (weak) or minimal (strong), respectively, L^2 -extension of ϑ_{cpt} . Let $\overline{*} \colon L^2_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^2_{n-p,n-q}(X,F^*)$ be the conjugated Hodge-*-operator with respect to the metric γ of X and the Hermitian metric of Fdefined by

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\gamma, F} dV = u \wedge \overline{*} v \text{ for } u, v \in L^2_{p,q}(X, F),$$

where $dV = dV_{\gamma}$ denotes the volume form with respect to γ . Then, we have

$$\vartheta_e = -\overline{\ast}\,\overline{\vartheta}_e\,\overline{\ast} \tag{5.2}$$

for each $e \in \{ cpt, w, s \}$.

5.1 Local version of the weak extension, definition of $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$

In this section, we introduce a local version of the Dolbeault operator and obtain a sheaf homomorphism on the sheaves of locally (square-) integrable forms. Actually, there exists a localized version of the $\overline{\partial}_s$ -operator, as well (cf. Section 6.4).

Let X be a Hermitian complex space, $A \supset X_{\text{sing}}$ an analytic set in X and F a Hermitian vector bundle on $X' := X \setminus A$. We define locally square-integrable (p,q)-forms with values in F on an open set $U \subset X$ by

$$L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q}(U,F) := \left\{ u \in L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q}(U \backslash A,F) \colon u \in L^{2}_{p,q}(V \backslash A,F) \; \forall \, V \Subset U \right\}.$$

The presheaf $\mathcal{L}_{F}^{p,q}$ defined by $\mathcal{L}_{F}^{p,q}(U) := L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(U,F)$ is canonical, i.e. $\mathcal{L}_{F}^{p,q}$ is already a sheaf.

Let $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} \colon L_{p,q}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(U,F) \to L_{p,q+1}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(U,F)$ denote the Dolbeault operator in the sense of distributions on locally square-integrable differential forms with values in F. Then, the extension $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}$ is locally defined, i. e. for open $V \subset U$, $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} \colon L_{p,q}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(V,F) \to L_{p,q+1}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(V,F)$ is given by the restriction of $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} \colon L_{p,q}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(U,F) \to L_{p,q+1}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(U,F)$. In particular, the presheaf

$$\mathcal{C}_{F}^{p,q}(U) = \mathcal{C}^{p,q}(U,F) := \operatorname{dom}\left(\overline{\partial}_{w,\operatorname{loc}} \colon L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{p,q}(U,F) \to L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{p,q+1}(U,F)\right)$$

defines a sheaf and $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$ defines a sheaf homomorphism $\mathcal{C}_F^{p,q} \to \mathcal{C}_F^{p,q+1}$. Since $\mathcal{C}_F^{p,q}$ admits a partition of the unity, it is fine. This implies that it is acyclic, i. e. $H^r(U, \mathcal{C}_F^{p,q}) = 0$ for all $r \ge 1$.

We define

$$\mathcal{K}_X(F) := \mathscr{K}_{er}(\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} : \mathcal{C}_F^{n,0} \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,1})$$

and obtain the following complex of sheaves

(

$$) \to \mathcal{K}_X(F) \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,0} \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,1} \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,2} \to \dots$$
(5.3)

Under some additional assumptions, (5.3) is a fine resolution of \mathcal{K}_F (see Theorem 10.5). Hence, we can use it to compute the Dolbeault cohomology of locally square-integrable differential forms with values in F which is defined as follows:

$$H^{p,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,F) := \frac{\ker(\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} \colon L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q}(X,F) \to L^{2}_{p,q+1}(X,F))}{\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q-1}(X,F))}.$$

This does not depend on A and the Hermitian metric γ of X. If the Hermitian metric of F does not extend over A, then $H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,F)$ does not coincide with $H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X',F)$ which is usually defined as

$$\ker\left(\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}\colon L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q}(X',F)\to L^{2}_{p,q+1}(X',F)\right)/\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q-1}(X',F)).$$

Furthermore, $H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,F)$ does depend on the Hermitian metric of F unless the metric extends over A.

This motivates the following definitions.

Def. 5.4. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on a complex space X, let $S := L(\mathscr{S})$ denote the associated linear space. For each $x \in X$, there exist a neighbourhood $U = U(x) \subset X$ and an embedding of S_U in $U \times \mathbb{C}^{N(x)}$. We call $h = \{h_x\}_{x \in X}$ a *(smooth) Hermitian form on* Sif all h_x are Hermitian forms on S_x and, for an open covering $\{U_j\}$ of X with embeddings $S_{U_j} \subset U_j \times \mathbb{C}^{N_j}$, there exist smooth Hermitian forms h_j on $U_j \times \mathbb{C}^{N_j}$ with $h_j|_{S_{U_j}} = h$. We call \mathscr{S} Hermitian if there exits a smooth Hermitian metric h on S. The dual g of h induces a Hermitian metric on the vector bundle $R(\mathscr{S})$. We say g is induced by the Hermitian structure of \mathscr{S} .

Recall that $R(\mathscr{S})$ denotes the vector bundle on $X' := X \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ associated to the locally free sheaf $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$, i.e. $R(\mathscr{S}) = L(\mathscr{S}_{X'}^*)$ (see Section 3.2).

The construction of a Hermitian metric on an arbitrary vector bundle generalizes to linear spaces, i. e. all coherent analytic sheaves are Hermitian. Yet, not every Hermitian metric on $R(\mathscr{S})$ is induced by a Hermitian structure of \mathscr{S} . For us, this special kind of metrics are of interest because of the following fact: If g_1, g_2 are two Hermitian metrics induced by two Hermitian structures of \mathscr{S} , then g_1 and g_2 are equivalent on $K \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}$ for all compact subsets K of X. In particular, $L_{p,q}^{2,\operatorname{loc}}(U, R(\mathscr{S}))$ and $\overline{\partial}_{w,\operatorname{loc}}$ are independent of it.

For a Hermitian sheaf \mathscr{S} , we set

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) := \mathcal{K}_X(R(\mathscr{S})).$$

We will see that (5.3) is a fine resolution of $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$ (see Theorem 10.5 with independence of the choice of the Hermitian metric on \mathscr{S}). Therefore, we can use it to compute the Dolbeault cohomology of locally square-integrable differential forms with values in \mathscr{S}

$$H^{p,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,\mathscr{S}) := H^{p,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,R(\mathscr{S}))$$

which is independent of A, γ and the Hermitian structure of \mathscr{S} .

5.2 The extensions $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$

In Section 6.1, we will study the following closed extensions of $\overline{\partial}_{cpt}$, which are different from the minimal $\overline{\partial}_s$ and the maximal $\overline{\partial}_w$. Let $X \in Y$ be a relative-compact domain in a Hermitian complex space Y. We can interpret $\overline{\partial}_s$ as $\overline{\partial}_w$ with certain boundary conditions. The boundary of $X^* := X \setminus Y_{sing}$ consists of two parts, the singular set X_{sing} and the boundary at ∂X , i. e. $\partial X^* = \partial X \cup X_{sing}$. Therefore, we have to deal with two kinds of boundary conditions. Let $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ denote the closed L^2 -extension which satisfies the boundary condition at X_{sing} , i. e.

dom
$$\overline{\partial}_{s,w} := \{ u \in \text{dom } \overline{\partial}_w : \exists \{ u_j \} \subset \text{dom } \overline{\partial}_w \text{ with } X_{\text{sing}} \cap \text{supp } u_j = \emptyset, u_j \to u \& \overline{\partial}_w u_j \to \overline{\partial}_w u \text{ in } L^2 \}.$$

 $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$ denotes the extension which satisfies the boundary condition at ∂X , i.e.

dom
$$\overline{\partial}_{s,w} := \{ u \in \text{dom } \overline{\partial}_w \colon \exists \{ u_j \} \subset \text{dom } \overline{\partial}_w \text{ with } \partial X \cap \text{supp } u_j = \emptyset,$$

 $u_j \to u \& \overline{\partial}_w u_j \to \overline{\partial}_w u \text{ in } L^2 \}.$

Here, we refer to the support with respect to the ambient space Y. The first index represents the inner boundary X_{sing} , the second the outer boundary ∂X . $H_{s,w}^{*,*}$ and $H_{w,s}^{*,*}$ denote the cohomologies with respect to $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$ respectively.

We define the formal adjoint operators (cf. (5.2))

$$\vartheta_{s,w} := -\overline{\ast}\,\overline{\partial}_{s,w}\,\overline{\ast} \quad \text{and} \quad \vartheta_{w,s} := -\overline{\ast}\,\overline{\partial}_{w,s}\,\overline{\ast},$$

which we can realize as Hilbert-space adjoint operators in special cases (cf. [Rup14a, Lem. 5.1]):

Lemma 5.5. If ∂X does not intersect Y_{sing} , the Hilbert-space adjoints $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^*$ and $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}^*$ satisfy the representations $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^* = \vartheta_{w,s} = -\overline{*} \overline{\partial}_{w,s} \overline{*}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}^* = \vartheta_{s,w} = -\overline{*} \overline{\partial}_{s,w} \overline{*}$, respectively.

Proof: We will show that dom $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^* = \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$. The other identity dom $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}^* = \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{s,w}$ can be shown in the same way.

(i) dom $\vartheta_{w,s} \subset \operatorname{dom} \overline{\vartheta}_{s,w}^*$: Choose a $u \in \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$, i.e. there is a

sequence $u_j \in \text{dom } \vartheta_w$ with $u_j \to u$, $\vartheta u_j \to \vartheta u$, and $\text{supp } u_j \cap \partial X = \emptyset$. We have to prove

$$(u,\overline{\partial}v) \lesssim \|v\| \ \forall v \in \operatorname{dom}\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$$

Let v be in dom $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ and v_j a sequence associated to v in dom $\overline{\partial}_w$, i. e. $v_j \to v, \overline{\partial}v_j \to \overline{\partial}v$, and $X_{\text{sing}} \cap \text{supp } v_j = \emptyset$. Since a product of u_j and v_j has compact support in X^* (using $\partial X \cap Y_{\text{sing}} = \emptyset$), integration by parts implies

$$(u_j, \overline{\partial} v_j) = \int u_j \wedge \overline{*} \,\overline{\partial} v_j = -\int u_j \wedge \vartheta \,\overline{*} \, v_j = \int \vartheta u_j \wedge \overline{*} \, v_j = (\vartheta u_j, v_j).$$

Passing to the limit, we get

$$|(u,\overline{\partial}v)| = \lim_{j \to \infty} |(v_j, \vartheta u_j)| \le \lim_{j \to \infty} \|v_j\| \cdot \|\vartheta u_j\| = \|v\| \|\vartheta u\|$$

(ii) dom $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^* \subset \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$: Let u be in dom $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^*$. This implies that $u \in \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_w$, and we have to show that $u \in \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$. For this, we can choose a cut-off function $\chi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\overline{X}; [0,1])$ with $\chi = 0$ on a neighbourhood $U(\overline{X}_{\operatorname{sing}})$ of the singular set and $\chi = 1$ on a neighbourhood $U(\partial X)$ of the boundary since ∂X does not intersect $\overline{X}_{\operatorname{sing}} \subset Y_{\operatorname{sing}}$. We will show that both, $\chi u \in \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$ and $(1-\chi)u \in$ dom $\vartheta_{w,s}$, separately.

First, it is clear that $\chi u, (1-\chi)u \in \text{dom } \vartheta_w$. But $(1-\chi)u$ has support away from the boundary ∂X , and so $(1-\chi)u \in \text{dom } \vartheta_{w,s}$.

Let us now consider χu . For each $v \in \text{dom }\overline{\partial}_w$, we have

$$(\chi u, \overline{\partial} v) = (u, \chi \overline{\partial} v) = (u, \overline{\partial} (\chi v) - \overline{\partial} \chi \wedge v) = (\overline{\partial}^* u, \chi v) - (u, \overline{\partial} \chi \wedge v),$$

where we infer the last equation from the assumption $u \in \text{dom }\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^*$ and $\chi v \in \text{dom }\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$. We conclude

$$|(\chi u, \overline{\partial} v)| \le \|\overline{\partial}^* u\| \|\chi v\| + \|u\| \|\overline{\partial} \chi\| \|v\| \lesssim \|v\|$$

and, hence, χu is in dom $\overline{\partial}_w^* = \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_s$. Therefore, $\chi u \in \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_s \subset \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_{w,s}$.

Note that we say that $a(x) \leq b(x)$ for functions $a, b: S \to \mathbb{R}$ on a set S if there is a constant C > 0 with $a(x) \leq C \cdot b(x)$ for all $x \in S$. $a(x) \sim b(x)$ means that $a(x) \leq b(x)$ and $b(x) \leq a(x)$, i.e. there exists a constant C > 0 such that $\frac{1}{C}b(x) \leq a(x) \leq C \cdot b(x)$ for all $x \in S$.

5.3 L^2 -extension theorem

In this section, we recall the following L^2 -version of Riemann's extension theorem:

Theorem 5.6. Let M be a Hermitian manifold, let $A \subset M$ be a thin analytic set, let F be a Hermitian vector bundle on M, and let $P: \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(M,F) \to \mathscr{D}^{p',q'}(M,F)$ be a partial differential operator of first order with continuous coefficients. If $u \in L^{2,\text{loc}}_{p,q}(M,F)$ and $v \in L^{1,\text{loc}}_{p',q'}(M,F)$ satisfy Pu = v on $M \setminus A$ in the sense of distributions, then Pu = v in the sense of distribution on M.

This theorem is a simple generalization of Thm. 3.2 in [Rup09]. We will present the same proof as in the author's diploma thesis [Ser10].

Proof: We want to simplify the problem. We keep in mind that it is a local statement.

The proof is conducted recursively by dividing A in the regular part A_{reg} and singular part A_{sing} . If we assume that the proposition holds for A_{reg} in place of A and $M \setminus A_{\text{sing}}$ in place of M, then it remains to show the proposition for A_{sing} in M. Since A_{sing} is an analytic set in M with smaller dimension than A, we can repeat the argument by separating A_{sing} . Hence, the problem can be reduced to the case that A is regular.

With a partition of unity and a biholomorphic transformation, we can consider $M \in \mathbb{C}^n$, F trivial and $A = M \cap (\mathbb{C}^m \times 0)$ since A is regular. In addition, we can see P as a matrix if we interpret the (p,q)-forms and (p',q')-forms as vector spaces. One entry of P looks like $P_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{2n} \alpha_k \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} + \beta$ if we set $z_j = x_j + ix_{n+j}$.

It remains to show that, if $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}^0(M)$, $f \in L^{2, \text{loc}}(M)$ and $g \in L^{1, \text{loc}}(M)$ satisfy

$$\int_{M\setminus A} f\alpha \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_k} dV = -\int_{M\setminus A} g\varphi dV \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(M\setminus A), \tag{5.7}$$

then this equation (5.7) holds for all $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}(M)$.

Let φ be in $\mathscr{D}(M)$, and let d be the diameter of M. We choose $\chi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^+_0, [0, 1])$ such that $\chi(x) = 1$ for $x \leq \frac{1}{4}, \chi(x) = 0$ for $x \geq \frac{3}{4}$ and $\chi' \leq C$. We set $\chi_{\delta} \colon M \to \mathbb{R}, \chi_{\delta}(z', z'') \coloneqq \chi(\frac{\|z''\|}{\delta})$ with $z' = (z_1, ..., z_m)$ and $z'' = (z_{m+1}, ..., z_n)$. Then, we get $\varphi_{\delta} \coloneqq \varphi \cdot (1 - \chi_{\delta}) \in \mathscr{D}(M \setminus A)$ and $\supp \chi_{\delta} \varphi \subset U_{\delta} \coloneqq U_{\delta}(A) = \{(z', z'') \in M \colon \|z''\| < \delta\}$. We infer from (5.7) that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{M} f \alpha \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_{k}} + g \varphi \, dV \right| &\leq \left| \int_{M} f \alpha \frac{\partial \varphi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} + g \varphi_{\delta} \, dV \right| + \int_{M} \left| f \alpha \frac{\partial (\chi_{\delta} \varphi)}{\partial x_{k}} + g \chi_{\delta} \varphi \right| dV \\ &= \int_{M} \left| f \alpha \frac{\partial (\chi_{\delta} \varphi)}{\partial x_{k}} + g \chi_{\delta} \varphi \right| dV \\ &\leq \int_{M} \left| f \alpha \varphi \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} \right| + \chi_{\delta} \left| f \alpha \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_{k}} \right| + \chi_{\delta} \left| g \varphi \right| \, dV. \end{split}$$

With $\chi_{\delta} |g\varphi| \leq |g\varphi|$, we conclude $\chi_{\delta} |g\varphi| \in L^{1,\text{loc}}(M)$ and

$$\int_{M} \chi_{\delta} |g\varphi| \, dV \le \int_{U_{\delta}} |g\varphi| \, dV \to 0 \quad \text{if } \delta \to 0$$

(cf. Lem. A1.17 in [Alt06]). Analogously, we get

$$\int_{M} \chi_{\delta} \left| f \alpha \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_{k}} \right| dV \to 0 \quad \text{if } \delta \to 0$$

Hölder's inequality implies

$$\int_{M} \left| f \alpha \varphi \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} \right| dV = \int_{U_{\delta}} \left| f \alpha \varphi \right| \left| \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} \right| dV$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{U_{\delta}} \left| f \alpha \varphi \right|^{2} dV \cdot \int_{U_{\delta}} \left| \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} \right|^{2} dV \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

With $\left|\frac{\partial\chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_k}\right| \leq \frac{C}{\delta}$, we can estimate

$$\int_{U_{\delta}} \left| \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_k} \right|^2 dV \le \int_{U_{\delta}} \frac{C^2}{\delta^2} dV = \operatorname{vol}(U_{\delta}) \cdot \frac{C^2}{\delta^2} \le d^{2m} (2\delta)^{2(n-m)} \cdot \frac{C^2}{\delta^2}.$$

Since m < n, we deduce that $\int_{U_{\delta}} \left| \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_k} \right|^2 dV$ is bounded and

$$\int_{M} \left| f \alpha \varphi \frac{\partial \chi_{\delta}}{\partial x_{k}} \right| dV \lesssim \left(\int_{U_{\delta}} |f \alpha \varphi|^{2} \, dV \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \to 0 \quad \text{if } \delta \to 0.$$

Corollary 5.8. Let M be a Hermitian manifold, and let F be a Hermitian vector bundle on M. Then,

$$\overline{\partial}_s^{M\setminus A} := \overline{\partial}_s \colon L^2_{p,q}(M\setminus A, F_{M\setminus A}) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(M\setminus A, F_{M\setminus A})$$

coincides with

$$\overline{\partial}_s^M := \overline{\partial}_s \colon L^2_{p,q}(M,F) \to L^2_{p,q+1}(M,F).$$

More precisely, if $u \in \text{dom }\overline{\partial}_s^M$, then there exits a sequence $\{u_j\}$ of smooth forms with values in F and compact support in $M \setminus A$ such that $u_j \to u$ and $\overline{\partial}_w u \to \overline{\partial}_w u$ in L^2 .

Proof: We use the notation with the superscript for the adjoint operator ϑ of $\overline{\partial}$, as well, and set $M' := M \setminus A$. Since the Hilbert-space adjoint of $\overline{\partial}_s^{M'}$ is $\vartheta_w^{M'}$, we get

$$\left(\vartheta_{w}^{M'}v,\varphi\right) = \left(v,\overline{\partial}\varphi\right) \tag{5.9}$$

for all $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(M', F)$. With Theorem 5.6, we get the equality (5.9) also for all $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}^{p,q}(M, F)$. This means

$$\operatorname{dom} \vartheta_w^{M'} = \operatorname{dom} \vartheta_w^M.$$

In particular the Hilbert-space adjoints coincide:

$$\operatorname{dom} \overline{\partial}_s^{M'} = \operatorname{dom} \overline{\partial}_s^M.$$

Remark 5.10. Let X be a Hermitian complex space, let A, B be analytic sets in X with $X_{\text{sing}} \subset A \subset B$, let F' be a Hermitian vector bundle on $X' := X \setminus A$, and let F'' be the restriction of F' to X'' := $X \setminus B$. Since $\overline{\partial}_w$ is defined in the sense of distributions, Theorem 5.6 implies that $\overline{\partial}_w : L^2_{p,q}(X, F') \to L^2_{p,q+1}(X, F')$ and $\overline{\partial}_w : L^2_{p,q}(X, F'') \to$ $L^2_{p,q+1}(X, F'')$ have essentially the same domain of definition, i. e. they coincide. The same holds for $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$, i. e. $\mathcal{C}_{F'} = \mathcal{C}_{F''}$. In particular,

$$H^{p,q}_w(X,F') = H^{p,q}_w(X,F'')$$
 and $H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,F') = H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,F'').$

As elaborated in Corollary 5.8, we obtain that the domains of definition of $\overline{\partial}_s$ in $L^2(X, F')$ and $L^2(X, F'')$ coincide, as well. This implies

$$H_s^{p,q}(X, F') = H_s^{p,q}(X, F'').$$

Chapter 6 L^2 -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

The purpose of this chapter is to give a comprehensive L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on a singular complex curve, including L^2 -versions of the Riemann-Roch theorem as it is presented in [RS15].

Let us explain some of our results in detail. Let X be a compact singular Hermitian complex space of dimension 1, i. e. a Hermitian complex curve, and $L \to X$ a Hermitian holomorphic line bundle. Note that the genus g = g(X) of X and the degree deg(L) of L are well-defined, even in the presence of singularities (see Section 2.2). For a singular point $x \in X_{\text{sing}}$, we define its modified multiplicity $\text{mult}'_x X$ as follows: Let X_j , j = 1, ..., m, be the irreducible components of X in the singular point x. Then,

$$\operatorname{mult}_{x}' X := \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\operatorname{mult}_{x} X_{j} - 1).$$

Note that regular irreducible components of X do not contribute to $\operatorname{mult}'_x X$. In Section 2.2, we recalled the definition of the multiplicity $\operatorname{mult}_x X_j$ and presented different ways to compute it. We obtain the following L^2 -version of the Riemann-Roch theorem:

Theorem 6.1 ($\overline{\partial}_w$ -Riemann-Roch). Let X be a compact Hermitian complex curve with m irreducible components and $L \to X$ a holomorphic line bundle. Then,

$$h_w^{0,0}(X,L) - h_w^{0,1}(X,L) = m - g + \deg(L) + \sum_{x \in X_{\text{sing}}} \operatorname{mult}'_x X,$$
 (6.2)

and

$$h_w^{1,1}(X,L) - h_w^{1,0}(X,L) = m - g - \deg(L).$$

Theorem 6.1 is a corollary of Theorem 6.15, which we prove in Section 6.2. There, we also consider an L^2 -dual version, i.e. an L^2 -Riemann-Roch theorem for the minimal closed L^2 -extension of the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator $\overline{\partial}_s$.

On singular complex curves, the $\overline{\partial}_s$ -operator is of particular importance because of its relation to weakly holomorphic functions.

Theorem 6.3. Let X be a Hermitian complex curve. Then,

$$H^{0}(X,\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{X}) = H^{0,0}_{s,\text{loc}}(X),$$

$$H^{1}(X,\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{X}) \cong H^{0,1}_{s,\text{loc}}(X).$$

If X is irreducible and compact, then dim $H^0(X, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X) = 1$, $g(X) = \dim H^1(X, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X)$. We prove Theorem 6.3 in Section 6.4.

To exemplify the use of L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on a singular complex space, in particular the L^2 -Riemann-Roch theorem, we give two applications in Section 6.5. There, we use our L^2 -theory to give alternative proofs of two well-known facts. First, we show that each compact complex curve can be realized as a ramified covering of \mathbb{CP}^1 . Second, we show that a positive holomorphic line bundle over a compact complex curve is ample, yielding that any compact complex curve is projective.

Let us clarify the relation to the previous work of others. One can deduce parts of Theorem 6.15 and the second statement of Corollary 6.19 from W. Pardon's work [Par89] by some additional arguments on the regularity of the $\bar{\partial}$ -operator. The first part of Corollary 6.19 was discovered by P. Haskell [Has89], from which one can deduce the second statement of Theorem 6.1 by the use of L^2 -Serre duality. Moreover, Theorem 6.1 was proven in essence by J. Brüning, N. Peyerimhoff and H. Schröder in [BPS90] and [Sch89] by computing the indices of the $\bar{\partial}_w$ -and the $\bar{\partial}_s$ -operator.

The new point in the present chapter is that we can put all the partial results mentioned above in the general framework of a comprehensive L^2 -theory. From that, we draw also a new understanding of weakly holomorphic functions (Theorem 6.3) and of the divisor Z - |Z|, which was mentioned in the introduction (see (1.2)). Moreover, all the previous work has been done only for forms with values in the trivial bundle (except of [Sch89]), whereas we incorporate line bundles. This is essential for the application as we will illustrate by the examples mentioned above.

6.1 Local L²-theory of complex curves

In this section, we study the local L^2 -theory of (locally) irreducible analytic curves in \mathbb{C}^n . By the remarks on the local structure of singular complex curves in Section 2.2 and Section 6.2, it follows that the studied situation is general enough. We will compute the L^2 -Dolbeault cohomology by use of the Puiseux parametrization and will see why the term $\sum_{x \in X_{\text{sing}}} \text{mult}'_x X$ occurs in (6.2).

Let A be an irreducible analytic curve in $\Delta^n \subset \mathbb{C}^n_{zw_1...w_{n-1}}$, given by the Puiseux parametrization

$$\pi \colon \Delta \to \mathbb{C}^n \ , \ \pi(t) := (t^s, w(t)),$$

where $w = (w_1, ..., w_{n-1}): \Delta \to \Delta^{n-1}$ is a holomorphic map such that each component w_i vanishes at least of the order s + 1 in the origin. Here, Δ is the unit disk $\{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t| < 1\}$. We can assume that π is bijective, in particular, a resolution / normalization of A such that $\operatorname{mult}_0 A = s$. Further, we can assume that 0 is the only singular point of A.

For a regular point $(z_0, w_0) \in A^* := A_{\text{reg}}$, let $t_0 \in \Delta^* := \Delta \setminus \{0\}$ be the preimage under π . Since π is biholomorphic on Δ^* , $d\pi_{t_0}(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}) = st_0^{s-1}\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} w'_k(t_0)\frac{\partial}{\partial w_k}$ is a non-vanishing tangent vector of A^* in (z_0, w_0) , i.e.

$$(1 + \|\frac{1}{s}t_0^{1-s}w'(t_0)\|^2)^{-1/2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{1}{s}t_0^{1-s}\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}w'_k(t_0)\frac{\partial}{\partial w_k}\right)$$

6 L^2 -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

is a normalized generator of $T_{(z_0,w_0)}A^*$ and $(1+\|\frac{1}{s}t_0^{1-s}w'(t_0)\|^2)^{1/2}dz$ is a normalized generator of $T^*_{(z_0,w_0)}A^*$. Since w'_k vanishes at least of order sin the origin, we obtain $1+\|\frac{1}{s}t^{1-s}w'(t)\|^2 \sim 1$ on Δ and $dV_{A^*} \sim idz \wedge d\overline{z}$, where dV_{A^*} denotes the volume form on A^* induced by the standard Euclidean metric of \mathbb{C}^n . Using $\pi^*dz = d(\pi^*z) = dt^s = st^{s-1}dt$ and $\pi^*(dz \wedge d\overline{z}) = s^2|t|^{2(s-1)}dt \wedge d\overline{t}$, we get

$$\pi^* dV_{A^*} \sim |t|^{2(s-1)} dV_{\Delta}.$$

Let $\iota: A^* \to \Delta^*$ be the inverse of π . Then, $\iota(z, w)$ is the root $t = \sqrt[s]{z}$ with w = w(t). We get $\iota^*(dt) = \frac{1}{s} z^{1/s-1} dz$ and $\iota^*(dt \wedge d\overline{t}) = \frac{1}{s^2} |z|^{2(1/s-1)} dz \wedge d\overline{z}$, i.e.

$$\iota^* dV_{\Delta^*} \sim |z|^{2(1/s-1)} dV_{A^*}.$$

If g is a measurable function on A^* , we obtain

$$\int_{A^*} |g|^2 dV_{A^*} = \int_{\Delta} |\pi^* g|^2 \pi^* dV_{A^*} \sim \int_{\Delta} |\pi^* g|^2 \cdot |t|^{2(s-1)} dV_{\Delta}.$$

Hence,

$$g \in L^2_{0,0}(A^*) \Leftrightarrow t^{s-1}\pi^*g \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta)$$

For (0, 1)-forms and (1, 1)-forms, we have

$$\pi^*(gd\overline{z}) = \pi^*g \cdot \pi^*(d\overline{z}) = \overline{t}^{s-1}\pi^*(g)d\overline{t},$$
$$\pi^*(gdz \wedge d\overline{z}) = |t|^{2(s-1)}\pi^*(g)dt \wedge d\overline{t}.$$

Thus,

$$f \in L^{2}_{0,0}(A^{*}) \Leftrightarrow t^{s-1} \cdot \pi^{*} f \in L^{2}_{0,0}(\Delta),$$

$$f \in L^{2}_{1,0}(A^{*}) \Leftrightarrow \pi^{*} f \in L^{2}_{1,0}(\Delta),$$

$$f \in L^{2}_{0,1}(A^{*}) \Leftrightarrow \pi^{*} f \in L^{2}_{0,1}(\Delta), \text{ and}$$

$$f \in L^{2}_{1,1}(A^{*}) \Leftrightarrow t^{1-s} \cdot \pi^{*} f \in L^{2}_{1,1}(\Delta).$$

(6.4)

On the other hand, if $v \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta)$, we get

$$\infty > \int_{\Delta} |v|^2 dV_{\Delta} = \int_{A^*} |\iota^* v|^2 \iota^* dV_{\Delta} \sim \int_{A^*} |\iota^* v|^2 \cdot |z|^{2(1/s-1)} dV_{A^*}.$$

Thus, $|z|^{1/s-1}\iota^*v$ is square-integrable on A^* . For each (0,1)-form $vd\overline{t} \in L^2_{0,1}(\Delta)$, we get $s\iota^*(vd\overline{t}) = \overline{z}^{1/s-1}\iota^*(v)d\overline{z} \in L^2_{0,1}(A^*)$, and for each (1,1)-form $vdt \wedge d\overline{t} \in L^2_{1,1}(\Delta)$, we get $|z|^{1-\frac{1}{s}}\iota^*(vdt \wedge d\overline{t}) \in L^2_{1,1}(A^*)$.

So, if $f \in L^2_{0,1}(A^*)$, then $u := \pi^* f$ is in L^2 , too. Since dim $\Delta = 1$, there exists $v \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta)$ with $\overline{\partial}_w v = u$. We set $g := \iota^* v$. Since $|z|^{1/s-1}g$

is in L^2 and $|z|^{2(1-1/s)}$ is bounded,

$$\begin{aligned} \|g\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \int_{A^{*}} |z^{1/_{s}-1}g|^{2} \cdot |z|^{2(1-1/_{s})} dV_{A^{*}} \\ &\leq \|z^{1/_{s}-1}g\|_{L^{2}} \cdot \|z^{2(1-1/_{s})}\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we get an L^2 -solution for $\overline{\partial}_w g = f$ and so

$$H_w^{0,1}(A) = L_{0,1}^2(A^*) / \mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_w) = 0.$$

In the same way, it is easy to compute

$$H_w^{1,1}(A) = 0.$$

We will now determine $H_w^{p,0}(A) = \ker(\overline{\partial}_w : L_{p,0}^2 \to L_{p,1}^2)$ by use of the L^2 -extension theorem (Theorem 5.6). For this, let $\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$ be the square-integrable holomorphic functions on Δ , and let $\Omega_{L^2}^1(\Delta)$ be the holomorphic 1-forms with square-integrable coefficient. If $g \in L_{0,0}^2(A^*)$ and $\overline{\partial}_w g = 0$, then $v := \pi^* g \in |t|^{1-s} L_{0,0}^2(\Delta)$ and $\overline{\partial}_w v = 0$ on Δ^* . Therefore, $\overline{\partial}(t^{s-1}v) = 0$ on Δ^* and $t^{s-1}v \in L_{0,0}^2(\Delta)$. The L^2 -extension theorem implies $\overline{\partial}(t^{s-1}v) = 0$ on Δ , i. e. v is a meromorphic function with a pole of order s-1 or less at the origin. We say $v \in t^{1-s} \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$. Since, on the other hand, $\iota^*(t^{1-s} \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)) \subset \ker \overline{\partial}_w$, we conclude

$$H^{0,0}_w(A) \cong t^{1-s} \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta). \tag{6.5}$$

If $f \in L^2_{1,0}(A^*)$ and $\overline{\partial}_w f = 0$, then $u := \pi^* f \in L^2_{1,0}(\Delta)$ and $\overline{\partial}_w u = 0$ on Δ (using the L^2 -extension theorem again). Hence, u is holomorphic on Δ and

$$H^{1,0}_w(A) \cong \Omega^1_{L^2}(\Delta).$$

To compute the cohomology groups $H_s^{*,*}(A)$, we use L^2 -duality:

Lemma 6.6. Let $\overline{\partial}_e$ denote either the weak or the strong closed extension of $\overline{\partial}$, and $\overline{\partial}_{e^c}$ the other one. For $p \in \{0,1\}$, let the range $\mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_e)$ of $\overline{\partial}_e \colon L^2_{p,0} \to L^2_{p,1}$ be closed. Then,

$$H_e^{p,1}(A) \cong H_{e^c}^{1-p,0}(A)$$

For the proof see e.g. [Rup14a, Thm. 2.3].

Lemma 6.7. For $p \in \{0, 1\}$,

$$H_s^{p,0}(A) \cong H_w^{1-p,1}(A) = 0$$
 and
 $H_s^{p,1}(A) \cong H_w^{1-p,0}(A).$

Proof: Recall that $H_w^{1-p,1}(A) = 0$. This implies $L_{1-p,1}^2(A^*) = \mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_w)$ and, particularly, that the range of $\overline{\partial}_w \colon L_{1-p,0}^2 \to L_{1-p,1}^2$ is closed. As $\vartheta_w = -\overline{*} \overline{\partial}_w \overline{*}$ and $\overline{*}$ is an isometric isomorphism, we conclude that the range of $\vartheta_w \colon L_{p,1}^2 \to L_{p,0}^2$ is closed as well. This is equivalent to the range of $\overline{\partial}_s = \vartheta_w^* \colon L_{p,0}^2 \to L_{p,1}^2$ being closed (standard functional analysis). Lemma 6.6 implies both isomorphisms.

To get the complete picture, we also need to understand the Dolbeault cohomology groups of the closed extensions $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$, which was defined in Section 5.2.

Lemma 6.8. For $p \in \{0, 1\}$,

 $H^{p,0}_{w,s}(A) = 0.$

Proof: Let $f \in \ker \overline{\partial}_{w,s} = H^{p,0}_{w,s}(A)$. We have shown that $\omega \cdot u := \omega \cdot \pi^* f \in L^2_{p,0}(\Delta)$ with $\omega(t) = t^{s-1}$ if p = 0 and $\omega(t) \equiv 1$ if p = 1. By the L^2 -extension theorem, we conclude $\overline{\partial}_s(\omega \cdot u) = 0$ on Δ . The generalized Cauchy condition implies that the trivial extension of ωu to the complex plane is a holomorphic *p*-form with compact support (cf. [LM02, §V.3]). We deduce that $\omega u = 0$ and, hence, f = 0.

Lemma 6.9. $H^{0,0}_{s,w}(A) \cong \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$ and $H^{1,0}_{s,w}(A) \cong t^{s-1}\Omega^1_{L^2}(\Delta).$

As $\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{L^2}(A)$, the first isomorphism implies that the $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ -holomorphic functions on a singular complex curve are precisely the square-integrable weakly holomorphic functions.

Proof: First, we prove that $\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta) = \pi^* \ker \left(\overline{\partial}_{s,w} : L^2_{0,0}(A^*) \to L^2_{0,1}(A^*)\right).$

(i) For $v \in \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$, we claim that $g := \iota^* v \in \ker \overline{\partial}_{s,w}$. To show this, choose smooth functions $\widetilde{\chi}_k \colon \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$ with $\widetilde{\chi}_k|_{(-\infty,k]} = 0$, $\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\chi}_k|_{[k+1,\infty)} &= 1 \text{ and } |\widetilde{\chi}'_k| \leq 2. \text{ We get } (\widetilde{\chi}_k \circ \log \circ |\log|)'(\rho) = \frac{\widetilde{\chi}'_k(\log|\log \rho|)}{\rho \log \rho}. \end{aligned}$ We define $\chi_k \colon A^* \to [0,1], (z,w) \mapsto \widetilde{\chi}_k(\log|\log|z||)$ (which is inspired by [PS91, p. 617]) and get $\operatorname{supp} \overline{\partial}\chi_k \subset A^* \cap \Delta^n_{\varepsilon_k}$, where $\varepsilon_k := \exp(-\exp(k)) \to 0 \text{ if } k \to \infty. \text{ As } v \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta), \text{ we have} \\ q \in z^{1-\frac{1}{s}}L^2_{0,0}(A^*) \subset L^2_{0,0}(A^*). \end{aligned}$

Then, $g \cdot \chi_k \to g$ in L^2 . As a holomorphic function, v is bounded in a neighbourhood of 0. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \|g\overline{\partial}\chi_k\|_{A^*}^2 &= \left\|g\cdot\frac{\widetilde{\chi}_k'(\log|\log|z||)}{|z|\log|z|}\overline{\partial}|z|\right\|_{A^*\cap\Delta_{\varepsilon_k}^n}^2 \\ &\lesssim \left\|g\cdot\frac{1}{|z|\log|z|}\right\|_{A^*\cap\Delta_{\varepsilon_k}^n}^2 \sim \left\|v\cdot\frac{|t|^{s-1}}{|t|^s\log|t|^s}\right\|_{\Delta_{\varepsilon_k}}^2 \\ &\lesssim \left\|\frac{1}{|t|\log|t|}\right\|_{\Delta_{\varepsilon_k}}^2 = \int_{\Delta_{\varepsilon_k}}\frac{1}{|t|^2\log^2|t|}dV \\ &= 2\pi\int_0^{\varepsilon_k}\frac{\rho}{\rho^2\log^2\rho}d\rho \sim \left[-\frac{1}{\log\rho}\right]_0^{\varepsilon_k} \to 0 \quad \text{if } k \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Hence, $\overline{\partial}(g\chi_k) = g\overline{\partial}\chi_k \to 0 = \overline{\partial}_w g$ in L^2 . So, $g \in \text{dom }\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$.

(ii) $\pi^*(\ker \overline{\partial}_{s,w}) \subset \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$ (cf. the proof of Lem. 6.2 in [Rup14a]): Let g be in $\ker \overline{\partial}_{s,w}$, i. e. there are g_j in $L^2(A^*)$ with $g_j \to g$, $\overline{\partial}g_j \to 0$ in $L^2(A^*)$ and $0 \notin \operatorname{supp} g_j$. Let $\chi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\operatorname{cpt}}(\Delta, [0, 1])$ be identically 1 on $\Delta_{1/2}$. We define $u := \chi \pi^* g$ and $u_j := \chi \pi^* g_j$. It follows that $t^{s-1}u_j \to t^{s-1}u$ and $\overline{\partial}u_j \to \overline{\partial}u$ in $L^2(\Delta)$. Let $P: L^2(\Delta) \to L^2(\Delta)$ be the Cauchy operator on the punctured disc, i. e.

$$[P(h)](t) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Delta^*} \frac{h(\zeta)}{\zeta - t} d\zeta \wedge d\overline{\zeta}.$$

Since the support of u_j is away from 0 and $\partial \Delta$, we get $u_j = P(\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial \overline{\zeta}})$. The L^2 -continuity of P and $\overline{\partial} u_j \to \overline{\partial} u$ in L^2 imply that

$$u_j = P\left(\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}\right) \to P\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}\right)$$

in L^2 . Since t^{s-1} is bounded, we obtain $t^{s-1}u_j \to t^{s-1}P\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}\right)$ and, hence, $u = P\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}\right)$ in L^2 . That yields $\pi^*g \in L^2(\Delta)$. With $\pi^*g \in t^{1-s}\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$ and the L^2 -extension theorem, we conclude $\pi^*g \in \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$.

$6 L^2$ -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

Second, we claim that ker $(\overline{\partial}_{s,w}: L^2_{1,0}(A^*) \to L^2_{1,1}(A^*)) \cong t^{s-1}\Omega^1_{L^2}(\Delta)$: f = gdz is in ker $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ if and only if $g \in \ker \overline{\partial}_{s,w}$. This is equivalent to $\pi^*g \in \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta)$. Since $\pi^*(dz) = t^{s-1}dt$, we infer that

$$\pi^* \colon H^{1,0}_{s,w}(A) \to t^{s-1}\Omega^1_{L^2}(\Delta), \pi^* f = t^{s-1}\pi^* g dt$$

is an isomorphism.

The Riemann extension theorem (see Theorem 2.13) implies $\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\Delta) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{L^2}(A)$ and the last statement.

Lemma 6.10. For $p \in \{0,1\}$, $\mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_{w,s} \colon L^2_{p,0}(A^*) \to L^2_{p,1}(A^*))$ and $\mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_{s,w} \colon L^2_{p,0}(A^*) \to L^2_{p,1}(A^*))$ both are closed, and $H^{p,1-q}_{w,s}(A) \cong H^{1-p,q}_{s,w}(A)$ for $q \in \{0,1\}$.

Proof: Since $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}^* = \vartheta_{s,w}$, $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}^* = \vartheta_{w,s}$, $\vartheta_{s,w} = -\overline{*}\overline{\partial}_{s,w}\overline{*}$ and $\vartheta_{w,s} = -\overline{*}\overline{\partial}_{w,s}\overline{*}$ (see Lemma 5.5), it is easy to see that Lemma 6.6 holds for $\overline{\partial}_{w,s}$ and $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$. We remark (cf. the proof of Lemma 6.7) that

$$\mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_{s,w})$$
 is closed $\Leftrightarrow \mathcal{R}(\vartheta_{w,s})$ is closed
 $\Leftrightarrow \mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_{w,s})$ is closed.

Therefore, it is enough to show that $\mathcal{R}(\overline{\partial}_{w,s})$ is closed.

Let $\varphi : \Delta^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be the smooth function defined by $\varphi(t) := (1-s) \log |t|^2$. Then, we get

$$t^{1-s}L^2_{p,q}(\Delta) = L^2_{p,q}(\Delta,\varphi) := \left\{ u \in L^{2,\mathrm{loc}}_{p,q}(\Delta^*) \colon \int |u|^2 e^{-\varphi} < \infty \right\}$$

for the L^2 -space with weight $e^{-\varphi}$.

We set $T_1 := \pi^* \overline{\partial}_{w,s} \iota^* \colon L^2_{0,0}(\Delta, \varphi) \to L^2_{0,1}(\Delta)$. The L^2 -extension theorem implies that T_1 is the (strong) closure of $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}} \colon L^2_{0,0}(\Delta, \varphi) \to L^2_{0,1}(\Delta)$. Therefore, T^*_1 is the weak closed extension of $\vartheta^{\varphi}_{\text{cpt}} \colon L^2_{0,1}(\Delta) \to L^2_{0,0}(\Delta, \varphi)$ which is defined by

$$(\overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}}\alpha,\beta) = (\alpha,\vartheta^{\varphi}_{\mathrm{cpt}}\beta)_{\varphi} := \int \langle \alpha,\vartheta^{\varphi}_{\mathrm{cpt}}\beta \rangle e^{-\varphi} dV.$$

We set $\overline{*}_{\varphi} := e^{-\varphi} \overline{*}$. Then, $T_2 := -\overline{*}_{\varphi} T_1^* \overline{*}$ is the weak closed extension of $\overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}} \colon L^2_{1,0}(\Delta) \to L^2_{1,1}(\Delta, -\varphi)$ because integration by parts implies $\vartheta_{\text{cpt}}^{\varphi} = -\overline{*}_{-\varphi} \overline{\partial}_{\text{cpt}} \overline{*}$:

$$(\alpha, \overline{\ast}_{-\varphi} \overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}} \overline{\ast} \beta)_{\varphi} = \int \alpha \wedge \overline{\ast}_{\varphi} \overline{\ast}_{-\varphi} \overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}} \overline{\ast} \beta = \int \alpha \wedge \overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}} \overline{\ast} \beta$$
$$= -\int \overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}} \alpha \wedge \overline{\ast} \beta = -(\overline{\partial}_{\mathrm{cpt}} \alpha, \beta) = -(\alpha, \vartheta_{\mathrm{cpt}}^{\varphi} \beta)_{\varphi}.$$

Hence, T_2 is $\overline{\partial}_w : L^2_{1,0}(\Delta) \to L^2_{1,1}(\Delta, -\varphi)$ in the sense of distributions. Since, for each $u \in L^2_{1,1}(\Delta, -\varphi) = t^{s-1}L^2_{1,1}(\Delta) \subset L^2_{1,1}(\Delta)$, there is a $v \in L^2_{1,0}(\Delta)$ with $T_2v = \overline{\partial}_w v = u$, the range of T_2 is closed. Thus, the range of T_1^* and the range of $\overline{\partial}_{w,s} = \iota^*T_1\pi^* : L^2_{0,0}(A^*) \to L^2_{0,1}(A^*)$ are closed, as well.

Analogously, we set $S_1 := \pi^* \overline{\partial}_{w,s} \iota^* \colon L^2_{1,0}(\Delta) \to L^2_{1,1}(\Delta, -\varphi)$ and $S_2 := -\overline{*} S_1^* \overline{*}_{\varphi}$. Then, S_2 is the weak closure of $\overline{\partial}_{cpt} \colon L^2_{0,0}(\Delta, \varphi) \to L^2_{0,1}(\Delta)$. $\mathcal{R}(S_2) = \{ u \in L^2_{0,1}(\Delta) \colon \exists v \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta, \varphi) = t^{1-s} L^2_{0,0}(\Delta) \text{ with } S_2 v = u \}$ $\supset \{ u \in L^2_{0,1}(\Delta) \colon \exists v \in L^2_{0,0}(\Delta) \text{ with } \overline{\partial}_w v = u \} = L^2_{0,1}(\Delta).$

Therefore, $\mathcal{R}(S_2) = L^2_{0,1}(\Delta)$ is closed. This implies the claim.

Summarizing, we computed (with $s = \text{mult}_0 A$):

$$\begin{aligned}
H_{w}^{0,0}(A) &\cong H_{s}^{1,1}(A) &\cong t^{1-s}\mathcal{O}_{L^{2}}(\Delta), \\
H_{w}^{1,0}(A) &\cong H_{s}^{0,1}(A) &\cong \Omega_{L^{2}}^{1}(\Delta), \\
H_{w}^{p,1}(A) &= H_{s}^{1-p,0}(A) &= 0, \\
H_{s,w}^{0,0}(A) &\cong H_{w,s}^{1,1}(A) &\cong \mathcal{O}_{L^{2}}(\Delta), \\
H_{s,w}^{1,0}(A) &\cong H_{w,s}^{0,1}(A) &\cong t^{s-1}\Omega_{L^{2}}^{1}(\Delta), \text{ and} \\
H_{s,w}^{p,1}(A) &= H_{w,s}^{1-p,0}(A) &= 0.
\end{aligned} \tag{6.11}$$

6.2 L²-cohomology of compact complex curves

We will prove Theorem 6.1 in this section. As a preparation, we consider the following local situation: Let A be a locally irreducible analytic set of dimension one in a domain $\Omega \in \mathbb{C}_{zw_1...w_{n-1}}^n$ with $A_{\text{sing}} = \{0\}$, let dV denote the volume form on $A^* := A_{\text{reg}}$ which is induced by the Euclidean metric, and let $z \colon A \to \mathbb{C}_z$ be the projection on the first coordinate. Let us mention (cf. e. g. Prop. in [Chi89, Sect. 8.1]):

Theorem 6.12. The set of all tangent vectors at a point of a onedimensional irreducible analytic set in \mathbb{C}^n is a complex line.

Thus, we can assume that $C_0(A) = \mathbb{C}_z \times \{0\} \subset \mathbb{C}_z \times \mathbb{C}_{w_1 \dots w_{n-1}}^{n-1}$, and, therefore, $dV \sim dz \wedge d\overline{z}$ (by shrinking Ω if necessary).

Let $\pi: M \to A$ be a resolution of A, $x_0 := \pi^{-1}(0)$. Then, $Z = (\pi^*(z))$ is the unreduced exceptional divisor of the resolution. After shrinking A and M again, we can assume that M is covered by a single chart $\psi: M \to \mathbb{C}$ with $x_0 \in M$ and $\psi(x_0) = 0$. We set $\zeta := \pi^*(z)$ and get $Z = (\zeta)$. $|Z| = (\psi)$ implies $Z - |Z| = (\frac{\zeta}{\psi})$. We obtain

$$\pi^*(dz) = d(\pi^*z) = \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial \psi} d\psi \sim \frac{\zeta}{\psi} d\psi.$$

Therefore, $\pi^*(dV) \sim \left|\frac{\zeta}{\psi}\right|^2 d\psi \wedge d\overline{\psi}$, and we conclude (recall the definition of line bundles L_D from Section 2.2):

$$f \in L^2_{p,q}(A^*) \Leftrightarrow \left| \frac{\zeta}{\psi} \right|^{1-p-q} \cdot \pi^* f \in L^2_{p,q}(M)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \pi^* f \in L^2_{p,q}(M, L_{(1-p-q)(Z-|Z|)}).$$
(6.13)

M. Nagase stated this equivalence already in Lem. 5.1 of [Nag90]. By use of the L^2 -extension Theorem 5.6, we get:

$$f \in \text{dom}\left(\overline{\partial}_{w} \colon L^{2}_{p,0}(A^{*}) \to L^{2}_{p,1}(A^{*})\right) \Leftrightarrow \pi^{*}f \in \text{dom}\left(\overline{\partial}_{w} \colon L^{2}_{p,0}(M, L_{(1-p)(Z-|Z|)}) \to L^{2}_{p,1}(M, L_{p(|Z|-Z)})\right).$$
(6.14)

The essential observation for the proof of Theorem 6.1 is the following:

Theorem 6.15. Let X be a compact complex curve and $L \to X$ a holomorphic line bundle. Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of X with exceptional divisor Z, and D a divisor on M such that $\pi^*L \cong L_D$, i. e. $\mathcal{O}(\pi^*L) \cong \mathcal{O}(D)$. Then,

$$\begin{split} H^{0,0}_w(X,L) &\cong H^0(M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z| + D)), \\ H^{0,1}_w(X,L) &\cong H^1(M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z| + D)), \\ H^{1,0}_w(X,L) &\cong H^0(M, \Omega^1(D)) \cong H^1(M, \mathcal{O}(-D)), \quad and \\ H^{1,1}_w(X,L) &\cong H^1(M, \Omega^1(D)) \cong H^0(M, \mathcal{O}(-D)). \end{split}$$

In [Par89, §5], Pardon proved that $H^{0,q}_{(2),\mathrm{sm}}(X^*) \cong H^q(M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z|))$, where $H^{p,q}_{(2),\mathrm{sm}}(X^*)$ denotes the $\overline{\partial}$ -cohomology groups with respect to smooth L^2 -forms. We will use similar arguments here.

Proof: Let x_0 be in X_{sing} , and let A be an open neighbourhood of $x_0 = 0$ in X embedded locally in \mathbb{C}^n . We assume that $A = A_1 \cup ... \cup A_m$ with at x_0 irreducible analytic sets A_i . For $M_i := \pi^{-1}(A_i)$, we obtain the resolutions $\pi_i := \pi|_{M_i} \colon M_i \to A_i$ of A_i . The sets M_i are pairwise disjoint in M and so are the supports of the exceptional divisors $Z_i = Z|_{M_i}$ of the resolutions π_i . We get $Z|_{\pi^{-1}(A)} = \sum_{i=1}^m Z_i$ and $|Z||_{\pi^{-1}(A)} = \sum_{i=1}^m |Z_i|$. Therefore, the consideration in the local case (see (6.14)) implies that $\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,0}(X^*, L) \to L^2_{p,1}(X^*, L)$ can be identified with

$$\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,0}(M, L_{(1-p)(Z-|Z|)+D}) \to L^2_{p,1}(M, L_{p(|Z|-Z)+D}).$$

Hence,

$$H^{0,0}_w(X,L) \cong \ker(\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{0,0}(M, L_{Z-|Z|+D}) \to L^2_{0,1}(M, L_D))$$

$$\cong H^0(M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z| + D))$$

and

$$H^{1,0}_w(X,L) \cong \ker(\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{1,0}(M,L_D) \to L^2_{1,1}(M,L_{|Z|-Z+D}))$$

$$\cong H^0(M,\Omega^1(D)).$$

Serre duality (see Thm. 2 in [Ser55, $\S3.10$]) implies

$$H^{1,0}_w(X,L) \cong H^0(M,\Omega^1(D)) \cong H^1(M,\mathcal{O}(-D)).$$

$6 L^2$ -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

To prove the other two isomorphisms, consider the following general situation: Let E be a divisor on M, L_E the associated bundle, and let $\mathcal{L}_E^{p,q}$ denote the sheaf on M which is defined by $\mathcal{L}_E^{p,q}(U) := L_{p,q}^{2,\text{loc}}(U, L_E)$ for each open set $U \subset M$. Let $E' \leq E$ be another divisor. Consider the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator in the sense of distributions $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}} : \mathcal{L}_E^{p,0} \to \mathcal{L}_{E'}^{p,1}$. Let $\mathcal{L}_E^{p,0}$ denote the sheaf defined by

$$\mathcal{C}_{E,E'}^{p,0}(U) := \operatorname{dom} \left(\overline{\partial}_{w,\operatorname{loc}} \colon L_{p,0}^{2,\operatorname{loc}}(U,L_E) \to L_{p,1}^{2,\operatorname{loc}}(U,L_{E'}) \right).$$

Then, $\mathcal{C}^{p,0}_{E,E'}$ is fine and, in particular, $H^1(M, \mathcal{C}^{p,0}_{E,E'}) = 0$. We get the sequence

$$0 \to \Omega^p(E) \to \mathcal{C}^{p,0}_{E,E'} \xrightarrow{\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}} \mathcal{L}^{p,1}_{E'} \to 0, \qquad (6.16)$$

which is exact by the usual Grothendieck-Dolbeault lemma because there is an embedding $\mathcal{L}_{E'}^{p,q} \subset \mathcal{L}_{E}^{p,q}$ (induced by the natural inclusion $\mathcal{O}(E') \subset \mathcal{O}(E)$, see (2.5) in Section 2.2).

This induces the long exact sequence of cohomology groups

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^{p}(M, E) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{E,E'}^{p,0}(M) \xrightarrow{\overline{\partial}_{w}} \mathcal{L}_{E'}^{p,1}(M) \xrightarrow{} H^{1}(M, \Omega^{p}(E)) \xrightarrow{} H^{1}(M, \mathcal{C}_{E,E'}^{p,0}) = 0 .$$

Hence, $\mathcal{L}_{E'}^{p,1}(M)/\overline{\partial}_w \mathcal{C}_{E,E'}^{p,0}(M) \cong H^1(M, \Omega^p(E))$. We conclude $H_w^{0,1}(X,L) \cong \mathcal{L}_D^{0,1}(M)/\overline{\partial}_w \mathcal{C}_{Z-|Z|+D,D}^{0,0}(M)$ $\cong H^1(M, \mathcal{O}(Z-|Z|+D))$

and, using Serre duality again,

$$H^{1,1}_w(X,L) \cong \mathcal{L}^{1,1}_{|Z|-Z+D}(M) / \overline{\partial}_w \mathcal{C}^{1,0}_{D,|Z|-Z+D}(M)$$
$$\cong H^1(M,\Omega^1(D)) \cong H^0(M,\mathcal{O}(-D)).$$

Theorem 6.1 follows now as a simple corollary by the use of the classical Riemann-Roch theorem for each connected component of the Riemann surface M, keeping in mind that by definition g(M) = g(X), deg $L = \deg \pi^* L = \deg D$ and $\operatorname{mult}'_x X = \sum_{p \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \deg_p(Z - |Z|)$ (see Section 2.2).

To deduce also a Riemann-Roch theorem for the $\overline{\partial}_s$ -cohomology, we can use the following L^2 -version of Serre duality:

Theorem 6.17. For each $p \in \{0,1\}$, the range of $\overline{\partial}_w \colon L^2_{p,0}(X^*,L) \to L^2_{p,1}(X^*,L)$ is closed. In particular, we get

$$H^{p,q}_w(X,L) \cong H^{1-p,1-q}_s(X,L^{-1}).$$

Proof: Recall the following well-known fact. If $P: H_1 \to H_2$ is a densely defined closed operator between Hilbert spaces with range $\mathcal{R}(P)$ of finite codimension, then the range $\mathcal{R}(P)$ is closed in H_2 (see e.g. [HL84], App. 2.4).

As M is compact, Theorem 6.15 implies particularly that the range of $\overline{\partial}_w$ is finite codimensional and, therefore, closed. Since $\overline{\partial}_s$ is the adjoint of $-\overline{*}\overline{\partial}_w\overline{*}$, the range of $\overline{\partial}_s\colon L^2_{1-p,0}(X^*,L^{-1})\to L^2_{1-p,1}(X^*,L^{-1})$ is closed, as well. That both ranges are closed implies the L^2 -duality (cf. Lemma 6.6)

$$\begin{split} H^{p,q}_w(X,L) &\cong \mathscr{H}^{p,q}_w(X,L) \cong \mathscr{H}^{1-p,1-q}_s(X,L^{-1}) \\ &\cong H^{1-p,1-q}_s(X,L^{-1}), \end{split}$$

where $\mathscr{H}_{e}^{p,q}(X,L) := \ker \overline{\partial}_{e} \cap \ker \overline{\partial}_{e}^{*}$ denotes the space of $\overline{\partial}_{e}$ -harmonic forms with values in L for $e \in \{w, s\}$.

Therefore, Theorem 6.15 yields:

$$\begin{aligned} H^{0,0}_{s}(X,L) &\cong H^{1,1}_{w}(X,L^{-1}) \cong H^{0}(M,\mathcal{O}(D)), \\ H^{0,1}_{s}(X,L) &\cong H^{1,0}_{w}(X,L^{-1}) \cong H^{1}(M,\mathcal{O}(D)), \\ H^{1,0}_{s}(X,L) &\cong H^{0,1}_{w}(X,L^{-1}) \cong H^{1}(M,\mathcal{O}(Z-|Z|-D)), \text{ and} \\ H^{1,1}_{s}(X,L) &\cong H^{0,0}_{w}(X,L^{-1}) \cong H^{0}(M,\mathcal{O}(Z-|Z|-D)). \end{aligned}$$
(6.18)

Haskell computed $H^{0,q}_{\text{cpt}}(X^*) \cong H^q(M, \mathcal{O}_M)$, where $H^{p,q}_{\text{cpt}}(X^*)$ denotes the $\overline{\partial}$ -cohomology groups with respect to smooth forms with compact support (see Thm. 3.1 in [Has89]). From (6.18), we obtain the dual version of Theorem 6.1, i.e. the Riemann-Roch theorem for the $\overline{\partial}_s$ cohomology: **Corollary 6.19** ($\overline{\partial}_s$ -Riemann-Roch). Let X be a compact complex curve with m irreducible components, $L \to X$ be a holomorphic line bundle and $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of X. Then,

$$h_s^{0,0}(X,L) - h_s^{0,1}(X,L) = m - g + \deg L, \text{ and} h_s^{1,1}(X,L) - h_s^{1,0}(X,L) = m - g + \deg(Z - |Z|) - \deg L,$$

where Z is the exceptional divisor of the resolution.

In [BPS90], J. Brüning, N. Peyerimhoff, and H. Schröder proved that $h_s^{0,0}(X) - h_s^{0,1}(X) = m - g$ and $h_w^{0,0}(X) - h_w^{0,1}(X) = m - g + \deg Z - |Z|$ by computing the indices of the differential operators $\overline{\partial}_s$ and $\overline{\partial}_w$. H. Schröder generalized this result to vector bundles in [Sch89].

6.3 Singular metrics

In this section, we will present the L^2 -Riemann-Roch theorem generalized to the case that the regular part of the complex curve carries a singular metric.

Let X be a compact complex curve and $\pi: M \to X$ a resolution of X. We set $X^* := X_{\text{reg}}$ and $M^* := \pi^{-1}(X^*)$. Let σ be a Hermitian metric on M^* , σ_0 a standard metric on M (all metrics are equivalent) and E a divisor on M with $|E| \subset M \setminus M^*$. We say that σ behaves like E if

$$dV_{\sigma} \sim |t|^{2k} dV_{\sigma_0}$$

close to each point $p_0 \in M \setminus M^*$, where $t: U(p_0) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a chart, $k = E(p_0)$ and dV_{σ} and dV_{σ_0} denote the volume forms which are given by σ and σ_0 , respectively. If $E \ge 0$, then σ is a pseudo-metric on M, i. e. σ is positive semi-definite on M. Consider the metric $\gamma_E := (\pi^{-1})^* \sigma$ on X^* and the Dolbeault cohomology groups $H^{p,q}_{w,\gamma_E}(X,L)$ given by the square-integrable forms on X^* with respect to the metric γ_E . We already computed that the standard metric γ_{std} on X^* coincides with $\gamma_{Z-|Z|}$, where Z is the exceptional divisor of the resolution π . **Theorem 6.20.** Let X be a compact complex curve and $L \to X$ a holomorphic line bundle. Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of X, γ_E a Hermitian metric on X^{*}, where $\pi^* \gamma_E$ behaves like the divisor $E \ge 0$ on M whose support is contained in $\pi^{-1}(X_{\text{sing}})$, and D is the divisor associated to π^*L . Then,

$$H^{0,0}_{w,\gamma_E}(X,L) \cong H^0(M,\mathcal{O}(E+D)),$$

$$H^{0,1}_{w,\gamma_E}(X,L) \cong H^1(M,\mathcal{O}(E+D)),$$

$$H^{1,0}_{w,\gamma_E}(X,L) \cong H^1(M,\mathcal{O}(-D)), \text{ and}$$

$$H^{1,1}_{w,\gamma_E}(X,L) \cong H^0(M,\mathcal{O}(-D)).$$

In particular,

$$h_{w,\gamma_E}^{0,0}(X,L) - h_{w,\gamma_E}^{0,1}(X,L) = 1 - g + \deg E + \deg L.$$

The proof of this is the same as the proof of Theorem 6.15. The assumption $E \ge 0$ is necessary to see that (6.16) is exact.

6.4 Weakly holomorphic functions

In this section, we will prove Theorem 6.3 by studying weakly holomorphic functions and a localized version of the $\overline{\partial}_s$ -operator.

Recalling the arguments at the beginning of Section 6.2, it is easy to see that the results of Section 6.1 generalize to arbitrary complex curves. In particular, the $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ -holomorphic functions on a singular complex curve are precisely the square-integrable weakly holomorphic functions (cf. Lemma 6.9), and the $\overline{\partial}_{s,w}$ -equation is locally solvable in the L^2 -sense (combine Lemma 6.8 and Lemma 6.10).

Let X be a singular complex curve, $\mathcal{L}_X^{p,q}$ the sheaf of locally squareintegrable forms, and let $\overline{\partial}_w \colon \mathcal{L}_X^{p,0} \to \mathcal{L}_X^{p,1}$ be the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator in the

6 L^2 -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

sense of distributions. For each open set $U \subset X$, we define $\overline{\partial}_{s,\text{loc}}$ on $L_{p,0}^{2,\text{loc}}(U)$ as the restriction of $\overline{\partial}_w$ to

$$\operatorname{dom} \overline{\partial}_{s,\operatorname{loc}} := \{ f \in \operatorname{dom} \overline{\partial}_w : \\ f \in \operatorname{dom} \left(\overline{\partial}_{s,w} \colon L^2_{p,0}(V) \to L^2_{p,1}(V) \right) \ \forall V \Subset U \}$$

(for more details, see Section 5.2 and [Rup14a, Sect. 6]). Let $\mathcal{F}_X^{p,0}$ be the sheaf of germs defined by

$$\mathcal{F}_X^{p,0}(U) := \operatorname{dom} \left(\overline{\partial}_{s,\operatorname{loc}} \colon L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{p,0}(U) \to L^{2,\operatorname{loc}}_{p,1}(U) \right)$$

Then, Lemma 6.9 implies that the sheaf of germs of weakly holomorphic functions $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$ coincides with $\mathscr{K}_{er}(\overline{\partial}_{s,\text{loc}}: \mathcal{F}_X^{0,0} \to \mathcal{L}_X^{0,1})$. Lemma 6.8 and Lemma 6.10 yield an exact sequence

$$0 \to \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X = \mathscr{K}_{\operatorname{\operatorname{\mathscr{E}r}}} \,\overline{\partial}_{s,\operatorname{loc}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}_X^{0,0} \xrightarrow{\partial_{s,\operatorname{loc}}} \mathcal{L}_X^{0,1} \to 0. \tag{6.21}$$

The sheaves $\mathcal{F}_X^{0,0}$ and $\mathcal{L}_X^{0,1}$ are fine and so (6.21) is a fine resolution of $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X$. Let $H_{s,\text{loc}}^{p,q}(X)$ denote the $L^{2,\text{loc}}$ -Dolbeault cohomology on X^* with respect to the $\overline{\partial}_{s,\text{loc}}$ -operator. Using $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_X = \pi_* \mathcal{O}_M$ and the first direct image $\pi_{(1)}\mathcal{O}_M = 0$, we deduce from (6.21) (by use of the Leray spectral sequence, cf. Theorem 8.5):

$$H^{0}(M, \mathcal{O}_{M}) \cong H^{0}(X, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{X}) = H^{0,0}_{s, \text{loc}}(X),$$

$$H^{1}(M, \mathcal{O}_{M}) \cong H^{1}(X, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{X}) \cong H^{0,1}_{s, \text{loc}}(X),$$

where $\pi: M \to X$ is a resolution of X. This proves Theorem 6.3.

6.5 Applications

There are many applications of the classical Riemann-Roch theorem. We will transfer two of them to our situation to exemplify how the L^2 -Riemann-Roch theorem can substitute the classical one on singular spaces.

6.5.1 Compact complex curves as covering spaces of \mathbb{CP}^1

Let X be a compact irreducible complex curve with $X_{\text{sing}} = \{x_1, ..., x_k\}$, let $(h_i)_{x_i} \in \mathcal{O}_{x_i}$ be chosen such that $(h_i)_{x_i} \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{x_i} \subset \mathcal{O}_{x_i}$ and let $U_i \subset X$ be a (Stein) neighbourhood of x_i with $h_i \cdot \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U_i) \subset \mathcal{O}(U_i)$ (for the existence of the h_i , see e.g. Thm. 6 and its Cor. in [Nar66, § III.2]). Choose an $x_0 \in X^* := X_{\text{reg}}$ and a (Stein) neighbourhood U_0 of x_0 . We can assume that $U_0, ..., U_k$ are pairwise disjoint.

We define a line bundle $L \to X$ as follows. Let $U_{k+1} = X^* \setminus \{x_0\}$ and choose $f_0 \in \mathcal{O}(U_0)$ such that f_0 is vanishing to the order r := $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} f_0 \geq 1$ in x_0 , which we will determine later, but has no other zeros. We also set $f_i := 1/h_i$ for i = 1, ..., k and $f_{k+1} = 1$, and consider the Cartier divisor $\{(U_i, f_i)\}_{i=0,...,k+1}$ on X. Let $L \to X$ be the line bundle associated to this divisor. As the f_i have no zeros for i > 0, there exists a non-negative integer δ such that deg $L = r - \delta$. Now choose $r := g(X) + \delta + 1$. It follows that deg L = g(X) + 1. Give L an arbitrary smooth Hermitian metric.

There is a canonical way to identify holomorphic sections of L with meromorphic functions on X. A holomorphic section $s \in \mathcal{O}(L)$ is represented by a tuple $\{s_i\}_i$ where $s_j/f_j = s_l/f_l$ on $U_j \cap U_l$. This gives a meromorphic function $\Psi(s)$ by setting $\Psi(s) := s_j/f_j$ on U_j . Note that $\Psi(s)$ has zeros in the singular points $x_1, ..., x_k$ and may have a pole of order r at $x_0 \notin X_{\text{sing}}$.

6 L^2 -Riemann-Roch for Singular Complex Curves

We can now apply our L^2 -Riemann-Roch theorem. The $\overline{\partial}_s$ -Riemann-Roch theorem, Corollary 6.19, implies dim $H_s^{0,0}(X,L) \ge 1 - g(X) + \deg L = 2$. Therefore, there is a section $\tau \in L^2(X^*,L)$ with $\overline{\partial}_s \tau = 0$ and τ_{k+1} is non-constant, where $\tau = \{\tau_i\}_{i=0,..,k+1}$ is written in the trivialization as above. This means that $\tau_i \in L^2(X^* \cap U_i), \overline{\partial}_s \tau_i = 0$, and $\tau_j/f_j = \tau_{k+1}$ is non-constant on $U_j \cap U_{k+1}$. Theorem 6.3 implies that $\tau_i \in \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U_i), i = 1, ..., k + 1$. Now consider $\Psi(\tau)$ as defined above, i. e. $\Psi(\tau) = \tau_i/f_i$ on U_i . We conclude that $\Psi(\tau)/h_i \in \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U_i)$, thus $\Psi(\tau) \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$ for i = 1, ..., k. Moreover, $\Psi(\tau)$ is non-constant, so it cannot be holomorphic on the whole compact space X, thus, must have a pole of some order $\leq r$ in x_0 . Hence, we get

$$\Psi(\tau) \colon X \setminus \{x_0\} \to \mathbb{C}, \text{ and}$$
$$\widetilde{\Psi}(\tau) \colon X \to \mathbb{CP}^1, x \mapsto \begin{cases} [\Psi(\tau)(x) \colon 1], & x \neq x_0\\ [1 \colon \frac{1}{\Psi(\tau)(x)}], & x \in U_0 \end{cases}$$

are finite, open and, therefore, analytic ramified coverings (see e.g. Covering Lemma in [GR84, Sect. VII.2.2]). In particular, $X \setminus \{x_0\}$ is Stein (use e.g. Thm. 1 in [GR79, $\S V.1$]).

6.5.2 Projectivity of compact complex curves

A line bundle $L \to X$ on a compact complex space is called very ample if its global holomorphic sections induce a holomorphic embedding into the projective space \mathbb{CP}^N , i.e. if $s_0, ..., s_N$ is a basis of the space of holomorphic sections $\mathcal{O}(X, L)$, then the map

$$\Phi \colon X \to \mathbb{CP}^N \ , \ x \mapsto [s_0(x) : \dots : s_N(x)], \tag{6.22}$$

given in local trivializations of the s_i , defines a holomorphic embedding of X in \mathbb{CP}^N . If some positive power of the line bundle has this property, then we say that it is ample. A compact complex space is called projective if there is an ample (and, hence, a very ample) line bundle on it. A classical application of the Riemann-Roch theorem is that any compact Riemann surface is projective, and a line bundle on a Riemann surface is ample if its degree is positive (cf. e.g. [Nar92, Sect. 10]). This generalizes to singular complex curves:

Theorem 6.23. Let X be a compact locally irreducible complex curve. If $L \to X$ is a holomorphic line bundle with deg $L \gg 0$, then L is very ample. In particular, X is projective and each holomorphic line bundle on X is ample if its degree is positive.

Clearly, this result is well-known and follows from more general sheaftheoretical methods (vanishing theorems) once one knows that L is positive if and only if deg L > 0 (cf. e.g. Thm. 4.4 in [Pet94b] or Satz 2 in [Gra62, § 3]). Nevertheless, it seems interesting to us to present another proof of Theorem 6.23 which is based on the L^2 -Riemann-Roch of singular complex curves. The assumption that X must be locally irreducible in Theorem 6.23 is not necessary. One can prove the result without this assumption easily by the same technique. Yet, to keep the notation simple, we present here only the locally irreducible case.

Let us make some preparations for the proof of Theorem 6.23. Let X be a connected complex curve and $\pi: M \to X$ a resolution of X. We choose a point $x_0 \in X_{\text{sing}}$ and a small neighbourhood $U \subset X$ of x_0 with $U^* := U \setminus \{x_0\} \subset X_{\text{reg}}$. Assume X is irreducible at x_0 . We define $p_0 := \pi^{-1}(x_0), V := \pi^{-1}(U)$, and $V^* := V \setminus \{p_0\}$. We can assume that there is a chart $t: V \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the image of t is bounded.

The Riemann extension theorem implies that $\pi^{-1} \colon U \to V$ is weakly holomorphic or, briefly, $\tau := t \circ \pi^{-1} \in \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U)$ (see Theorem 2.13). We show that τ generates the weakly holomorphic functions at x_0 in the following sense: Let f be in $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U)$. Then, $f \circ \pi$ is holomorphic on V^* and bounded in p_0 . This implies that $f \circ \pi$ is holomorphic on V, $f \circ \pi(t) = \sum_{\iota=0}^{\infty} a_{\iota} t^{\iota}$, and

$$f(x) = \sum_{\iota=0}^{\infty} a_{\iota} \tau(x)^{\iota}$$

(by shrinking U and V if necessary). This allows to define the order $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} f$ of vanishing of f in x_0 by $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ if $a_r \neq 0$ and $a_{\iota} = 0$ for $\iota < r$. In particular,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} f = \operatorname{ord}_{p_0}(f \circ \pi).$$

Note that this definition does not depend on the resolution as different resolutions are biholomorphically equivalent (see Section 2.2).

The L^2 -extension theorem (see Theorem 5.6) and (6.14) imply

$$f \in H^{0,0}_w(U) \Leftrightarrow t^{r_0} \cdot \pi^* f \in \mathcal{O}_{L^2}(V)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \left(\tau^{r_0} \cdot f \in \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U) \text{ and } f \in L^2(U)\right),$$
(6.24)

where Z denotes the exceptional divisor of the resolution and $r_0 := \deg_{p_0}(Z - |Z|)$. In particular, we get the representation $f(x) = \sum_{\iota \geq -r_0} a_\iota \tau(x)^\iota$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} f := \operatorname{ord}_{p_0} \pi^* f \geq -r_0$ is again well-defined. f is weakly holomorphic if and only if $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} f \geq 0$.

We denote by L_{x_0} the holomorphic line bundle on X which is trivial on $X \setminus \{x_0\}$ and is given by τ on U, i. e. the line bundle on X given by the open covering $U_1 := X \setminus \{x_0\}, U_0 := U$ and the transition function $g_{01} := \tau : U_0 \cap U_1 \to \mathbb{C}$. Then, $\pi^* L_{x_0} \cong L_{p_0}$, where L_{p_0} is the holomorphic line bundle $L_{p_0} \to M$ associated to the divisor $\{p_0\}$.

Let $L \to X$ be any holomorphic line bundle, $L' := L \otimes L_{x_0}^{-1}$, and let s'be a section in $H_w^{0,0}(X, L')$. We can assume that L and L' are given by divisors $\{(U_j, f_j)\}$ and $\{(U_j, f'_j)\}$, respectively, where $\{U_j\}$ is an open covering of X with $U_0 = U$ and $x_0 \notin U_j$ for $j \neq 0$ and where $f_j, f'_j \in \mathcal{M}(U_j)$ with $g_{jk} := f_j/f_k$ and $g'_{jk} := f'_j/f'_k$ in $\mathcal{O}(U_j \cap U_k)$ $(g_{j,k}$ and g'_{jk} are the transition functions of L and L', respectively).

We get $f_0 = f'_0 \cdot \tau$ and $f_j = f'_j$ for $j \neq 0$. There is a meromorphic function $\tilde{s} := \Psi(s') \in \mathcal{M}(X)$ representing s'. This meromorphic function is defined by $\tilde{s} = s'_j/f'_j$ on U_j , where s'_j is the trivialization of s' on U_j . We can define a section $s = \{s_j\} \in H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$ by $s_j = \tilde{s} \cdot f_j$. Thus, $s_0 = s'_0 \cdot \tau$ and $s_j = s'_j$ for $j \neq 0$. Hence, $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} s_0 = \operatorname{ord}_{x_0} s'_0 + 1$. Summarizing, we get an injective linear map

$$T: H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-1}_{x_0}) \to H^{0,0}_w(X, L), \ s' \mapsto s,$$

which we call the *natural inclusion*. It follows from the construction above and by use of (6.24) that each section $s \in H^{0,0}_w(X,L)$ with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} s_0 > -r_0$ is in the image of T.

As $H^1(M, \mathcal{O}(D')) = 0$ for a divisor D' with deg D' > 2g-2 by the classical Riemann-Roch theorem (cf. e. g. [Nar92, Sect. 10]), Theorem 6.15 (more precisely, $H^{0,1}_w(X,L) \cong H^1(M, \mathcal{O}(Z - |Z| + D)))$ implies the following vanishing theorem.

Theorem 6.25. If $L \to X$ is a holomorphic line bundle on an irreducible compact complex curve X with deg $L > 2g - 2 - \sum_{x \in X_{\text{sing}}} \operatorname{mult}'_x X$, then $H^{0,1}_w(X, L) = 0$.

As a preparation for the proof of Theorem 6.23, we get our main ingredient:

Lemma 6.26. Let $L \to X$ be a holomorphic line bundle on a connected compact locally irreducible complex curve X with deg $L > 2g - 1 - \sum_{x \in X_{\text{sing}}} \text{mult}'_x X$. Then, the natural inclusion

$$T: H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-1}_{x_0}) \to H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$$

is not surjective. If deg $L > 2g + r_0 - 1 - \sum_{x \in X_{sing}} \operatorname{mult}'_x X$, then there is a section $s \in H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$ which is weakly holomorphic on $U(x_0)$ and does not vanish in x_0 .

Recall that $r_0 = \text{mult}_{x_0} X - 1 = \deg_{p_0}(Z - |Z|).$

Proof: (i) As $\pi^*(L \otimes L_{x_0}^{-1}) \cong \pi^*L \otimes L_{p_0}^{-1}$, we get deg $L \otimes L_{x_0}^{-1} =$ deg L - 1 > 2g - 2 - deg(Z - |Z|). The $\overline{\partial}_w$ -Riemann-Roch theorem and $h_w^{0,1}(X,L) = 0 = h_w^{0,1}(X,L \otimes L_{x_0}^{-1})$ (using Theorem 6.25) yield

$$\begin{split} h^{0,0}_w(X,L\otimes L^{-1}_{x_0}) &= 1 - g + \deg(Z - |Z|) + \deg L \otimes L^{-1}_{x_0} \\ &< 1 - g + \deg(Z - |Z|) + \deg L = h^{0,0}_w(X,L). \end{split}$$

Therefore, the natural inclusion T cannot be surjective.

(ii) The image of $T^{r_0}: H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-r_0}_{x_0}) \to H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$ are the sections s with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} s_0 \geq 0$, i. e. s_0 is weakly holomorphic on $U(x_0)$, where s_0 denotes the trivialization of s over $U(x_0)$. As $H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-r_0}_{x_0}) \to H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-r_0}_{x_0})$ is not surjective (use deg $L \otimes L^{-r_0}_{x_0}$)

deg $L - r_0 > 2g - 1 - \text{deg}(Z - |Z|)$ and part (i)), there is a section $s' \in H^{0,0}_w(X, L \otimes L^{-r_0}_{x_0})$ with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0} s'_0 = -r_0$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_0}(T^{r_0}(s'))_0 = 0$. So, $s := T^{r_0}(s')$ is the section of $H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$ that we were looking for.

Proof of Theorem 6.23: Let X be a connected compact locally irreducible complex curve with $X_{\text{sing}} = \{x_1, ..., x_k\}$ and $L \to X$ a line bundle with deg $L \gg 0$. Following the classical arguments in order to show that the map Φ in (6.22) is a well-defined holomorphic embedding (see e. g. [Pet94b, Thm. 4.4]), we have to prove:

- (i) Φ is well-defined: For $x \in X$, there exists an $s \in \mathcal{O}(X, L)$ such that $s(x) \neq 0$.
- (ii) Φ is injective: For $x, y \in X$, $x \neq y$, there exists an $s \in \mathcal{O}(X, L)$ such that $s(x) \neq 0$ and s(y) = 0.
- (iii) Φ is an immersion: For $x \in X$, the differential $T_x \Phi$ is injective.

Since (obviously) Φ is closed, (ii) and (iii) imply that Φ is an embedding (see e. g. Sect. 1.2.7 in [GR84]).

We will prove the statements (i) and (iii) for singular points $x \in X_{\text{sing}}$. The case of regular points is simpler and follows easily with the natural inclusion and Lemma 6.26. The statement (ii) can be seen as (i) by imposing the additional condition that s(y) = 0.

Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities. Set $X^* = X_{\text{reg}}$, $M^* = \pi^{-1}(X^*), p_j := \pi^{-1}(x_j)$, and $r_j := \deg_{p_j}(Z - |Z|)$, where Z is the unreduced exceptional divisor of the resolution.

Fix a $\mu \in \{1, ..., k\}$, choose a neighbourhood U_{μ} of x_{μ} such that there exists a chart $t: V_{\mu} \to U_{\mu}$ with $V_{\mu} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $t_{\mu}(0) = x_{\mu}$, and set $\tau := t^{-1}$.

For each singularity x_j , we can choose a function $h_j \in \mathcal{O}(U_j)$ such that $h_j \cdot \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U_j) \subset \mathcal{O}(U_j)$ for a neighbourhood U_j of x_j small enough (see [Nar66, § III.2]). The number

$$\eta_j := \operatorname{ord}_{x_j} h_j$$

is important for our considerations because of the following fact: If f is a function on U_j with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_j} f \ge \eta_j$, then f/h_j is bounded at x_j ($\operatorname{ord}_{x_j} f/h_j \ge 0$). This implies $f/h_j \in \widehat{\mathcal{O}}(U_j)$ and, hence, $f \in \mathcal{O}(U_j)$. For the maximal ideal in \mathcal{O}_{X,x_j} , we get $\mathfrak{m}_{x_j} = \{f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x_j}: \operatorname{ord}_{x_j} f > 0\}$ and $\{f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x_j}: \operatorname{ord}_{x_j} f \ge 2\eta_j\} \subset \mathfrak{m}_{x_j}^2$.

We can choose a weakly holomorphic section $\sigma \in H^{0,0}_w(X,L)$ such that σ does not vanish in x_{μ} and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_j} \sigma \geq \eta_j$ for $j \neq \mu$. This section σ exists as we have the natural inclusion (see the construction above)

$$H^{0,0}_w\Big(X, L \otimes L^{-r_\mu}_{x_\mu} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \neq \mu} L^{-\eta_j - r_j}_{x_j}\Big) \to H^{0,0}_w(X, L)$$

and deg $L \gg 0$ implies by Lemma 6.26 that the natural inclusion $H^{0,0}_w \left(X, L \otimes L^{-r_\mu - 1}_{x_\mu} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \neq \mu} L^{-\eta_j - r_j}_{x_j} \right) \to H^{0,0}_w \left(X, L \otimes L^{-r_\mu}_{x_\mu} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \neq \mu} L^{-\eta_j - r_j}_{x_j} \right)$

is not surjective.

Note that σ is holomorphic on $X - \{x_{\mu}\}$ but just weakly holomorphic in x_{μ} . We will now modify σ so that it becomes holomorphic and nonvanishing in x_{μ} . Shrink U_{μ} such that $\sigma = \sum_{\iota \geq 0} a_{\iota} \tau^{\iota}$ on U_{μ} with $a_{0} \neq 0$. Let $\sigma' := \sigma/a_{0}$ so that $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{\mu}}(\sigma'-1) \geq 1$, i.e. $\sigma'-1 = \sum_{\iota \geq 1} a'_{\iota} \tau^{\iota}$ on U_{μ} . Choose as above a $\tilde{\sigma} \in H^{0,0}_{w}(X,L)$ with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{\mu}} \tilde{\sigma} = 1$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{j}} \tilde{\sigma} \geq \eta_{j}$ for $j \neq \mu$. Let $\tilde{\sigma} = \sum_{\iota \geq 1} \tilde{a}_{\iota} \tau^{\iota}$ close to x_{μ} with $\tilde{a}_{1} \neq 0$. We define $\sigma'' := \sigma' - \frac{a'_{1}}{\tilde{a}_{1}} \tilde{\sigma}$. Then, $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{\mu}}(\sigma''-1) \geq 2$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{j}} \sigma'' \geq \eta_{j}$ for $j \neq \mu$. We repeat this procedure recursively to get a section $\xi = \{\xi_{j}\} \in H^{0,0}_{w}(X,L)$ with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{\mu}}(\xi_{\mu}-1) \geq \eta_{\mu}$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{j}} \xi_{j} \geq \eta_{j}$ for $j \neq \mu$. Thus, ξ is a holomorphic section on X, non-vanishing in x_{μ} .

We will prove (iii) for x_{μ} . Let $v \in T_{x_{\mu}} X \stackrel{(2.16)}{=} (\mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}/\mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2)^*$ satisfy $v \neq 0$, i. e. there exists an $f \in \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}$ with $v(f + \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2) \neq 0$. We claim there exists a $g \in \mathfrak{m}_{\Phi(x_{\mu})}$ with $g \circ \Phi - f \in \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2$. Then, $v(g \circ \Phi + \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2) = v(f + \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2) \neq 0$, i. e. $T_x \Phi(v) \neq 0$.

Proof of the claim: Replacing 1 with $f = \sum_{i \ge 1} f_i \tau^i$, we can repeat the procedure in (i) to construct a section $\xi = \{\xi_j\} \in H^{0,0}_w(X,L)$ with $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{\mu}}(\xi_{\mu} - f) \geq 2\eta_{\mu}$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{x_{j}}\xi_{j} \geq \eta_{j}$ for $j \neq \mu$. We get ξ is holomorphic, $\xi_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}$ and

$$\xi_{\mu} - f \in \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^2.$$

Let Φ be defined by $\Phi(x) = [s_0(x):...:s_N(x)]$ with holomorphic sections $s_i = \{s_{ij}\}$ (see (6.22)). Hence, we can choose a vector $(g_0, ..., g_N) \in \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$ such that $\xi = \sum_i g_i s_i$. Because of (i), there exits an i_0 such that $c := s_{i_0\mu}(x_\mu) \neq 0$ – we can assume $i_0 = 0$. We set $U := \{x \in U_\mu: s_{0\mu}(x) \neq 0\}$ and identify $\{[t_0:...:t_N]: t_0 = 1\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^N$ with \mathbb{C}^N such that $\Phi|_U: U \to \mathbb{C}^N$ is defined by $\Phi(x) = \left(\frac{s_{1\mu}(x)}{s_{0\mu}(x)}, ..., \frac{s_{N\mu}(x)}{s_{0\mu}(x)}\right)$. Let $g: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}$ denote the holomorphic function $g(t_1, ..., t_N) := c \cdot (g_0 + \sum_{i=1}^N g_i t_i)$, i.e.

$$s_{0\mu} \cdot (g \circ \Phi|_U) = c \sum_{i=0}^N g_i s_{i\mu} = c \cdot \xi_\mu$$

on U. Since $c = s_{0\mu}(x_{\mu}) \neq 0$ and since f and $\frac{c}{s_{0\mu}} - 1$ are in $\mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}$, we get $g \in \mathfrak{m}_{\Phi(x_{\mu})}$ and

$$g \circ \Phi - f = \frac{c}{s_{0\mu}} \left(\xi_{\mu} - f\right) + f \cdot \left(\frac{c}{s_{0\mu}} - 1\right) \in \mathfrak{m}_{x_{\mu}}^{2}.$$

For this proof, L has to satisfy

$$\deg L > 2g + \max\{\eta_j\} + \sum_{j=1}^k (\eta_j + r_j) - \deg(Z - |Z|)$$

= 2g + max{ η_j } + k + $\sum_{j=1}^k \eta_j$.
Chapter 7 Nakano Semi-positive Vector Bundles on Complex Manifolds

In this chapter, we first generalize K. Takegoshi's vanishing theorem [Tak85, Thm. 2.1] to Nakano semi-positive vector bundles, using mainly the argumentation as in Takegoshi's original proof (also presented in [Ser15, Sect. 2]). In Section 7.1, we recall the definition of positivity for vector bundles. The key lemmata (positivity statements and an a-priori-estimate) are achieved by L^2 -methods elaborated by J.-P. Demailly in [Dem02] (see Section 7.2). In Section 7.3, we state L^2 -vanishing theorems for Nakano semi-positive vector bundles on complex manifolds including generalizations of Takegoshi and Donnelly-Fefferman-Ohsawa.

7.1 Positivity for vector bundles

Def. 7.1. Let M be a Hermitian manifold of dimension n, and let $E \to M$ be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r with Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E$. We call a tensor $u \in T_x M \otimes E_x$ of rank m if $m \ge 0$ is the smallest integer such that u is the sum $\sum_{j=1}^m \xi_j \otimes s_j$ of m pure / simple tensors $\xi_j \otimes s_j$ with $\xi_j \in T_x M$ and $s_j \in E_x$. A Hermitian form h on $T_x M \otimes E_x$ is called m-(semi-)positive if h(u, u) > 0 (or ≥ 0 resp.) for every tensor $u \in T_x M \otimes E_x \setminus \{0\}$ of rank $\le m$. We say E is m-(semi-)positive if the Hermitian form associated to the Chern curvature $i\Theta(E)$ is m-(semi-)positive in each point $x \in M$ and write $E >_m 0$ (or $E \ge_m 0$ resp.). We call E Griffiths (semi-) positive if E is

1-(semi-)positive, and Nakano (semi-) positive if E is $\min\{n, r\}$ -(semi-) positive, i. e. $i\Theta(E)$ is (semi-) positive in the classical sense.

If ω denotes the Hermitian form on M, then Λ denotes the formal adjoint of the operator $\omega \wedge \cdot$, and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\omega,E}$ is the metric on $\Lambda^{s,t}T^*M \otimes E$ given by ω and the Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E$.

As a more or less immediate consequence of Def. 7.1, we get (see e.g. Lem. VII.7.2 in [Dem12]):

Lemma 7.2. Let E be an m-semi-positive holomorphic vector bundle on a Kähler manifold M of rank r. If $t \ge 1$ and $m \ge \min\{n - t + 1, r\}$, then the Hermitian operator $i\Theta(E) \land \Lambda$ is semi-positive definite on $\Lambda^{n,t}T^*M \otimes E$ and, particularly,

$$\langle \mathrm{i}\Theta(E) \wedge \Lambda w, w \rangle_{\omega,E} \ge 0 \quad \forall \ w \in \mathscr{D}^{n,t}(M,E).$$

Sketch of the proof: The proof is more or less straight forward but very technical. Hence, we will just present a sketch of it to emphasize where the assumptions are used.

Let ω denote the Kähler form of X and fix a point $x \in M$. We can choose coordinates $(z_1, ..., z_n)$ of M around x with orthonormal $(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1}, ..., \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n})$ and such that $\omega = \omega(x) = i \sum_{j=1}^n dz_j \wedge d\overline{z}_j$. Let $(e_1, ..., e_r)$ be an orthonormal frame of E. Then, there exist coefficients $c_{jk\lambda\mu} \in \mathbb{C}$ with

$$i\Theta(E) = i\Theta(E)(x) = i\sum_{j,k,\lambda,\mu} c_{jk\lambda\mu} dz_j \wedge d\overline{z}_k \otimes e_\lambda^* \otimes e_\mu$$

and $c_{kj\mu\lambda} = \overline{c_{jk\lambda\mu}}$. In particular,

$$\theta_E \Big(\sum_{j,\lambda} u_{j\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} \otimes e_{\lambda}, \sum_{k,\mu} v_{k\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} \otimes e_{\mu} \Big) := \sum_{j,k,\lambda,\mu} c_{jk\lambda\mu} \cdot u_{j\lambda} \overline{v}_{k\mu}$$

is a Hermitian form on $T_x M \otimes E_x \cong \mathbb{C}^{nr}$. The *m*-semi-positivity of *E* can be characterized by: $\theta_E(u, u)$ is semi-positive for all tensors $u \in T_x M \otimes E_x$ of rank $\leq m$.

For all
$$(n, t)$$
-forms $w = \sum_{K,\lambda} w_{K,\lambda} dz_{\{1,..,n\}} \wedge d\overline{z}_K \otimes e_{\lambda}$, we get
 $\langle i\Theta(E) \wedge \Lambda w, w \rangle = \sum_{|S|=t-1} \sum_{j,k,\lambda,\mu} c_{jk\lambda\mu} w_{jS,\lambda} \overline{w}_{kS,\mu}.$

Actually, a similar formula can be computed for forms of arbitrary degree. Yet, there occur summands whose signs will not be manageable. Fortunately, these summands vanish for (n, t)-forms.

Since $w_{jS} = 0$ for $j \in S$, we obtain

$$\langle \mathrm{i}\Theta(E) \wedge \Lambda w, w \rangle = \sum_{|S|=t-1} \theta_E(\widetilde{w}_S, \widetilde{w}_S),$$

where $\widetilde{w}_S := \sum_{j \notin S, \lambda \in \{1,..,r\}} w_{jS,\lambda}$. Yet, \widetilde{w}_S is a tensor of rank less or equal to both, r and n - |S| = n - t + 1. Since E is r- and (n - t + 1)-semipositive, we get $\theta_E(\widetilde{w}_S, \widetilde{w}_S) \ge 0$.

7.2 A-priori-estimates for the ∂ -operator

Let M be a weakly 1-complete Kähler manifold of dimension n, ω the Kähler form on M, and let Φ be a plurisubharmonic smooth exhaustion function of M. Let $\lambda \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be an increasing convex smooth function with $\lambda(t) = 0$ for $t \leq 0$ and $\int \sqrt{\lambda''(t)} dt = +\infty$. By replacing, firstly, Φ by $\lambda \circ \exp \circ \Phi$ and, secondly, ω by $\omega + i\partial \overline{\partial} \Phi$, we can assume that $\Phi > 0$ and that the Kähler metric associated to ω is complete (see e.g. Prop. 12.10 in [Dem02]).

Let dV be the volume form on M induced by ω . We define the weighted product of u and v in $\mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E)$ by

$$(u,v)_{\Phi} := \int_{M} \langle u,v \rangle_{\omega,E} \cdot e^{-\Phi} dV$$

and set $||u||_{\Phi} := \sqrt{(u, u)_{\Phi}}$. Let $\vartheta_{\Phi} : \mathscr{E}^{s,t+1}(M, E) \to \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M, E)$ denote the formal adjoint of $\overline{\partial} : \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M, E) \to \mathscr{E}^{s,t+1}(M, E)$ with respect to $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\Phi}$.

We obtain the following a-priori-estimate for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator:

Lemma 7.3. For all $t \ge 1$ and $w \in \mathscr{D}^{n,t}(M, E)$: $(i(\Theta(E) + \partial \overline{\partial} \Phi) \wedge \Lambda w, w)_{\Phi} \le \|\overline{\partial} w\|_{\Phi}^{2} + \|\vartheta_{\Phi} w\|_{\Phi}^{2}.$

7 Nakano Semi-positive Vector Bundles on Manifolds

Proof: Let L denote the trivial line bundle $M \times \mathbb{C}$ with the Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_L := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathbb{C}} e^{-\Phi}$. Then, $i\Theta(L) = i\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi$. Let $F := E \otimes L$ denote the vector bundle with the metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_F$ induced by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_L$. We can assume $\mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E) = \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, F)$ by identifying $u \otimes g = (g \wedge u) \otimes 1$ with $g \wedge u$ for $u \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E), g \in \mathcal{O}(L)$. Thus, we get $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_F = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E \cdot e^{-\Phi}$. With

$$\Theta(F) = \Theta(E) \otimes \mathrm{id}_L + \mathrm{id}_E \otimes \Theta(L)$$

(cf. [Dem12, \S V.4]), we conclude for $u \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E)$:

$$\Theta(F) \wedge u = \Theta(F) \wedge (u \otimes 1) = (\Theta(E) \wedge u) \otimes 1 + u \otimes \Theta(L)$$
$$= (\Theta(E) + \Theta(L)) \wedge u \otimes 1 = (\Theta(E) + \partial \overline{\partial} \Phi) \wedge u.$$

Let $\Delta_F^{(i)} := D_F^{(i)} D_F^{(i)*} + D_F^{(i)*} D_F^{(i)}$ denote the Laplace-Beltrami operators, where $D_F = D'_F + D''_F$ is the Chern connection with respect to the metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E e^{-\Phi}$. Note that $D''_F = \overline{\partial}$ and $(D''_F)^* = \vartheta_{\Phi}$. Recall the Bochner-Kodaira-Nakano identity (see e. g. [Dem02, Sect. 13.2]):

$$\Delta_F'' = \Delta_F' + [\mathrm{i}\Theta(F), \Lambda],$$

where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the graded Lie bracket, i.e. $[P_1, P_2] = P_1P_2 + (-1)^{p_1 \cdot p_2} P_2 P_1$ for differential operators P_i with degree p_i , i = 1, 2.

Integration by parts yields

$$(\Delta_F^{(i)}u, u)_{\Phi} = \|D_F^{(i)}u\|_{\Phi}^2 + \|(D_F^{(i)})^*u\|_{\Phi}^2 \quad \forall \ u \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E).$$

Altogether, we conclude

$$\begin{split} \|\overline{\partial}w\|_{\Phi}^{2} + \|\vartheta_{\Phi}w\|_{\Phi}^{2} &= (\Delta_{F}''w, w)_{\Phi} \\ &= \|D_{F}'w\|_{\Phi}^{2} + \|(D_{F}')^{*}w\|_{\Phi}^{2} + ([\mathrm{i}\Theta(F), \Lambda]w, w)_{\Phi} \\ &\geq \int_{M} \langle \mathrm{i}\Theta(F) \wedge \Lambda w, w \rangle_{\omega, E} e^{-\Phi} dV \\ &= (\mathrm{i}(\Theta(E) + \partial\overline{\partial}\Phi) \wedge \Lambda w, w)_{\Phi} \end{split}$$

for all $w \in \mathscr{D}^{n,t}(M, E)$.

We will combine the a-priori-estimate with the following positivity statement:

Lemma 7.4. Choose some integers q, t with $t \ge q \ge 1$. Then, there is a non-negative (bounded) continuous function δ on M such that $\delta(x) > 0$ for all points $x \in M$ satisfying $\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x > n - q$, and

$$\delta \cdot \langle w, w \rangle_{\omega, E} \leq \langle \mathrm{i} \partial \overline{\partial} \Phi \wedge \Lambda w, w \rangle_{\omega, E} \; \forall \; w \in \mathscr{D}^{n, t}(M, E).$$

Proof: Fix a point x in M. There is a base $\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}\right\}_{j=1}^n$ of $T_x^{\mathbb{C}}M$ such that

$$\omega(x) = i \sum_{j=1}^{n} dz_j \wedge d\overline{z}_j \text{ and } i\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi(x) = i \sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_j dz_j \wedge d\overline{z}_j$$

with $\delta_1, ..., \delta_n \in \mathbb{R}$. For $u = \sum u_{JK} dz_J \wedge d\overline{z}_K \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M)$, we get (see e. g. Prop. 6.8 in [Dem02, Sect. 6.B])

$$\left[i\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi,\Lambda\right]u(x) = \sum_{J,K} \left(\sum_{j\in J}\delta_j + \sum_{j\in K}\delta_j - \sum_{j=1}^n\delta_j\right)u_{J,K}(x)dz_J \wedge d\overline{z}_K.$$
(7.5)

Let us define $\delta_{J,K} := \sum_{j \in J} \delta_j + \sum_{j \in K} \delta_j - \sum_{j=1}^n \delta_j$. Choose a frame $\{e_1, ..., e_r\}$ of E on a small open neighbourhood of x. Let $(h_{\lambda\mu})$ denote the Hermitian matrix associated to the Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E$ on E such that $\langle u, v \rangle_{\omega,E} = \sum_{\lambda,\mu=1}^r h_{\lambda\mu} \langle u_{\lambda}, v_{\mu} \rangle_{\omega}$ for $u = \sum u_{\lambda} \otimes e_{\lambda}$, $v = \sum v_{\lambda} \otimes e_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E)$. For $u = \sum u_{J,K,\lambda} dz_J \wedge d\overline{z}_K \otimes e_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M, E)$, we obtain (in the point x):

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \left[\mathrm{i}\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi,\Lambda\right] u,u\right\rangle_{\omega,E} &= \sum_{\lambda,\mu} h_{\lambda\mu} \left\langle \left[\mathrm{i}\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi,\Lambda\right] u_{\lambda},u_{\mu}\right\rangle_{\omega} \right. \\ \left. \begin{pmatrix} (7.5) \\ = \\ \sum_{\lambda,\mu} h_{\lambda\mu} \left\langle \sum_{J,K} \delta_{J,K} u_{J,K,\lambda} dz_{J} \wedge d\overline{z}_{K}, u_{\mu} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right. \\ &= \sum_{J,K,\lambda,\mu} \delta_{J,K} h_{\lambda\mu} \left\langle u_{J,K,\lambda} dz_{J} \wedge d\overline{z}_{K}, u_{J,K,\mu} dz_{J} \wedge d\overline{z}_{K} \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{J,K} \delta_{J,K} \left\langle u_{J,K}, u_{J,K} \right\rangle_{E} = \sum_{J,K} \delta_{J,K} |u_{J,K}|_{E}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where $u_{\lambda} := \sum_{J,K} u_{J,K,\lambda} dz_J \wedge d\overline{z}_K$ and $u_{J,K} := \sum_{\lambda} u_{J,K,\lambda} \otimes e_{\lambda}$. Now, we define $\delta(x)$ as the maximum of the q smallest δ_j (but not

Now, we define $\delta(x)$ as the maximum of the q smallest δ_j (but not greater than 1). Moreover, we get $\delta_{\{1,\dots,n\},K} = \sum_{j \in K} \delta_j \geq \delta(x)$ if

 $|K| \ge q$. Hence,

$$\left\langle \left[\mathrm{i}\partial\overline{\partial}\Phi,\Lambda\right] w,w\right\rangle_{\omega,E}(x)\geq\delta(x)\sum_{K}|w_{K}|_{E}^{2}(x)=\delta(x)\langle w,w\rangle_{\omega,E}(x)$$

for all $w = \sum w_K dz_{\{1,..,n\}} \wedge d\overline{z}_K \in \mathscr{D}^{n,t}(M,E)$ and $t \ge q$. Obviously, δ is continuous in x and positive where $\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x > n - q$. \Box

The three lemmata 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4 together imply, assuming that E is an *m*-semi-positive holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on M, that

 $(\delta \cdot w, w)_{\Phi} \le \|\overline{\partial}w\|_{\Phi}^2 + \|\vartheta_{\Phi}w\|_{\Phi}^2 \tag{7.6}$

for all $w \in \mathscr{D}^{n,t}(M, E)$ and $t \ge 1$ if $m \ge \min\{n, r\}$, i. e. E is Nakano semi-positive, or $t \ge \min\{n - m + 1, r\}$ else.

7.3 L²-vanishing theorems on complete manifolds

We keep the setting and notations of the former section. Further, let $L^2_{s,t}(M, E; \Phi)$ denote the square-integrable forms u with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\Phi}$, and let $\overline{\partial} = \overline{\partial}_w$ be the weak extension of $\overline{\partial}_{cpt}$ (cf. Chapter 5). Since the metric on M is complete, we obtain that the weak extension and the strong extension of the $\overline{\partial}_{cpt}$ -operator coincide. Therefore, $\vartheta_{\Phi} = \vartheta_{\Phi,w}$ in the sense of distributions coincides with the Hilbert-space adjoint of $\overline{\partial}$. Let $\overline{*}_{\Phi} : L^2_{s,t}(M, E; \Phi) \to L^2_{n-s,n-t}(M, E^*; -\Phi)$ be the weighted conjugated Hodge-*-operator defined by

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\omega, E} \cdot e^{-\Phi} = u \wedge \overline{*}_{\Phi} v \text{ for } u, v \in L^2_{s,t}(M, E; \Phi).$$

Recall $\sigma(\Phi) := \max_{x \in M} (\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x)$, where $H(\Phi)_x$ denotes the complex Hessian of Φ at x.

Theorem 7.7. Let M be a complete Kähler manifold of dimension n, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of M, and let $E \to M$ be a Nakano semi-positive holomorphic vector bundle. Then, the following groups of harmonic forms are zero for all $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$: $\mathscr{H}_{L^{2}(\Phi)}^{n,q}(M,E) := \{ u \in L^{2}_{n,q}(M,E;\Phi) : \overline{\partial}u = 0, \vartheta_{\Phi}u = 0 \} = 0 \text{ and}$ $\mathscr{H}_{L^{2}(-\Phi)}^{0,n-q}(M,E^{*}) = 0.$

Proof: Using that the given metric is complete, it is well-known that $\bar{*}_{\Phi}$ induces the L^2 -duality $\mathscr{H}_{L^2(\Phi)}^{n,q}(M,E) \cong \mathscr{H}_{L^2(-\Phi)}^{0,n-q}(M,E^*)$. Let hbe a harmonic form in $\mathscr{H}_{L^2(\Phi)}^{n,q}(M,E)$. Then, h is in the kernel of the elliptic weighted Laplace operator $\Box_{\Phi} := \Delta_{\Phi}''$ so that h is smooth, i.e. $h \in L^2_{n,q}(M,E;\Phi) \cap \mathscr{E}^{n,q}(M,E)$. As the metric is complete, $\mathscr{D}^{n,q}(M,E)$ is dense in dom $\overline{\partial} \cap$ dom ϑ_{Φ} with respect to the graph norm $u \mapsto ||u||_{\Phi} + ||\overline{\partial}u||_{\Phi} + ||\vartheta_{\Phi}u||_{\Phi}$. Hence, there is a sequence $\{h_k\}$ in $\mathscr{D}^{n,q}(M,E)$ with $h_k \to h$, $\overline{\partial}h_k \to \overline{\partial}h = 0$ and $\vartheta_{\Phi}h_k \to \vartheta_{\Phi}h = 0$ in $L^2_{n,\cdot}(M,E;\Phi)$. With (7.6), we obtain

$$\begin{split} (\delta \cdot h, h)_{\Phi} &= (\delta \cdot (h - h_k), h)_{\Phi} + (\delta \cdot h_k, h - h_k)_{\Phi} + (\delta \cdot h_k, h_k)_{\Phi} \\ &\lesssim \|h - h_k\|_{\Phi} \cdot \|h\|_{\Phi} + \|h_k\|_{\Phi} \cdot \|h - h_k\|_{\Phi} + \|\overline{\partial}h_k\|_{\Phi}^2 + \|\vartheta_{\Phi}h_k\|_{\Phi}^2 \\ &\to 0 \text{ if } k \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the harmonic form h vanishes on the open set

 $\{x\in M\colon \delta(x)>0\}\supset \{x\in M\colon \operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x>n-q\}.$

But, $\{x \in M : \operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x > n-q\}$ is not empty for $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$. So, the unique continuation theorem (see [Aro57]) implies that h vanishes on M.

Before proving Takegoshi's vanishing theorem for vector bundles on complex manifolds, let us recall the following criterion of A. Andreotti and E. Vesentini (see [AV63, Prop. 41 and Lem. 12]). For a differential form $v \in \mathscr{D}^{n-s,n-t}(M, E^*)$, we define the distribution

$$T_v \colon \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M,E) \to \mathbb{C}$$
 by $T_v u := \int_M v \wedge u$

Theorem 7.8. Let M be a complex manifold of dimension n, let $E \to M$ be a holomorphic vector bundle on M, let the Dolbeault

operator $\overline{\partial}: \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M, E) \to \mathscr{E}^{s,t+1}(M, E)$ be a topological homomorphism, and let $v \in \mathscr{D}^{n-s,n-t}(M, E^*)$ be a $\overline{\partial}$ -closed form with values in the dual vector bundle E^* . Then, the equation $\overline{\partial}w = v$ has a solution $w \in \mathscr{D}^{n-s,n-t-1}(M, E^*)$ if and only if $T_v u = 0$ for all $\overline{\partial}$ -closed $u \in \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M, E)$.

Theorem 7.9. Let M be a weakly 1-complete complex manifold of dimension n, and let $E \to M$ be a Nakano semi-positive holomorphic vector bundle on M. Assume that M admits a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ such that the sublevel sets $M_l := \{x \in$ $M : \Phi(x) < l\} \Subset M$ are Kähler, $l \in \mathbb{N}$ (i. e. M is Kähler on relative compact sets). Then, for all $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$:

$$H^{n-q}_{\rm cpt}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) \cong H^{0,n-q}_{\rm cpt}(M, E^*) = 0$$

if and only if $H^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ is Hausdorff. In this case, the following is equivalent:

- (1) $H^q(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ is Hausdorff.
- (2) $H^{n-q+1}_{\text{cpt}}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*))$ is Hausdorff.
- (3) $H^{n,q}(M,E) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M(E)) = 0.$

If M is holomorphically convex, then all mentioned cohomology spaces vanish.

Proof: The Dolbeault isomorphism theorem (see e.g. §1.3 in [GR79, Chap. B]) yields

$$\begin{split} H^t(M,\Omega^s_M(E)) &\cong H^{s,t}(M,E) \\ &:= \{ u \in \mathscr{E}^{s,t}(M,E) \colon \overline{\partial} u = 0 \} \big/ \overline{\partial} \mathscr{E}^{s,t-1}(M,E) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} H^t_{\rm cpt}(M,\Omega^s_M(E^*)) &\cong H^{s,t}_{\rm cpt}(M,E^*) \\ &:= \{u \in \mathscr{D}^{s,t}(M,E^*) \colon \overline{\partial} u = 0\} \big/ \overline{\partial} \mathscr{D}^{s,t-1}(M,E^*). \end{split}$$

Let us first prove the implication $H^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ Hausdorff $\Rightarrow H^{0,n-q}_{cpt}(M, E^*) = 0$:

Since $H^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ is Hausdorff, $\overline{\partial} \colon \mathscr{E}^{n,q}(M, E) \to \mathscr{E}^{n,q+1}(M, E)$ is a topological homomorphism on Fréchet spaces (see e.g. Prop. 6 of [Ser55]). Hence, the assumptions of Theorem 7.8 are satisfied for (s,t) = (n,q) and we can use it to show that $H^{0,n-q}_{\text{cpt}}(M, E^*) = 0$:

So, let $v \in \mathscr{D}^{0,n-q}(M, E^*)$ be $\overline{\partial}$ -closed. We have to show that v is $\overline{\partial}$ -exact. Choose an $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\operatorname{supp} v \subset M_l$ and $\sigma(\Phi|_{M_l}) = \sigma(\Phi)$, i. e. M_l contains a point x where $\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x$ is maximal. By Theorem 7.8, it suffices to show that $T_v u = 0$ for all $u \in \mathscr{E}^{n,q}(M_l, E)$ with $\overline{\partial} u = 0$. Fix such a u.

Choosing an appropriate smooth increasing convex positive function $\lambda: (-\infty, l) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ with $\lim_{t\to l} \lambda(t) = \infty$, we get

- (i) a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function $\Psi := \lambda \circ \Phi$ of M_l ,
- (ii) the Kähler metric given by ω is complete on M_l (replace ω by $\omega + i\partial \overline{\partial} \Psi$), and
- (iii) $u \in L^2_{n,q}(M_l, E; \Psi) \cap \mathscr{E}^{n,q}(M_l, E).$

Thus, $g := (-1)^{n+q} \overline{*}_{\Psi} u \in L^2_{0,n-q}(M_l, E^*; -\Psi) \cap \mathscr{E}^{0,n-q}(M_l, E^*)$ and $\vartheta_{-\Psi}g = 0$. Since $\ker \vartheta_{-\psi} \cap \ker \overline{\partial} = \mathscr{H}^{0,n-q}_{L^2(-\Psi)}(M_l, E^*) = 0$ (see Theorem 7.7), we get $g \in \ker \vartheta_{-\psi} = (\ker \overline{\partial})^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{Im}}(\vartheta_{-\Psi})$. Hence, there is a sequence $\{f_k\}$ in $\mathscr{D}^{0,n-q+1}(M_l, E^*)$ with

$$\|g - \vartheta_{-\Psi} f_k\|_{-\Psi} \to 0 \text{ if } k \to \infty.$$

Finally, we infer

$$T_{v}u = \int_{M_{l}} v \wedge u = \int_{M_{l}} v \wedge \overline{\ast}_{-\Psi} g = (v, g)_{-\Psi}$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} (v, \vartheta_{-\Psi} f_{k})_{-\Psi} = \lim_{k \to \infty} (\overline{\partial} v, f_{k})_{-\Psi} \stackrel{\overline{\partial} v = 0}{=} 0.$$

This shows that, indeed, $H_{cpt}^{n-q}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) \cong H_{cpt}^{0,n-q}(M, E^*) = 0.$

To prove the other implications, we use the following result of H. Laufer (see Thm. 3.2 in [Lau67]): There exist linear topological spaces $R = R^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ and $R_{\text{cpt}} = R^{n-q+1}_{\text{cpt}}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*))$ such that

$$H^{q}(M, \Omega^{n}_{M}(E)) \cong H^{n-q}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(M, \mathcal{O}_{M}(E^{*}))^{*} \oplus R_{\mathrm{cpt}},$$
(7.10)

$$H^{n-q}_{\text{cpt}}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) \cong H^q(M, \Omega^n_M(E))^* \oplus R,$$
(7.11)

$$R = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow H^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E)) \text{ is Hausdorff}$$
 (7.12)

$$R_{\rm cpt} = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow H^{n-q+1}_{\rm cpt}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) \text{ is Hausdorff.}(7.13)$$

Using (7.11), $H_{\text{cpt}}^{n-q}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) = 0$ implies that R = 0 and, hence, $H^{q+1}(M, \Omega_M^n(E))$ is Hausdorff.

If $H^{q+1}(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ is Hausdorff, then (7.11) implies

 $H^q(M, \Omega^n_M(E))^* \cong H^{n-q}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(M, \mathcal{O}_M(E^*)) = 0.$

If $H^q(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ is Hausdorff, then $H^q(M, \Omega^n_M(E))$ has to vanish, i. e. (1) \Rightarrow (3). The converse (3) \Rightarrow (1) is trivial. Finally, (7.10) and (7.13) give us (2) \Leftrightarrow (3), immediately. Actually, the equivalence (1) \Leftrightarrow (2) can directly be proven with functional analysis tools.

It is well-known that the sheaf cohomology groups for coherent analytic sheaves on holomorphically convex manifolds are Hausdorff (see Lem. II.1 in [Pri71]).

The result [Lau67, Thm. 3.2] of H. Laufer is a generalization of the Serre duality (see [Ser55, Thm. 2]). He treated the case where $\overline{\partial}$ is not necessarily a topological homomorphism.

Donnelly-Fefferman-Ohsawa vanishing theorem. For the proof of Theorem 1.3 in Chapter 10, we will need the following simple generalization of a theorem of H. Donnelly and C. Fefferman (see Thm. 1.1 and Prop. 2.1 in [DF83]) which was simplified by T. Ohsawa in [Ohs87, Thm. 1.1].

Theorem 7.14. Let M be a complete Kähler manifold of dimension n, and let $E \to M$ be a Nakano semi-positive holomorphic vector bundle on M. Assume that the Kähler form is given by $\omega = i\partial\overline{\partial}G$ for a smooth $G: M \to \mathbb{R}$ with bounded $|\partial G|_{\omega} \leq C$ (self-bounded gradient). If u is a $\overline{\partial}_w$ -closed square-integrable (n,q)-form on M with values in E, then there exists a $v \in L^2_{n,q-1}(M, E)$ with $\overline{\partial}_w v = u$ and $||v||_{\omega} \leq 4C||u||_{\omega}$, *i.e.* $H^{n,q}_w(M, E) = 0$ for all q > 0.

J. Ruppenthal proved this theorem for semi-positive line bundles (see Thm. 3.2 in [Rup14a]). Using Lemma 7.2, the proof generalizes easily to Nakano semi-positive vector bundles.

Chapter 8 The Relative Vanishing Theorem

In this section, we will present further generalizations of K. Takegoshi's vanishing theorem besides Theorem 7.9 above. Especially, we are interested in a generalization for torsion-free coherent analytic sheaves.

Let us first describe our setting and explain the notation. Let X be a weakly 1-complete complex space with Φ as plurisubharmonic exhaustion function. Recall that $\sigma(\Phi) := \max_{x \in X_{reg}} (\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x)$ is the maximal number of positive eigenvalues of Φ 's complex Hessian. We will assume that the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf \mathscr{K}_X is locally free. This is for example the case if X is Gorenstein and has canonical singularities (see Thm. 5.3 in [Rup14b] or Theorem 2.17). Recall that local freeness of \mathscr{K}_X implies that X is normal (see Theorem 4.21).

We say a complex space X is Kähler if there exists a Kähler form on the regular part X_{reg} such that each singular point $x \in X_{\text{sing}}$ has an open neighbourhood $U = U(x) \subset X$ which can be embedded in $V \subset \mathbb{C}^{d(x)}$ and a Kähler form η on V with $\eta|_{U_{\text{reg}}} = \omega$.

Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X. Recall that there exists a duality $L(\cdot)$ between the coherent analytic sheaves and the linear (fibre) spaces over X (see Section 3.2). We call \mathscr{S} Nakano semi-positive if there exists a smooth Hermitian form on $L(\mathscr{S})$ which induces that $R(\mathscr{S}) = L(\mathscr{S}^*_{X \setminus \operatorname{Sing}} \mathscr{S})$ is Nakano semi-positive (for more details, see Def. 8.11 or [GR70, § 1.2]).

Def. 8.1. We say that a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S} on X fulfils condition (+) if there exist a projective morphism $\pi \colon \widetilde{X} \to X$ with

locally free $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ and a semi-positive invertible coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{L} on \widetilde{X} such that $\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X \cong \mathscr{L} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}$. If these exist on all relatively compact holomorphically convex open subsets of X, we say that \mathscr{S} satisfies $(+)_{\text{loc}}$.

We can now state our first main result of this chapter:

Theorem 8.2. Let X be a weakly 1-complete connected (normal) Kähler space of dimension n with locally free canonical sheaf, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X, and let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaf on X with (+) such that $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal. Then, for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$,

 $H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0$ if $H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ and $H^{q+1}(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ are Hausdorff.

If X is holomorphically convex, then the Hausdorff assumption is always satisfied, [Pri71, Lem. II.1]. We remark also that the Kähler structure of X and the Nakano semi-positivity of \mathscr{S} are needed only on relatively compact holomorphically convex subsets of X (cf. Theorem 7.9).

The proof of Theorem 8.2 uses that the isomorphism induced by the Leray spectral sequence is already topological (see Theorem 8.5). Actually, this is easy to prove, although, to the knowledge of the author, it has not been observed in the literature (yet, [Pri71, Lem. II.1] and its proof is interesting in this context).

Obviously, locally free sheaves satisfy (+) and their associated linear spaces are normal. In this case, we get the vanishing theorem for arbitrary irreducible complex spaces (see Theorem 8.9). In Section 7.3, we already proved the result in the regular case (for vector bundles on manifolds). By use of the projection formula (see Theorem 4.10), we obtain Theorem 7.9 for singular complex spaces (see Section 8.1).

Since there is no projection formula for non-locally-free sheaves, the situation is much more complicated for such sheaves. Then, we need

to assume that $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal, and the additional semi-positivity property (+). If the linear space associated to $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ is normal, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathscr{S}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X\cong\pi_*(\pi^T\mathscr{S}\otimes\pi^T\mathscr{K}_X)$$

for all modifications π of X (see Theorem 4.2). In Remark 4.20, we have seen that the normality assumption on $L(\mathscr{S})$ is necessary for a generalization of Takegoshi's vanishing theorem that makes use of the monoidal transformation. Furthermore, one needs a suitable connection between $\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X$ and $\mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}$. If (+) holds, then we obtain $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ as the direct image of a Nakano semi-positive locally free sheaf tensored with the canonical sheaf. Using the Leray spectral sequence, we can, then, prove Theorem 8.2 (see Section 8.2.1). The last step was inspired by [GR70] of H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider. Analogously, one can prove the following corollary of Satz 2.1 in [GR70]:

Corollary 8.3. Let X be a compact normal Moishezon space with locally free canonical sheaf, and let \mathscr{S} be a torsion-free quasi-positive sheaf with (+) such that $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal. Then, for each q > 0,

$$H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0.$$

Let us add a few words on how to verify that \mathscr{S} satisfies (+). H. Rossi proved that there exists a projective morphism $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathscr{S}} \colon X_{\mathscr{S}} \to X$ such that $\varphi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free (see Thm. 3.5 in [Ros68] or Theorem 2.19). We called φ monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{S} . Moreover, we have the following useful fact (see Theorem 4.24): For any resolution $\pi \colon M \to X$ of singularities (such that $\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X$ is locally free), there exists an effective Cartier divisor $D \geq 0$ (with support on the exceptional set of the resolution) such that

$$\pi^T \mathscr{K}_X \cong \mathscr{K}_M \otimes \mathcal{O}_M(-D)$$

Hence, for the property (+) to hold, it is just needed that $\mathcal{O}(-D)$ is semi-positive.

In Section 9.2, we give an example where the assumption (+) holds for a non-locally-free sheaf. More precisely, we consider a semi-positive (reduced) ideal sheaf \mathscr{J} given by a submanifold on a holomorphically convex manifold and prove that \mathscr{J} satisfies (+). This is obtained by the semi-positivity of \mathscr{J} itself, which is an indication for a link between (Nakano) semi-positivity of a sheaf and (+). Using Theorem 8.2, we obtain a vanishing theorem for globally defined submanifolds (see Corollary 9.12).

The following result (a generalization of Thm. I in [Tak85]) is a conclusion of Theorem 8.2 proven in Section 8.2.2; the presented proof is derived from Takegoshi's.

Theorem 8.4. Let X be a normal complex space with a locally free canonical sheaf which is bimeromorphic to a Kähler space, let $f: X \to Z$ be a proper surjective holomorphic map onto a complex space Z, and let \mathscr{S} be a semi-globally (i. e. on relatively compact holomorphically convex sets) Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaf on X satisfying $(+)_{loc}$ such that $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal. Then, the higher direct images of $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ under f vanish for all $q > \dim X - \dim Z$:

$$f_{(q)}(\mathscr{S}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X)=0.$$

In Section 8.3, we finally study coherent analytic sheaves with torsion. We prove a generalization of Theorem 8.2 for q strictly greater than the dimension of the support of the associated torsion sheaf. For smaller q, we give a counterexample.

8.1 Irreducible complex spaces

In this section, we prove Takegoshi's vanishing theorem for locally free sheaves on irreducible complex spaces. For this, we indicate how a vanishing theorem as Theorem 7.9 yields vanishing of some higher direct image sheaves (relative vanishing theorem). We will need this observation later in the proof of Theorem 8.2 and Theorem 8.4, as well. **Theorem 8.5.** Let X be a complex space of pure dimension n, and let \mathscr{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X such that the following property is satisfied: For every relatively compact holomorphically convex open $U \subset X$ with a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ , we have $H^r(U, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for all $r > n - \sigma(\Phi)$. Further, we assume there is a proper surjective holomorphic map $f: X \to Z$ to a complex space Z. For each $r > n - \dim Z$, we get

$$f_{(r)}(\mathscr{F}) = 0.$$

If $\dim Z = n$, the isomorphism

$$H^q(X,\mathscr{F}) \cong H^q(Z, f_*\mathscr{F})$$

induced by the Leray spectral sequence is topological for all q.

Proof: Let r be a number greater than $n - \dim Z$, let z be in Z, and let $V \subset Z$ be a relatively compact Stein neighbourhood of z, i. e. there is a smooth strictly plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ of V. Then, $\Phi \circ f$ is a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of the relatively compact set $U := f^{-1}(V)$, which is holomorphically convex (using that f is proper). Since f is surjective, we obtain $\sigma(\Phi \circ f) = \sigma(\Phi) = \dim Z$. So, the assumption says $H^r(U, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ since $r > n - \dim Z$. Yet, the direct image sheaf $f_{(r)}(\mathscr{F})$ is the sheaf associated to the presheaf defined by $V \mapsto H^r(f^{-1}(V), \mathscr{F}) = 0$. That proves

$$f_{(r)}(\mathscr{F}) = 0.$$

If dim Z = n, the Leray spectral sequence (see [Ler50, Chap. II]) implies

$$H^q(X,\mathscr{F}) \cong H^q(Z, f_*\mathscr{F}).$$

Let $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a Leray Covering of Z, i.e.

$$H^{q}(Z, f_{*}\mathscr{F}) \cong \dot{H}^{q}(\mathfrak{V}, f_{*}\mathscr{F}).$$

$$(8.6)$$

Actually, the latter space defines the topology on the first one. If it is Hausdorff, it is independent of \mathfrak{V} (see Lem. 4.2 in [Kau67]). For $\mathfrak{U} := \{f^{-1}(V_i)\}_{i \in I}$, the definition of Čech cohomology implies $\check{H}^q(\mathfrak{V}, f_*\mathscr{F}) = \check{H}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$ with the same topology. Yet, we know that \mathfrak{U} is already a Leray covering of X, i.e.

$$H^q(X,\mathscr{F}) \cong \check{H}^q(\mathfrak{U},\mathscr{F}) = \check{H}^q(\mathfrak{V}, f_*\mathscr{F}) \cong H^q(Z, f_*\mathscr{F})$$

is topological as well.

Remark 8.7. If X is regular and \mathscr{F} locally free, Thm. 2.1 in [Lau67] says that the different topologies of a cohomology group given by Leray coverings, differential forms or currents coincide.

Let us recall the projection formula (see Theorem 4.10). If $f: Y \to X$ is a holomorphic map between complex spaces, if \mathscr{E} is a locally free sheaf on X, and if \mathscr{F} is a coherent analytic sheaf on Y, then

$$f_*\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{E}\cong f_*\left(\mathscr{F}\otimes f^*\mathscr{E}\right). \tag{8.8}$$

Using this fact, we obtain the following generalization of Takegoshi's vanishing theorem.

Theorem 8.9. Let X be a weakly 1-complete irreducible complex space of dimension n which is Kähler on relatively compact sets, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X, and let \mathscr{E} be a Nakano semi-positive locally free sheaf on X. Then, for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$:

 $H^q(X, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0$

if $H^q(X, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ and $H^{q+1}(X, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ are Hausdorff.

Proof: Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of the singularities of X (cf. [Hir64, Hir77]). Since X is irreducible, M is connected. We can assume that π is projective. This implies that M is Kähler on relatively compact open sets (cf. e. g. Lem. 4.4 in [Fuj78]). Since $\Phi \circ \pi$ is a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of M with $\sigma(\Phi \circ \pi) = \sigma(\Phi)$, Theorem 7.9 implies: For each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$,

$$H^q(M, \pi^* \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^n_M) = 0$$

if $H^{q/q+1}(M, \pi^* \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^n_M)$ are Hausdorff. Theorem 7.9 also implies that the assumptions of Theorem 8.5 are satisfied for $\pi^* \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^n_M$ over M and π , i. e. for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$,

$$H^{q}(X, \pi_{*}(\pi^{*}\mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M})) \cong H^{q}(M, \pi^{*}\mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M}) = 0$$

if $H^{q/q+1}(X, \pi_*(\pi^*\mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^n_M))$ are Hausdorff. With the projection formula (8.8) / Theorem 4.10, we obtain the claimed.

Theorem 8.5 and Theorem 8.9 immediately imply the following variation of Theorem 8.4:

Corollary 8.10. Let X be a Kähler space, let $f: X \to Z$ be a proper surjective holomorphic map onto a complex space Z, and let \mathscr{E} be a locally free Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaf on X. Then, for all $q > \dim X - \dim Z$,

$$f_{(q)}(\mathscr{E}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X)=0.$$

8.2 Vanishing theorems for torsion-free sheaves

In this section, we will prove the main theorems. Let us first recall the definition of Nakano semi-positive coherent analytic sheaves in the sense of H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider (see [GR70, \S 1.2]).

Def. 8.11. Let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on a complex space X, let $S := L(\mathscr{S})$ denote the associated linear space, let h be a Hermitian form on S (recall the definition of Hermitian form on a linear space in Def. 5.4). On the manifold $X' := X_{\text{reg}} \setminus \text{Sing } \mathscr{S}$, S is a vector bundle. We call \mathscr{S} Nakano semi-positive if there is a smooth Hermitian form on S which induces a Nakano semi-positive hermitian metric on the vector bundle $R(\mathscr{S}) = S_{X'}^*$ (cf. Def. 7.1).

If, furthermore, there exists a Zariski open set $X'' \subset X'$ (the complement of a thin analytic set) such that $R(\mathscr{S}_{X''})$ is Nakano positive, then \mathscr{S} is called *quasi-positive*.

If \mathscr{S} is locally free, then the linear space $L(\mathscr{S})$ is dual to the vector bundle associated to \mathscr{S} . Hence, in this case, the notions of Nakano semi-positivity coincide. We will need only the following fact: Let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive sheaf on a complex space, and let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification. Then, $L(\pi^*\mathscr{S}) = \pi^*L(\mathscr{S})$ and $L(\pi^T\mathscr{S})$ is embedded in $L(\pi^*\mathscr{S})$ because of $\pi^*\mathscr{S} \twoheadrightarrow \pi^T\mathscr{S}$. With the pullback on $L(\pi^*\mathscr{S})$ of the Hermitian metric on $L(\mathscr{S})$ and the restriction to $L(\pi^T\mathscr{S})$, we get that both, $\pi^*\mathscr{S}$ and $\pi^T\mathscr{S}$, are Nakano semi-positive sheaves on Y. Actually, this property is equivalent to the Nakano semi-positivity of \mathscr{S} because of the following fact (see [GR70, § 1.2]):

Lemma 8.12. Let M be a complex manifold and $(E,h) \rightarrow M$ a Hermitian vector bundle on M. If (E,h) is Nakano-semi positive on a Zariski open set M', then (E,h) is Nakano semi-positive on the whole of M.

8.2.1 Proof of Theorem 8.2

Let X be a weakly 1-complete normal connected complex Kähler space with a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ and locally free \mathscr{K}_X . Let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X with normal $L(\mathscr{S})$ and (+), i.e. there is a projective $\pi: \widetilde{X} \to X$ and a semi-positive locally free analytic sheaf \mathscr{L} of rank 1 such that $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free and $\pi^* \mathscr{K}_X = \pi^T \mathscr{K}_X \cong \mathscr{L} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}$.

The locally free sheaf $\mathscr{E} := \pi^T \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{L}$ is Nakano semi-positive.

The composition $\Phi \circ \pi$ is a plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of \widetilde{X} because π is proper and holomorphic, and $\sigma(\Phi \circ \pi) = \sigma(\Phi)$ since π is biholomorphic on a dense open set. Recall that

$$\sigma(\Phi) = \max_{x \in X_{\text{reg}}} (\operatorname{rk} H(\Phi)_x),$$

where $H(\Phi)_x$ denotes the complex Hessian of Φ at x. As X is Kähler and π is projective, the irreducible complex space \widetilde{X} is Kähler on relatively compact open sets (cf. e. g. Lem. 4.4 in [Fuj78]). Theorem 8.9 yields: For each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$,

$$H^q(\widetilde{X}, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}) = 0$$

if $H^q(\widetilde{X}, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}})$ and $H^{q+1}(\widetilde{X}, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}})$ are Hausdorff.

Theorem 8.9 also implies that the assumptions of Theorem 8.5 are satisfied for $\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}$ and π . Therefore, the suitable Hausdorff assumption implies

$$H^q(X, \pi_*(\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}})) \cong H^q(\widetilde{X}, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}) = 0 \ \forall \ q > n - \sigma(\Phi).$$

Since \mathscr{K}_X is locally free and $L(\mathscr{S})$ is normal, we get $L(\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ is normal. Therefore, Theorem 4.2 implies

$$\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X \cong \pi_*(\pi^T \mathscr{S} \otimes \pi^* \mathscr{K}_X) \cong \pi_*(\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{X}}).$$

$$(8.13)$$

8.2.2 Proof of Theorem 8.4

We will now use Theorem 8.2 to prove Theorem 8.4 with the help of Theorem 8.5. We also need the following fact.

Lemma 8.14. Let X be a reduced complex space bimeromorphic to a Kähler space and U a relatively compact open set in X. Then, there is a Kähler manifold M and a proper modification $g: M \to U$ of U such that $g_{(q)}(\mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega^n_M) = 0$ for all q > 0 and all Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaves \mathscr{F} on M with (+) and normal $L(\mathscr{F})$.

Proof: By assumption, there exists a Kähler space Y and a bimeromorphic map $\alpha: Y \dashrightarrow X$ given by its graph $\Gamma_{\alpha} \subset Y \times X$ as analytic set. Let $\operatorname{pr}_Y: \Gamma_{\alpha} \to Y$ and $\operatorname{pr}_X: \Gamma_{\alpha} \to X$ be the holomorphic projections such that $\alpha = \operatorname{pr}_X \circ \operatorname{pr}_Y^{-1}$. H. Hironaka's version of the Chow lemma (see Cor. 2 of the Flattening Theorem in [Hir75]) gives a projective, particularly, proper bimeromorphic morphism $\beta: \widetilde{M} \to Y$ which dominates pr_Y , i.e. there is a holomorphic $h: \widetilde{M} \to \Gamma_{\alpha}$ with $\operatorname{pr}_Y \circ h = \beta$. We can assume that \widetilde{M} is smooth by using a resolution of singularities. We obtain the following commutative diagram:

Then, $\widetilde{g} := \alpha \circ \beta = \operatorname{pr}_X \circ h$ is a proper modification of X. Moreover, $M := \widetilde{g}^{-1}(U)$ is a Kähler manifold – using [Fuj78, Lem. 4.4] for the projective $\beta \colon \widetilde{M} \to Y$ and the relatively compact set $\alpha^{-1}(U)$ in the Kähler space Y – and $g := \widetilde{g}|_M \colon M \to U$ is a proper modification of U. To prove $g_{(q)}(\mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega^n_M) = 0$, we will use Theorem 8.2: Let x be a point in U and W an open Stein neighbourhood of x in U, i. e. there is a smooth strictly plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Ψ of W. Since gis a proper modification, we get a plurisubharmonic exhaustion function $\Psi \circ g$ of $g^{-1}(W)$ with $\sigma(\Psi \circ g) = \sigma(\Psi) = \dim M$. Hence, the assumptions

of Theorem 8.2 are satisfied for the holomorphically convex Kähler manifold $g^{-1}(W)$ and any Nakano semi-positive torsion-free sheaf \mathscr{F} with (+) and normal $L(\mathscr{F})$. So, we obtain $H^q(g^{-1}(W), \mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega_M^n) = 0$ for all $q > \dim X - \dim M = 0$ and, finally, $g_{(q)}(\mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega_M^n) = 0$.

Proof of Theorem 8.4: Let X be a normal complex space of pure dimension n with locally free \mathscr{K}_X which is bimeromorphic to a Kähler space, let \mathscr{S} be a (semi-globally) Nakano semi-positive torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf on X with $(+)_{\text{loc}}$ and normal $L(\mathscr{S})$, and let $f: X \to Z$ be a proper surjective holomorphic map to a complex space Z. To prove the vanishing of the higher direct images of $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$, we have to check that the assumptions of Theorem 8.5 are satisfied, i. e. if a relatively compact open set $U \subset X$ possesses a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ , then $H^r(U, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0$ for $r > n - \sigma(\Phi)$.

Let $U \subset X$ be a relatively compact holomorphically convex open set with smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Φ . By assumption, \mathscr{S}_U satisfies (+), i. e. there is a proper modification $\pi: \widetilde{U} \to U$ and a semi-positive locally free sheaf \mathscr{L} on \widetilde{U} of rank one such that $\pi^T \mathscr{S}_U$ is locally free and $\pi^* \mathscr{K}_U \cong \mathscr{L} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{U}}$. In particular, the sheaf $\mathscr{E} :=$ $\pi^T \mathscr{S}_U \otimes \mathscr{L}$ is locally free and Nakano semi-positive. Since $L(\mathscr{S}_U \otimes \mathscr{K}_U)$ is normal, Theorem 4.2 implies

$$\mathscr{S}_U \otimes \mathscr{K}_U \cong \pi_*(\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{U}}).$$
 (8.15)

Since \widetilde{U} is bimeromorphic to U, it is bimeromorphic to a Kähler space, as well. Therefore, Lemma 8.14 gives a Kähler manifold M and a proper modification $g: M \to \widetilde{U}$ with $g_{(q)}(\mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega_M^n) = 0$ for $q \ge 1$ and $\mathscr{F} := g^* \mathscr{E}$.

For all holomorphically convex open $V \subset \widetilde{U}$ with smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function Ψ and $W := g^{-1}(V)$, we get

$$0 \stackrel{\text{Thm. 8.2}}{=} H^{r}(W, \mathscr{F} \otimes \Omega_{W}^{n}) \stackrel{\text{Leray}}{\cong} H^{r}(V, g_{*}(g^{*}\mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega_{W}^{n}))$$

$$\stackrel{(8.8)}{\cong} H^{r}(V, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{V}) \quad \forall r > n - \sigma(\Psi).$$

$$(8.16)$$

i.e. the assumptions of Theorem 8.5 hold for $\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{U}}$ and π . Therefore, Theorem 8.5 and (8.15) imply

$$H^{r}(U, \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{U}}) \cong H^{r}(U, \pi_{*}(\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{\widetilde{U}})) \cong H^{r}(U, \mathscr{S}_{U} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{U}).$$
 (8.17)
Using (8.16) for $V = \widetilde{U}$ and $\Psi = \Phi$, we obtain

$$H^{r}(U, \mathscr{S}_{U} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{U}) = 0 \quad \forall r > n - \sigma(\Phi).$$

In the proof, the Nakano semi-positivity of \mathscr{S} is just needed on preimages of small Stein sets in Z under f / on relatively compact weakly1-complete subsets of X (cf. Def. 8.1 of $(+)_{\text{loc}}$).

8.3 Sheaves with torsion

Let X be a holomorphically convex normal Kähler space of dimension n, Φ a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X, and let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive coherent analytic sheaf on X satisfying (+). We define $\mathscr{T} := \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})$ as the torsion sheaf of \mathscr{S} and obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{T} \to \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T} \to 0.$$

Assuming that the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf \mathscr{K}_X is locally free, we get the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X \to \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X \to (\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}) \otimes \mathscr{K}_X \to 0.$$

This yields the long exact sequence of cohomology:

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)(X) \longrightarrow (\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)(X) \longrightarrow (\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)(X) \longrightarrow \dots$$
$$\dots \longrightarrow H^q(X, \mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) \longrightarrow H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) \longrightarrow H^q(X, \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) \longrightarrow \dots$$
(8.18)

Since the restriction of the Hermitian metric on $L(\mathscr{S})$ induces a Hermitian metric on the embedded space $L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T})$, the torsion-free coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T} is Nakano semi-positive. \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T} inherits the property (+) from \mathscr{S} because $\pi^T(\mathscr{S}) = \pi^T(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T})$. Assuming that $L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T})$ is normal, we obtain $H^q(X, (\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}) \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0$ for all $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$ by Theorem 8.2. Thus, the long exact sequence (8.18) gives isomorphisms

$$H^q(X, \mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) \cong H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) \quad \forall q > n - \sigma(\Phi) + 1$$

and the surjective homomorphism

$$H^{n-\sigma(\Phi)+1}(X,\mathscr{T}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X)\twoheadrightarrow H^{n-\sigma(\Phi)+1}(X,\mathscr{S}\otimes\mathscr{K}_X).$$

On the other hand, \mathscr{T} and, hence, $\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ have support on an analytic set $A \subset X$ with $r := \dim A = \sup_{x \in A} \dim_x A < n$. Let $\iota : A \hookrightarrow X$ denote the embedding. As $\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$ is a coherent analytic sheaf with support in A, we have

$$\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X = \iota_* \iota^* (\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X).$$
 (8.19)

This is easy to see by working in the category of linear (fibre) spaces associated to coherent analytic sheaves: Let $L := L(\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)$ denote the associated linear space. For linear spaces, ι^* means nothing else but restriction of the linear space to the subvariety A, i. e. $\iota^*L = L_A$. On the other hand, ι_* means just a trivial extension of the space over A to X. Since L is trivial outside of A, we get $\iota_*(L_A) = L$. Note that (8.19) is not true for sheaves which are not coherent.

We get (cf. e. g. Prop. 5.2 in [Ive84, Chap. II])

$$H^{q}(A, \iota^{*}(\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{X})) \cong H^{q}(X, \iota_{*}\iota^{*}(\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{X})) \stackrel{(8.19)}{=} H^{q}(X, \mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_{X}).$$

Since $H^q(A, \iota^*(\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X)) = 0$ for q > r (see e.g. Thm. 10.2 in [Ive84, Chap. II]), we conclude:

Theorem 8.20. Let X be a holomorphically convex normal connected Kähler space of dimension n such that \mathscr{K}_X is locally free, let Φ denote a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of X, and let \mathscr{S} be a Nakano semi-positive sheaf on X with (+) and normal $L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S}))$. Then, we get, for $q > \max\{n - \sigma(\Phi), \dim \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})\},$

$$H^q(X, \mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X) = 0.$$

We give a counterexample to show that this result is sharp (with respect to the dimension). Let M be a holomorphically convex Kähler manifold of dimension n which is not Stein and admits a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function which is in (at least) one point strictly plurisubharmonic (consider e.g. the blow up of \mathbb{C}^n in a point). Let A be a compact analytic subset of M and $\iota: A \hookrightarrow M$ the embedding of A. For any $0 < q \leq \dim A$, one can find such spaces M and Aadmitting a coherent analytic sheaf \mathscr{F} on A such that $H^q(A, \mathscr{F}) \neq 0$. We set

$$\mathscr{S} := \iota_* \mathscr{F} \otimes (\Omega^n_M)^*.$$

 \mathscr{S} is Nakano semi-positive as it vanishes outside a thin set. Since $\mathrm{id}_M^T \mathscr{S} = \mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S}) = 0$, \mathscr{S} satisfies (+), and $L(\mathscr{S}/\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{S})) = M \times 0$ is normal. Yet, we have

$$H^q(M,\mathscr{S}\otimes\Omega^n_M)=H^q(M,\iota_*\mathscr{F})\cong H^q(A,\mathscr{F})\neq 0.$$

Chapter 9 Ideal Sheaves

In this chapter, we apply the generalized Takegoshi theorem to reduced ideal sheaves on manifolds. First, we study proper modifications of such sheaves by applying results from Chapter 4 in Section 9.1 (cf. Sect. 7 in [RS13]). In Section 9.2, we will use Theorem 8.2 to derive vanishing results for submanifolds of holomorphically convex manifolds (cf. Sect. 5 in [Ser15]).

9.1 Proper modifications of reduced ideal sheaves

In this section, we discuss the application of Theorem 4.1 to reduced ideal sheaves. As a preparation, note the following:

Lemma 9.1. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a surjective holomorphic mapping between complex spaces Y, X. Then, $\pi^* \mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Y$.

Proof: As $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X \subset \mathcal{O}_Y$, we have that $\pi^*\mathcal{O}_X = \pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X \otimes_{\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y$ because $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_X$ contains (the germ of) the function 1 at any point of Y.

Coming to reduced ideal sheaves, let us start with the following observation:

Lemma 9.2. Let X be a locally irreducible complex space and $A \subset X$ an (unreduced) analytic subspace with ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_A . Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a proper modification and $B := \pi^{-1}(A)$ the unreduced analytic preimage with ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_B . Then:

$$\pi^T \mathscr{J}_A = \mathscr{J}_B.$$

Proof: Consider the short exact sequence of sheaves over X:

$$0 \to \mathscr{J}_A \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X / \mathscr{J}_A \to 0.$$

By right-exactness of π^* , we deduce the exact sequence

$$\pi^* \mathscr{J}_A \xrightarrow{\pi^* \alpha} \pi^* \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \pi^* (\mathcal{O}_X / \mathscr{J}_A) \to 0.$$

Now, we use Lemma 9.1 twice: $\pi^* \mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Y$ and $(\pi|_B)^* \mathcal{O}_A = \mathcal{O}_B$ (which implies that $\pi^*(\mathcal{O}_X/\mathscr{J}_A) = \mathcal{O}_Y/\mathscr{J}_B$ using the definition of the analytic preimage, see e.g. Prop. 0.27 in [Fis76]). As \mathcal{O}_Y is torsion-free, it is clear that

$$\mathscr{T}(\pi^*\mathscr{J}_A) \subset \mathscr{K}_{er} \ \pi^* \alpha. \tag{9.3}$$

Consider $\pi^T \alpha \colon \pi^T \mathscr{J}_A \to \pi^T \mathcal{O}_X = \pi^* \mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Y$. By (9.3), it follows that $\mathscr{I}_m(\pi^*\alpha) = \mathscr{I}_m(\pi^T\alpha)$, and Lemma 4.23 tells us that π^T preserves injectivity, i. e. $\pi^T \alpha$ is injective. So, we obtain the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi^T \mathscr{J}_A \xrightarrow{\pi^T \alpha} \mathcal{O}_Y \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Y / \mathscr{J}_B \to 0,$$

telling us that in fact $\pi^T \mathscr{J}_A = \mathscr{J}_B$.

It is clear that \mathscr{J}_A and $\pi^T \mathscr{J}_A = \mathscr{J}_B$ are torsion-free, and so we obtain from Theorem 4.1 that:

$$\mathscr{J}_B \cong \pi^T \pi_* \mathscr{J}_B. \tag{9.4}$$

Under some additional assumptions, we have also:

Lemma 9.5. Let X be a normal complex space, and let A be a locally complete intersection or a normal analytic set in X with (reduced) ideal sheaf \mathscr{J}_A . Let $\sigma \colon \widetilde{X} \to X$ denote the blow up of X with centre A, i. e. the monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{J}_A , and let \mathscr{J}_B be the (reduced) ideal sheaf associated to the reduced exceptional set $B := \sigma^{-1}(A)$. Then:

$$\mathscr{J}_A \cong \sigma_* \mathscr{J}_B. \tag{9.6}$$

Proof: The statement is local with respect to X, so we can assume that A is the zero-set of reduced holomorphic functions $f_0, ..., f_m$. $(\mathscr{J}_A)_p$ is generated by the germs $f_{0,p}, ..., f_{m,p}$, and $\widetilde{X} \subset X \times \mathbb{CP}^m$ (see e.g. § 2.5 in [Rie71] for the monoidal transformation of ideal sheaves). We show that

$$\mathcal{O}_A \cong \sigma_* \mathcal{O}_B.$$

I) A is a complete intersection, i. e. m + 1 = codimA: We claim that $B = A \times \mathbb{CP}^m$. This implies, for all open subsets $U \subset A$,

$$\mathcal{O}_A(U) \cong \mathcal{O}_{A \times \mathbb{CP}^m}(U \times \mathbb{CP}^m) = \mathcal{O}_B(\sigma^{-1}(U)).$$

Let us now prove $B = A \times \mathbb{CP}^m$. Since A is a complete intersection, the Koszul complex implies that the monoidal transformation $\sigma \colon \widetilde{X} \to X$ is given by

$$\widetilde{X} = \{ (p; [t_0:..:t_m]) \in X \times \mathbb{CP}^m \colon t_i f_j(p) = t_j f_i(p), i, j = 0, .., m \}$$

and $\sigma = \operatorname{pr}_1|_{\widetilde{X}} : \widetilde{X} \to X$ (see e. g. [GR71, Sect. III.2.7]). Since $t_i f_j(p) = t_j f_i(p)$ for all i, j if and only if all $f_i(p)$ vanish in p, we get the claimed.

II) A is normal: In this case, B is an analytic subset of $A \times \mathbb{CP}^m$. By the surjectivity $\sigma(B) = A$, we get the injection $\mathcal{O}_A \cong \sigma_* \mathcal{O}_{A \times \mathbb{CP}^m} \hookrightarrow \sigma_* \mathcal{O}_B$. On the other hand, a section in $\mathcal{O}_B(\sigma^{-1}(U))$ gives a weakly holomorphic function on A: With part (I) applied on the regular part A_{reg} of A, we get a holomorphic function on A_{reg} which is bounded in points of A_{sing} . Since we assumed A to be normal, we get $\sigma_* \mathcal{O}_B \cong \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_A \cong \mathcal{O}_A$.

Thus, $\mathcal{O}_A \cong \sigma_* \mathcal{O}_B$, as desired. In other words: $\mathcal{O}_X / \mathscr{J}_A \cong \sigma_* (\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}} / \mathscr{J}_B)$. We obtain the following exact and commutative diagram:

It follows that in fact $\sigma_* \mathscr{J}_B \cong \mathscr{J}_A$.

In the situation of Lemma 9.5, we can now apply Theorem 4.1 to $\mathscr{J}_A\cong\sigma_*\mathscr{J}_B$ and obtain:

$$\mathscr{J}_A \cong \sigma_* \sigma^T \mathscr{J}_A. \tag{9.7}$$

9.2 Submanifolds of holomorphically convex manifolds

In this section, we give an example of a torsion-free coherent analytic non-locally-free sheaf which satisfies (+) (see Def. 8.1). This yields vanishing results for reduced ideal sheaves by Theorem 8.2.

Let M be a complex manifold of dimension n, let Σ be a (connected) submanifold of M of codimension m, and let $\mathscr{J}=\mathscr{J}_{\Sigma}$ be the (reduced) ideal sheaf of Σ . If m > 1, then \mathscr{J} is not locally free. The monoidal transformation with respect to \mathscr{J} of M is given by the blow up $\varphi \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ of M with centre in Σ such that $\varphi^T \mathscr{J}$ is locally free. Let $Z = \varphi^{-1}(\Sigma)$ denote the exceptional divisor / set of φ , and let $\mathcal{O}(-Z)$ denote the ideal sheaf on \widetilde{M} of holomorphic functions vanishing on Z. (9.4) and (9.6) imply

$$\varphi^T \mathscr{J} = \mathcal{O}(-Z) \text{ and } \mathscr{J} \cong \varphi_* \mathcal{O}(-Z).$$
 (9.8)

Hence, $\mathscr{J} \cong \varphi_* \varphi^T \mathscr{J}$, which is already the statement of Theorem 4.2. Therefore, one need not verify the normality of $L(\mathscr{J})$ to prove Theorem 8.2 for \mathscr{J} : one can use the second isomorphism of (9.8) combined with the projection formula, Theorem 4.10, to get (8.13).

On the other hand, for m = 2, $L(\mathscr{J})$ is a hypersurface and, hence, a Cohen-Macaulay space. Remark 4.20 and (9.8) imply that $L(\mathscr{J})$ is normal, which can be observed by computing the codimension of the singular set without using (9.8), as well.

For the canonical sheaf on \widetilde{M} , we have (see e.g. Prop. VII.12.7 in [Dem12])

$$\Omega^n_{\widetilde{M}} = \varphi^* \Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}((m-1)Z).$$

Combining this with (9.8), we get

$$\varphi^T(\mathscr{J}\otimes\Omega^n_M)=\Omega^n_{\widetilde{M}}\otimes\mathcal{O}(-mZ).$$

Under the assumption that \mathscr{J} is semi-positive (e.g. Σ is the zero set of finitely many globally defined holomorphic functions, see Lemma 9.13

below), we get that $\varphi^T \mathscr{J} \cong \mathcal{O}(-Z)$ is semi-positive, too. Let L denote the line bundle on \widetilde{M} associated to $\mathcal{O}(-Z)$ such that $L^{\otimes k}$ is the line bundle associated to $\mathcal{O}(-kZ)$. Since $\Theta(L^{\otimes k}) = k\Theta(L)$, semi-positivity of $\varphi^T \mathscr{J} = \mathcal{O}(-Z)$ gives us the semi-positivity of $\mathcal{O}(-(m-1)Z)$. Hence, \mathscr{J} satisfies (+) (with $\mathscr{L} = \mathcal{O}(-(m-1)Z)$). In particular, this is an example where the property (+) is derived from the semi-positivity of \mathscr{J} . Applying Theorem 8.2, we get:

Corollary 9.9. Let M be a holomorphically convex Kähler manifold of dimension n, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of M, let \mathscr{E} be a Nakano semi-positive locally free analytic sheaf on M, and let \mathscr{J} be a semi-positive ideal sheaf (e. g. generated by finitely many globally defined holomorphic functions) given by a submanifold of M. Then, for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$:

$$H^q(X, \mathscr{J} \otimes \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^n_M) = 0.$$

Further, we obtain a vanishing result for submanifolds of holomorphically convex manifolds: Keeping the notation from above, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{J} \to \mathcal{O}_M \to \mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J} \to 0$$

gives the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{J} \otimes \Omega^n_M \to \Omega^n_M \to \Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}_M / \mathscr{J} \to 0.$$
 (9.10)

For all $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$, the long exact sequence of cohomology associated to (9.10) tensored with a Nakano semi-positive locally free \mathscr{E}

$$\dots \to H^{q}(M, \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M}) \to H^{q}(M, \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M} \otimes \frac{\mathcal{O}_{M}}{\mathscr{I}}) \to H^{q+1}(M, \mathscr{I} \otimes \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M}) \to \dots$$

$$\| \stackrel{\text{Theorem 7.9}}{0} \qquad \qquad 0$$

implies that

$$H^{q}(X, \mathscr{E} \otimes \Omega^{n}_{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{M}/\mathscr{J}) = 0.$$
(9.11)

Let $\mathscr{N}_{\Sigma/M}$ denote the sheaf of sections of the normal bundle of Σ . Since

$$(\Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J})|_{\Sigma} = \Omega^n_M|_{\Sigma} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$$

and

$$\Omega_{\Sigma}^{n-m} = \Omega_M^n|_{\Sigma} \otimes \det \mathscr{N}_{\Sigma/M}$$

(adjunction formula, see e.g. (5.26a) in [PR94]), we obtain

$$(\Omega^n_M \otimes \mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J})|_{\Sigma} \cong \Omega^{n-m}_{\Sigma} \otimes \det \mathscr{N}^*_{\Sigma/M}.$$

Since $\Omega_M^n \otimes \mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J}$ is only supported on Σ , this means $\iota_*(\Omega_{\Sigma}^{n-m} \otimes \det \mathscr{N}_{\Sigma/M}^*) = \Omega_M^n \otimes \mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J}$, where ι denotes the embedding of Σ in M. In particular,

$$H^q(M,\Omega^n_M\otimes\mathcal{O}_M/\mathscr{J})\cong H^q(\Sigma,\Omega^{n-m}_{\Sigma}\otimes\det\mathscr{N}^*_{\Sigma/M})$$

(cf. e. g. Prop. 5.2 in [Ive84, Chap. II]). Applying Corollary 9.9 on this and on (9.11), we get:

Corollary 9.12. Let M be a holomorphically convex Kähler manifold of dimension n, let Φ be a smooth plurisubharmonic exhaustion function of M, and let Σ be a submanifold of M with a semi-positive ideal sheaf and of dimension r. Then, for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$:

 $H^q(\Sigma, \Omega^r_{\Sigma} \otimes \det \mathscr{N}^*_{\Sigma/M}) = 0.$

In the case that the normal bundle of Σ (or the determinant of it) is the restriction of a Nakano semi-positive vector bundle, we get for each $q > n - \sigma(\Phi)$:

$$H^q(\Sigma, \Omega^r_{\Sigma}) = 0.$$

The following observation shows that the presented corollaries can be applied for globally defined submanifolds.

Lemma 9.13. Let M be a complex manifold and let $f_0, ..., f_m$ be holomorphic functions on M. Then, the ideal sheaf \mathcal{J} generated by $f_0, ..., f_m$ is semi-positive.

Proof: Let S denote the linear space associated to \mathscr{J} . The surjection $\mathcal{O}^{m+1} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{J}, (r_i)_{i=0}^m \mapsto \sum r_i f_i$ induces an embedding $S \hookrightarrow M \times \mathbb{C}^{m+1}$. The restriction of the flat hermitian metric of $M \times \mathbb{C}^{m+1}$ defines a (Nakano) semi-negative metric on S, i.e. \mathscr{J} is semi-positive. \Box

Chapter 10 Fine Resolutions of $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$

In this chapter, we prove the theorems presented in the introduction. Since the proofs are close to the line bundle case as presented by J. Ruppenthal in [Rup14a], we will skip some details.

Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let \mathscr{S} be a (Hermitian) coherent analytic sheaf on X, and let $S := L(\mathscr{S})$ be the associated linear space. We set $A := \operatorname{Sing} \mathscr{S}, X' := X_{\operatorname{reg}} \setminus A$, and $F := R(\mathscr{S}) = S_{X'}^*$. In Section 5.1, we defined

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) = \mathcal{K}_X(F) := \mathscr{K}_{\mathscr{C}}(\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} : \mathcal{C}_F^{n,0} \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,1}).$$

Let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that $\mathscr{E} := \pi^T(\mathscr{S})$ is locally free (using Hironaka and Rossi, Theorem 2.19). We denote by E the vector bundle on M such that $\mathscr{E} = \mathcal{O}(E)$. For small enough open Stein subsets U of X, Theorem 7.9 (Takegoshi's vanishing theorem) implies that the $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$ -equation is solvable on $V := \pi^{-1}(U)$. For this, choose a Hermitian metric on U which is Kähler, a Hermitian metric on S such that \mathscr{S}_U is Nakano semi-positive, and recall that $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$ and $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$ are independent of the choice of the Hermitian metrics. We conclude

$$\pi_*(\mathcal{C}_E^{n,0}) \xrightarrow{\pi_*\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}} \pi_*(\mathcal{C}_E^{n,1}) \xrightarrow{\pi_*\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}} \pi_*(\mathcal{C}_E^{n,2}) \xrightarrow{\pi_*\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}} \dots$$

is exact. Fix (again) a small enough open Stein set $U \subset X$ and set $V := \pi^{-1}(U)$. If $u \in \mathcal{C}_F^{n,0}(U)$ with $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} u = 0$, then the pullback $v := \pi^* u \in L_{n,0}^{2,\mathrm{loc}}(V, E)$ is obviously holomorphic on $\pi^{-1}(U \setminus A)$. Using the L^2 -extension theorem (see Theorem 5.6), we get $\overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}} v = 0$ on the whole of V, i.e. $v \in \Omega_M^n(V, E)$ and $u \in \mathscr{K}_{e^*} \pi_* \overline{\partial}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}$. This implies that

10 Fine Resolutions of $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) = \mathscr{K}_{er} \left(\pi_* \overline{\partial}_{w, \mathrm{loc}} \colon \pi_*(\mathcal{C}_E^{n,0}) \to \pi_*(\mathcal{C}_E^{n,1}) \right).$$

Altogether, we obtain:

Theorem 10.1. Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, \mathscr{S} a coherent analytic sheaf on X and $\pi: M \to X$ a resolution of singularities of X such that $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. Then, the complex $(\pi_* \mathcal{C}^{n,\cdot}_{\pi^T \mathscr{S}}, \pi_* \overline{\partial}_{w, \text{loc}})$ is a free resolution of $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$. In particular,

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) \cong \pi_*(\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$
 (10.2)

In the notation of H. Grauert and O. Riemenschneider in [GR70], (10.2) means

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) \cong \mathscr{S} \cdot \mathscr{K}_X,$$

where \mathscr{K}_X is the Grauert-Riemenschneider canonical sheaf. In general, $\mathscr{S} \cdot \mathscr{K}_X := \pi_*(\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S})$ is not isomorphic to $\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{K}_X$. Only for locally free sheaves \mathscr{E} on X, the projection formula (8.8) implies

$$\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{E}) \cong \mathscr{K}_X \otimes \mathscr{E}. \tag{10.3}$$

In particular, $\mathcal{K}_X := \mathcal{K}_X(\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathscr{K}_X$ even for non-normal complex spaces.

Let us get back to the setting of Theorem 10.1: Since \mathscr{S} is locally Nakano semi-positive, we get $\pi_{(q)}(\Omega_M^n \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}) = 0$ for all q > 0 (see Corollary 8.10). The Leray spectral implies: For all $U \subset X$ and q > 0,

$$H^{q}(U, \mathcal{K}_{X}(\mathscr{S})) \cong H^{q}(\pi^{-1}(U), \Omega^{n}_{M} \otimes \pi^{T}\mathscr{S}).$$
(10.4)

For the proof of Theorem 10.1 – more precisely, for the $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$ independence of the Hermitian structure of \mathscr{S} – we used that the Hermitian metric has a smooth extension to singular points of \mathscr{S} . Is this not the case, we need to assume π -relative Nakano semi-positivity (cf. Thm. 2.1 in [Rup14a]):

Theorem 10.1? Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities of X, let $X' \subset X_{\text{reg}}$ be the complement of the centre of π , and let $E \to M$ be a Hermitian vector bundle on M. Let $F := \pi^{-1}|_{X'}^* E$ be Nakano semi-positive on $U' := U \cap X'$ for all small enough $U \subset X$, i. e. E is Nakano semi-positive on $\pi^{-1}(U)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{K}_X(F) \cong \pi_*(\Omega^n_M(E))$$

and, for all $U \subset X$ and q > 0,

$$H^q(U, \mathcal{K}_X(F)) \cong H^q(\pi^{-1}(U), \Omega^n_M(E)).$$

The following theorem connects $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$ with the $L^{2,\text{loc}}$ -Dolbeault cohomologies on X' (cf. Thm. 3.1 in [Rup14a]).

Theorem 10.5. Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let $F \to X'$ be a Hermitian vector bundle on a Zariski open set $X' \subset X_{\text{reg}}$ which is Nakano semi-positive on $U' := U \cap X'$ for small enough $U \subset X$. Then, the complex

$$0 \to \mathcal{K}_X(F) \to \mathcal{C}_F^{n,0} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_F^{n,1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_F^{n,2} \longrightarrow \dots$$

given by $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$ is exact, i. e. a fine resolution of $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$.

The formal de Rham lemma (see e.g. Sect. B.1.3 in [GR79]) implies

$$H^{q}(X, \mathcal{K}_{X}(F)) \cong H^{q}(\mathcal{C}_{F}^{n, \cdot}(X)) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^{n, q}_{w, \text{loc}}(X, F) \quad \forall q \ge 0.$$
(10.6)

Before we prove Theorem 10.5, let us show the first theorem of the introduction:

Theorem 1.3. Let X be a Hermitian complex space of pure dimension n, let \mathscr{S} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X, and let $\pi: M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that the torsion-free preimage $\pi^T \mathscr{S}$ is locally free. We set $X' := X_{reg} \setminus Sing \mathscr{S}$ and denote the vector bundle associated to $\mathscr{S}_{X'}$ as $F \to X'$. Then, for all $q \ge 0$,

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\mathrm{loc}}(X,F) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

If either X is compact or $X \in Y$, where Y is a Hermitian complex space such that ∂X is smooth, strictly pseudoconvex and contained in X_{reg} , then

$$H^{n,q}_w(X,F) \cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

10 Fine Resolutions of $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S})$

Proof: Since Theorem 10.1 implies $\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}) \cong \pi_*(\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S})$ and the equation (10.4), we get with (10.6) that

$$H^{n,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(X,F) \cong H^q(X,\mathcal{K}_X(F)) \cong H^q(X,\mathcal{K}_X(\mathscr{S}))$$
$$\cong H^q(M,\Omega^n_M \otimes \pi^T \mathscr{S}).$$

The second isomorphism for the compact case is trivial. In the other case, it follows from

$$H^{p,q}_w(\Omega, F) \cong H^{p,q}_{w,\text{loc}}(\Omega, F).$$
(10.7)

For a proof, see e. g. Thm. 4.1 in [LM02, Chap. VIII] or Thm. 2.7 in [Ser10]. The proof involves Grauert's bumping method developed in [Gra58].

Using Theorem 10.1' with (10.6), we obtain Theorem 1.3', as well. Furthermore, (10.3) now implies Corollary 1.4.

If an incomplete Hermitian metric can be approximated in an appropriate way by complete metrics, then the vanishing of (n, q)-Dolbeault cohomology groups can also be obtained with respect to the incomplete metric (see e.g. Lem. 2.3 in [PS91]):

Theorem 10.8. Let M be a complex manifold, $E \to M$ a Hermitian vector bundle, and let $\{\gamma_k\}$ be a pointwise decreasing sequence of Hermitian metrics on M which converges pointwise to a Hermitian metric γ_0 on M. If the $\overline{\partial}_w$ -equation is solvable for $\overline{\partial}_w$ -closed (n,q)forms in $L^2(M, E; \gamma_k)$ with an estimate independent of k, then the $\overline{\partial}_w$ -equation is solvable for $\overline{\partial}_w$ -closed (n,q)-forms in $L^2(M, E; \gamma_0)$ with the same estimate.

The proof in [PS91] straight forwardly generalizes to forms with values in vector bundles without any crucial changes.

Sketch of the proof of Theorem 10.5: Since the proof works more or less the same as the proof presented by J. Ruppenthal in [Rup14a, Sect. 3.1], we will sketch it: Let p be a point in X and let $U \subset X$ be a Stein neighbourhood of p such that U can be embedded in \mathbb{C}^N for an $N \ge n$, and such that F is Nakano semi-positive on $U' := U \cap X'$. We can assume p = 0 and $U = B_c \cap X$ for a small r > 0 such that

$$A := (X \setminus X') \cap B_c = \{ f_1(z) = \dots = f_m(z) = 0 \},\$$

where B_c denotes the ball in \mathbb{C}^N with radius c around 0 and f_i are holomorphic functions on B_c . We define

$$\varphi_0(z) := -\log(c^2 - |z|^2)$$
 and $\varphi_k := \varphi_0 - \frac{1}{k}\log\left(-\log\sum|f_j|^2\right).$

Then, the Kähler forms $\omega_k := i\partial\partial\varphi_k$, $k \ge 1$, give complete metrics γ_k on $U \setminus A$, which decrease pointwise monotonically to the metric γ_0 given by $\omega_0 := i\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi_0$, and $|\partial\varphi_k|_{\omega_k}$ is bounded by a constant C independently of k (see Lem. 2.4 in [PS91]). Obviously, γ_0 is not complete on U' – yet, γ_k is complete for $k \ge 1$. Hence, we can apply the Donnelly-Fefferman-Ohsawa vanishing theorem (see Theorem 7.14) for γ_k . More precisely, if $u \in L^2_{n,q}(U', F; \gamma_k)$ is $\overline{\partial}_w$ -closed, then there exists a $v \in L^2_{n,q-1}(U', F; \gamma_k)$ with $\overline{\partial}_w v = u$ and $||v||_{\omega_k} \le 4C||u||_{\omega_k}$. Since C is independent of k, we can use Theorem 10.8 and obtain that the $\overline{\partial}_w$ -equation is solvable in the L^2 -sense with respect to γ_0 , as well.

If γ denotes the metric given on X, we get $\gamma \sim \gamma_0$ on $X \cap B_r$ for all r < c. Therefore, we conclude that $\overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}}$ is locally solvable, i. e. $(\mathcal{C}_F^{n,\cdot}, \overline{\partial}_{w,\text{loc}})$ is a fine resolution of $\mathcal{K}_X(F)$.
[Alt06]	Hans W. Alt, <i>Lineare Funktionalanalysis</i> , 5 ed., Springer, 2006.
[Aro57]	Nachman Aronszajn, A unique continuation theorem for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations or inequalities of second order, J. Math. Pures Appl. 36 (1957), 235–249.
[AV63]	Aldo Andreotti and Edoardo Vesentini, <i>Carleman estimates for the Laplace-Beltrami equation on complex manifolds</i> , Publ. Math. de l'Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 25 (1963), 81–130.
[BPS90]	Jochen Brüning, Norbert Peyerimhoff, and Herbert Schröder, The $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on algebraic curves, Comm. Math. Phys. 129 (1990), no. 3, 525–534.
[BS02]	Bo Berndtsson and Nessim Sibony, The $\overline{\partial}$ -equation on a positive current, Invent. Math. 147 (2002), no. 2, 371–428.
[CGM82]	Jeff Cheeger, Mark Goresky, and Robert MacPherson, L ² -cohom- ology and intersection homology of singular algebraic varieties, Seminar on Differential Geometry, Ann. of Math. Stud., vol. 102, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1982, pp. 303–340.

- [Chi89] Evgeni M. Chirka, Complex Analytic Sets, Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series), vol. 46, Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht, 1989, Translated from the Russian by R. A. M. Hoksbergen.
- [CR09] Mihnea Colţoiu and Jean Ruppenthal, On Hartogs' extension theorem on (n-1)-complete complex spaces, J. Reine Angew. Math. **637** (2009), 41–47.
- [CS95] Mihnea Colţoiu and Alessandro Silva, Behnke-Stein theorem on complex spaces with singularities, Nagoya Math. J. 137 (1995), 183–194.

- [Dem12] _____, Complex Analytic and Differential Geometry, Institut Fourier, Université de Grenoble I. OpenContent AG-Book, June 2012.
- [DF83] Harold Donnelly and Charles Fefferman, L^2 -cohomology and index theorem for the Bergman metric, Ann. Math. **118** (1983), 593–618.
- [Eis95] David Eisenbud, Commutative algebra, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 150, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995, With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [Fis66] Gerd Fischer, Eine Charakterisierung von holomorphen Vektorraumbündeln, Bayer. Akad. Wiss. Math.-Natur. Kl. S.-B. 1966 (1966), no. Abt. II, 101–107 (1967).
- [Fis67] _____, Lineare Faserräume und kohärente Modulgarben über komplexen Räumen, Arch. Math. (Basel) **18** (1967), 609–617.
- [Fis76] _____, Complex analytic geometry, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 538, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976.
- [FK72] Gerald B. Folland and Joseph J. Kohn, The Neuman Problem for the Cauchy-Riemann Complex, Ann. of Math. Stud., no. 75, Princeton University Press, 1972.
- [FN80] John Erik Fornæss and Raghavan Narasimhan, The Levi problem on complex spaces with singularities, Math. Ann. 248 (1980), no. 1, 47–72.
- [Fuj78] Akira Fujiki, Closedness of the Douady spaces of compact Kähler spaces, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 14 (1978), 1–52.
- [GH78] Phillip Griffiths and Joseph Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry, Wiley-Interscience [John Wiley & Sons], New York, 1978, Pure and Applied Mathematics.
- [GR70] Hans Grauert and Oswald Riemenschneider, Verschwindungssätze für analytische Kohomologiegruppen auf komplexen Räumen, Invent. Math. 11 (1970), 263–292.

- [GR71] Hans Grauert and Reinhold Remmert, Analytische Stellenalgebren, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971, Unter Mitarbeit von O. Riemenschneider, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 176.
- [GR79] _____, Theory of Stein Spaces, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 236, Springer, Berlin, 1979, Translated from the German by Alan Huckleberry.
- [GR84] _____, Coherent Analytic Sheaves, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, no. 265, Springer, 1984.
- [Gra58] Hans Grauert, On Levi's problem and the imbedding of real-analytic manifolds, Ann. of Math. 68 (1958), 460–472.
- [Gra60] _____, Ein Theorem der Analytischen Garbentheorie und die Modulräume Komplexer Strukturen, Publ. Math. de l'Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 5 (1960), 233–292.
- [Gra62] _____, Über Modifikationen und Exzeptionelle Analytische Mengen, Math. Ann. **146** (1962), 331–368.
- [Gra63] _____, Bemerkenswerte pseudokonvexe Mannigfaltigkeiten, Math. Z. 81 (1963), 377–391.
- [Gro61] Alexander Grothendieck, Techniques de construction en géométrie analytique, Séminaire Henri Cartan, vol. 13 no. 2 (1960-1961), can be found on numdam.org, 1961, pp. 1–27.
- [Har77] Robin Hartshorne, Algebraic geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52.
- [Has89] Peter Haskell, L²-Dolbeault complexes on singular curves and surfaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 107 (1989), no. 2, 517–526.
- [Hir64] Heisuke Hironaka, Resolution of singularities of an algebraic variety over a field of characteristic zero I, II, Ann. of Math. (2) 79 (1964), 109–203, 205–326.
- [Hir75] _____, Flattening theorem in complex-analytic geometry, Amer. J. Math. **97** (1975), 503–547.
- [Hir77] _____, Bimeromorphic smoothing of a complex-analytic space, Acta Math. Vietnam. 2 (1977), no. 2, 103–168.

- [HL84] Gennadi Henkin and Jürgen Leiterer, Theory of functions on complex manifolds, Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 79, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1984.
- [Hör65] Lars Hörmander, L^2 -estimates and existence theorems for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator, Acta Math. **113** (1965), 89–152.
- [Hör66] _____, An Introduction to Complex Analysis in Several Variables, The University Series in Higher Mathematics, Van Nostrand, 1966.
- [Ive84] Birger Iversen, *Cohomology of sheaves*, Lecture Notes Series, vol. 55, Aarhus Universitet Matematisk Institut, Aarhus, 1984.
- [Kau67] Ludger Kaup, Eine Künnethformel für Fréchetgarben, Math. Z. 97 (1967), 158–168.
- [KN65] Joseph J. Kohn and Louis Nirenberg, Non-coercive boundary value problems, Comm. Pure and Appl. Math. 18 (1965), 443–492.
- [Kod53] Kunihiko Kodaira, On a differential-geometric method in the theory of analytic stacks, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 39 (1953), 1268– 1273.
- [Koh63] Joseph J. Kohn, Harmonic integrals on strongly pseudoconvex manifolds I, Ann. of Math. 78 (1963), no. 1, 112–148.
- [Koh64] _____, Harmonic integrals on strongly pseudoconvex manifolds II, Ann. of Math. **79** (1964), no. 3, 450–472.
- [Lau67] Henry B. Laufer, On Serre duality and envelopes of holomorphy, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 128 (1967), 414–436.
- [Ler50] Jean Leray, L'anneau spectral et l'anneau fibré d'homologie d'un espace localement compact et d'une application continue, J. Math. Pures Appl. 29 (1950), 1–139.
- [LM02] Ingo Lieb and Joachim Michel, *The Cauchy-Riemann Complex*, Aspects of Mathematics, no. E 34, Vieweg, 2002.
- [Nag90] Masayoshi Nagase, Remarks on the L²-Dolbeault cohomology groups of singular algebraic surfaces and curves, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 26 (1990), no. 5, 867–883.
- [Nak55] Shigeo Nakano, On complex analytic vector bundles, J. Math. Soc. Japan 7 (1955), 1–12.

- [Nar62] Raghavan Narasimhan, The Levi problem for complex spaces. II, Math. Ann. 146 (1962), 195–216.
- [Nar66] _____, Introduction to the Theory of Analytic Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 25, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1966.
- [Nar92] _____, Compact Riemann Surfaces, Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1992.
- [Ohs87] Takeo Ohsawa, Hodge spectral sequence on compact Kähler spaces, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 23 (1987), 265–274.
- [OSS11] Christian Okonek, Michael Schneider, and Heinz Spindler, Vector bundles on complex projective spaces, Modern Birkhäuser Classics, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011, Corrected reprint of the 1988 edition, With an appendix by S. I. Gelfand.
- [OT87] Takeo Ohsawa and Kensho Takegoshi, On the extension of L²holomorphic functions, Math. Z. 195 (1987), no. 2, 197–204.
- [ØV13] Nils Øvrelid and Sophia Vassiliadou, L²-∂̄-cohomology groups of some singular complex spaces, Invent. Math. 192 (2013), no. 2, 413–458.
- [Par89] William L. Pardon, The L_2 - $\overline{\partial}$ -cohomology of an algebraic surface, Topology **28** (1989), no. 2, 171–195.
- [Pet94a] Thomas Peternell, Modifications, Several complex variables, VII, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., vol. 74, Springer, Berlin, 1994, pp. 285– 317.
- [Pet94b] _____, Pseudoconvexity, the Levi problem and vanishing theorems, Several complex variables, VII, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., vol. 74, Springer, Berlin, 1994, pp. 221–257.
- [PR94] Thomas Peternell and Reinhold Remmert, Differential calculus, holomorphic maps and linear structures on complex spaces, Several complex variables, VII, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., vol. 74, Springer, Berlin, 1994, pp. 97–144.
- [Pri71] David Prill, The divisor class groups of some rings of holomorphic functions, Math. Z. 121 (1971), 58–80.
- [PS91] William L. Pardon and Mark A. Stern, L²-∂̄-cohomology of complex projective varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1991), no. 3, 603–621.

- $[PS01] \qquad \underline{\qquad}, Pure Hodge structure on the L²-cohomology of varieties with isolated singularities, J. reine angew. Math.$ **533**(2001), 55–80.
- [Rab78] Joshua H. Rabinowitz, Moišezon spaces and positive coherent sheaves, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 71 (1978), no. 2, 237–240.
- [Rab79] _____, On monoidal transformations of coherent sheaves, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 74 (1979), no. 2, 389–390.
- [Rem56] Reinhold Remmert, Sur le espaces analytiques holomorphiquement séparables et holomorphiquement convexes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 243 (1956), 118–121.
- [Rem57] _____, Holomorphe und Meromorphe Abbildungen Komplexer Räume, Math. Ann. **133** (1957), 328–370.
- [Rem94] _____, Local theory of complex spaces, Several complex variables, VII, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., vol. 74, Springer, Berlin, 1994, pp. 7–96.
- [Rie71] Oswald Riemenschneider, Characterizing Moišezon spaces by almost positive coherent analytic sheaves, Math. Z. 123 (1971), 263– 284.
- [Ros68] Hugo Rossi, Picard variety of an isolated singular point, Rice Univ. Studies 54 (1968), no. 4, 63–73.
- [RS13] Jean Ruppenthal and Martin Sera, Modifications of torsion-free coherent analytic sheaves, preprint, available at arXiv:1308.3973v4 (2013), 23 p.
- [RS15] _____, L²-Riemann-Roch for singular complex curves, J. Singularities **11** (2015), 67–84.
- [Rup09] Jean Ruppenthal, About the ∂-equation at isolated singularities with regular exceptional set, Internat. J. of Math. 20 (2009), no. 4, 459–489.
- [Rup11] $_$, L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on complex spaces with isolated singularities, preprint, available at arXiv:1110.2373 (2011), 34 p.
- [Rup14a] _____, L^2 -theory for the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on compact complex spaces, Duke Math. J. **163** (2014), no. 15, 2887–2934.

- [Rup14b] Jean Ruppenthal, Serre duality and L^2 -vanishing theorems on singular complex spaces, preprint, available at arXiv:1401.4563 (2014), 30 p.
- [Sch73] Michael Schneider, Über eine Vermutung von Hartshorne, Math. Ann. 201 (1973), 221–229.
- [Sch89] Herbert Schröder, The Riemann-Roch theorem on algebraic curves, Séminaire de Théorie Spectrale et Géométrie, No. 7, Année 1988– 1989, Univ. Grenoble I, Saint-Martin-d'Hères, 1989, pp. 115–121.
- [Ser55] Jean-Pierre Serre, Un théorème de dualité, Comm. Math. Helv. 29 (1955), 9–26.
- [Ser10] Martin Sera, Notions of L²-Dolbeault Cohomology on Complex Manifolds, diploma thesis, Bergische Universität Wuppertal, March 2010.
- [Ser15] _____, A generalization of Takegoshi's relative vanishing theorem, The Journal of Geometric Analysis, online first (2015), 1–22.
- [Siu74] Yum-Tong Siu, Analyticity of sets associated to Lelong numbers and the extension of closed positive currents, Invent. Math. 27 (1974), 53–156.
- [Siu98] _____, *Invariance of plurigenera*, Invent. Math. **134** (1998), no. 3, 661–673.
- [Tak85] Kensho Takegoshi, Relative vanishing theorems in analytic spaces, Duke Math. J. 52 (1985), no. 1, 273–279.
- [Vâj99] Viorel Vâjâitu, A Levi problem for continuous strongly q-plurisubharmonic functions, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 328 (1999), no. 7, 573–578.

"... aaaand it's gone!"